Biophysical and biological effects from infrared Low-Level-Laser-Therapy

Jón Joensen



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2013

Dissertation date: 15.08.13

SCIENTIFIC ENVIRONMENT

University of Bergen - Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry:

- Physiotherapy Research Group,
 Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care.
- Department of Clinical Dentistry.
- Department of Biomedicine.



Bergen University College - Faculty of Health and Social Science:

- o Department of Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and Radiography.
- NorPhyPain research group.
- Centre for Evidence-Based Practice.

Bergen University College - Faculty of Education:

• Department of Sport and Physical Activity.

Bergen University College – Faculty of Engineering:

• Department of Electrical Engineering.



University of São Paulo, Cidade Universitária, Brazil:

• Institute of Biomedical Sciences.

Leeds Metropolitan University, Leeds, United Kingdom:

• Faculty of Health.





ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

There are many persons I wish to thank for their contribution to this thesis. First of all I will thank my supervisor, professor Jan Magnus Bjordal, for excellent guidance and support through my senior research fellowship. I am grateful to be inspired by your excitement of research within physiotherapy, and to benefit from your knowledge in the field of research and Low-Level-Laser-Therapy.

I will thank my wife Hanne and our three daughters: Maria, Katrina and Thea, for their continuous support and patience during these years where I in periods have worked intensively on papers and the thesis.

Thanks to the members of NorPhyPain research group for fruitful discussions, and to the staff at the Department of Physiotherapy, Bergen University College. A special thanks to physiotherapist Jan Henrik Demmink for several interesting discussions on research in physiotherapy, and for the collaboration on thermography in study I; and to physiotherapist Steinar Hummelsund for the collaboration on ultrasonography images in Study II and III.

Thanks to physiologist Vegard V. Iversen, professor Rolf K. Reed and Gerd Signe Salvesen at the Department of Biomedicine, University of Bergen, for the collaboration on the animal studies.

Thanks to Professor Nils Roar Gjerdet, Professor Anders Mølster and Odd Lundberg at Biomaterials, Department of Clinical Dentistry, University of Bergen, for the collaboration on tendon tensile strength testing in study III, in addition to spending considerable time developing successful tendon grips.

Thanks to all co-authors on the three papers; in addition to those mention above I'll thank Rodrigo Á. B. Lopes-Martins (Sao Paulo, Brazil), Mark I. Johnson (Leeds, UK) and Knut Øvsthus (Bergen, Norway).

Thanks to all volunteers in the study on thermography during LLLT irradiation.

This work was made possible through a scholarship as research fellow at the Department of Physiotherapy, Bergen University College.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

INTRODUCTION

Physiotherapists have since the early days of the profession utilized electro physical agents (EPAs) as part of their intervention toolbox. A prerequisite for application of all EPAs is that the applied energy affects biological processes in the body tissue. Low level laser therapy (LLLT) has been used as an intervention for the last three decades to modulate processes in pathological tissue beneath the skin. However, the photoprotective property of the skin is a significant barrier to optical energy applied by LLLT devices. The irradiated electromagnetic energy from LLLT first interacts with the skin where biophysical processes occur. The penetrating part of the energy will then act as an active ingredient in biological processes in subcutaneous tissue.

AIM

The overall aim of this Thesis was to investigate biophysical and biological effects from commercial infrared LLLT devices commonly used in clinical physiotherapy practice.

METHODS

Study I was designed as a blinded placebo-controlled study of repeated measures. The thermal effects from different doses of irradiation from two infrared class 3B lasers was investigated *in situ* in human skin of different skin colours, age and genders. Study II was a basic research study of repeated measures design. The time-profile for energy penetration through skin during 150 sec of irradiation from two infrared class 3B lasers was elucidated *in vivo* in rat skin. Study III was designed as a double-blind randomized controlled trial on effect from a 3 J irradiation dose *in situ/in vivo* in acute rat Achilles tendons trauma.

RESULTS

There was a positive correlation between increasing irradiation doses and increased skin temperature for both lasers in all groups of participants. The skin temperature increased significantly (p<0.01) more in dark skin during laser irradiation than in light skin, regardless of irradiated doses and laser type. There were no significant differences in skin temperature between genders or age groups during laser irradiation.

The percentage of energy penetrating through rat skin from the λ =810 nm laser was constant (20%) during 150 seconds of exposure, while skin penetration from the λ =904 nm laser increased almost linearly (38%-58%) and by 50% during the 150 sec of irradiation. The percentage of energy penetrating through rat skin during irradiation was significantly (p<0.01) higher from the λ =904 nm laser than from the λ =810 nm laser at all measured time-points.

The biological effect from 3 J half an hour after trauma was significant (p<0.05) increased tendon thickness (including the peritendon) in injured Achilles tendons compared to animal's healthy Achilles tendon in the active-LLLT group. These tendon thickness differences were insignificant (p=0.35) in the placebo-LLLT group. There were no significant differences in UTS in any group.

CONCLUSIONS

This project has revealed that the biophysical properties of two common types of LLLT devices; λ =810 nm and λ =904 nm, yield significantly different thermal effects in human skin and possess significant different optical penetration abilities in rat skin. These biophysical properties of infrared class 3B lasers are of scientific value as no studies so far have dealt with these effects. These findings support the differentiation made in WALT dosage recommendations for these two types of lasers. The thermal effects in light and medium coloured skin were negligible (<1.5°C) for WALT recommended doses from both laser types, so were the thermal effects in dark skin from the λ =904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser (<2°C). In contrast, the λ =810 nm, 200 mW caused thermal effects (>9°C) above the pain threshold, and indicate that these LLLT devices parameters are probably unsuitable for clinical use in patients with dark skin.

The project also revealed that LLLT irradiation can exacerbate the acute inflammatory process in terms of increased oedema formation. Possible explanations for this somewhat surprising finding include that half an hour may be too early to initiate LLLT after trauma, or that a recently LLLT-treated injured tendon may be more vulnerable than untreated tendons to a repeated injury, or simply that the dose was too high. Future studies are needed to determine these issues.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

PAPER I Joensen J, Demmink JH, Johnson MI, Iversen VV, Lopes-Martins RAB and Bjordal JM.

The Thermal Effects of Therapeutic Lasers with 810 and 904 nm Wavelengths on Human Skin

Photomedicine and Laser Surgery (2011) Vol.29, No.3, pp.145-153 Published online: 12th of January 2011 DOI: 10.1089/pho.2010.2793

PAPER II Joensen J, Øvsthus K, Reed RK, Hummelsund S, Iversen VV, Lopes-Martins RAB and Bjordal JM.

Skin Penetration Time-Profiles for Continuous 810 nm and Superpulsed 904 nm Lasers in a Rat Model

Photomedicine and Laser Surgery (2012) Vol. 30, No. 12, pp. 688-694. Published online: 1st of October 2012 DOI: 10.1089/pho.2012.3306

PAPER III Joensen J, Gjerdet NR, Hummelsund S, Iversen VV, Lopes-Martins RAB and Bjordal JM.

An experimental study of low-level laser therapy in rat Achilles tendon injury

Laser in Medical Science (2012) 27, pp.103-111 Published online: 6th of May 2011 DOI: 10.1007/s10103-011-0925-y

ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA	<u>An</u> alysis <u>o</u> f <u>va</u> riance	nm	<u>n</u> ano <u>m</u> eter (10 ⁻⁹ meters)	
°C	degrees <u>C</u> elsius	nW	<u>n</u> ano <u>w</u> att (10 ⁻⁹ Watt)	
CI	<u>c</u> onfidence <u>i</u> nterval	р	<u>p</u> robability level	
cm	<u>c</u> enti <u>m</u> etre (10 ⁻² meter)	PDT	Photodynamic therapy	
cm ²	square <u>c</u> enti <u>m</u> etre	PGE ₂	Prostaglandin-E2	
ECM	<u>e</u> xtra <u>c</u> ellular <u>m</u> atrix	RCTs	Randomized Controlled	
EPAs	Electro Physical Agents		<u>T</u> rial <u>s</u>	
g	gram	RTUS	<u>R</u> eal <u>T</u> ime	
h	Planck's constant $h = 6.626^{-34}$	sec	<u>sec</u> ond	
Hz	Hertz	SD	Standard Deviation	
J	Joule	UK	United Kingdom	
kHz	kilo Hertz (10^3 Hertz)	UTS	<u>U</u> ltimate <u>T</u> ensile <u>S</u> trength	
Laser	<u>Light Amplification by</u> <u>Stimulated Emission of</u> <u>Radiation</u>	W	<u>W</u> att	
		WALT	<u>W</u> orld <u>A</u> ssociation for <u>L</u> aser <u>T</u> herapy	
LED	Light emission diodes	λ	Wavelength designed by	
LLLT	<u>L</u> ow <u>L</u> evel <u>L</u> aser <u>T</u> herapy		the Greek letter Lambda	
MOP	<u>M</u> ean <u>O</u> utput <u>P</u> ower			
mg	<u>m</u> illigram (10 ⁻³ gram)			
mK	<u>m</u> illi <u>K</u> elvin (10 ⁻³ Kelvin)			
ml	<u>m</u> illi <u>l</u> iter (10^{-3} litre)			
mm	<u>m</u> illi <u>m</u> eter			
mW	<u>m</u> ille <u>w</u> att (10 ⁻³ Watt)			
μm	micrometer (10^{-6})			
n	<u>n</u> umber in a sample			
Ν	Newton			
NSAIDs	<u>N</u> on- <u>S</u> teroidal <u>A</u> nti- <u>I</u> nflammatory <u>D</u> rug <u>s</u>			
nsec	<u>n</u> ano <u>sec</u> ond (10^{-9} sec.)			

CONTENTS

	Scientific environment	2
	Acknowledgement	3
	Abstract of the thesis	4
	List of publications	7
	Abbreviations	8
	Content	9
1.	INTRODUCTION	11
1.1	A brief historical view on electro physical agents (EPAs) and physiotherapy	11
1.1.1	EPAs in physiotherapy	12
1.2	A brief historical view of research on light	13
1.2.1	Low-level-laser-therapy (LLLT) lasers	14
1.2.2	LLLT as therapeutic intervention	15
1.3	The skin	17
1.3.1	Optical properties of skin	18
1.3.2	LLLT's skin penetration abilities	18
1.4	Tendons	19
1.4.1	Tendinopathy	20
1.4.1.1	Animal models in tendinopathy research	21
1.4.2	LLLT in tendon treatment	22
1.5	Measuring methods	23
1.5.1	Thermography	24
1.5.2	Optical power meter	24
1.5.3	Real time ultrasonography (RTUS)	24
1.5.4	Ultimate tensile strength (UTS)	25
1.6	The research question	26
1.6.1	The objective for study I	26
1.6.2	The objective for study II	27
1.6.3	The objective for study III	27

2	AIM OF THE THESIS	29
3	Methods	30
3.1	Designs	30
3.2	Ethics	30
3.3	Subjects	31
3.4	Instruments	31
3.5	Procedures	33
3.6	Statistics	38
4	SUMMARY OF RESULTS	40
5	DISCUSSION	46
5.1	General discussion	46
5.1.1	Physiotherapy research	46
5.1.2	LLLT's biophysical effects in skin	48
5.1.3	LLLT doses and initiating LLLT	52
5.1.4	LLLT in tendinopathy - Animal models	54
5.2	Methodical discussion	56
5.2.1	Design and procedures	56
5.2.2	Subjects	58
5.2.3	Instruments	60
5.2.4	Data	63
5.2.5	Statistics	64
5.3	Further research	65

5.4 Conclusions 67

65

References

Paper I, II and III

Follow-up studies

5.3.1

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 A BRIEF HISTORICAL VIEW ON ELECTRO PHYSICAL AGENTS (EPAS) AND PHYSIOTHERAPY

The first electrotherapy pioneers back in the 19th century were John Wesley and James Graham. They used electrical currents in the treatment of various health disorders from rheumatism and epilepsy to impotence. The first electrotherapy department at a hospital was started by Golding Bird at the Guy's Hospital, London, in 1836 (Selcon, 2001). Investigative reports on effects from physical modalities in musculoskeletal conditions were published as early as in 1931 in Journal of American Medical Association (Wolfson, 1931). The article concluded that "the result obtained by the combined therapy, is encouraging, in that quicker and often earlier recovery has been attained". This sparked an interest in research on physical modalities and several papers were published just before and after World War II. Studies from this early period focused either on effects from electrical stimulation of the peripheral nervous system, or thermal stimuli delivered by hot baths, ultrasound, infrared heat lamps or ice packs (Pohlman et al., 1939; Schaubel, 1946; Gersten et al., 1949). The overriding hypothesis from this period was that heating induced by physical modalities would speed up metabolism and accelerate healing and restoration of damaged tissue (Kohn and Rollerson, 1959). One of the great challenges was to find out how the skin barrier affected the transfer of physical energy to the tissues beneath.

During the 1950's, physiotherapists took an interest in further development of massage and manual techniques. Orthopaedic surgeon James Cyriax at St. Thomas Hospital in London had great influence on the physiotherapy pioneers in manual therapy (Lamb et al., 2003). Friction massage, joint mobilization/manipulation and passive stretching were included in the repertoire of manual modalities. An important perspective in this development of the profession was that physiotherapists extended their scope of practice to include examination of patients. The pioneers of manual therapies developed an extensive examination system and advocated that treatment decisions should be based on specific clinical pathoanatomical tests to reveal which tissues were affected, rather than a less specific diagnosis set by others (Refshauge et al., 1995). Much of the early physiotherapy research was performed by medical doctors and included aspects of pathological and therapeutic mechanisms on a microscopic or organic level, as well as clinical studies. When Physiotherapy entered the research arena, more of the published studies were of a clinical nature focusing on global treatment effects rather than biological mechanisms of action.

In the field of EPAs it also became clear that much of the literature on physical modalities regarding penetration and absorption of energy in the skin barrier was sparse and quickly became outdated. Another poorly investigated area for physical modalities is related to their time-effect-profile, and consequently the importance of tailoring the timing of interventions to the pathophysiological processes at play.

1.1.1 EPAS IN PHYSIOTHERAPY

Since the early days of physiotherapy, EPAs modalities have been part of our intervention toolbox. An underlying premise of all EPAs interventions is that application of energy can alter the living body's biological processes. The biophysical effects from tissue heating affect the body's homeostasis and metabolic reactions, and induce vasodilatation and specific tissue changes like tendon extensibility and fluids viscosity (Lehmann, 1953; Rivenburgh, 1992; Rennie and Michlovitz, 1996; Collins, 1996; Watson, 2000; Robertson et al., 2006).

In physiotherapy, different interventions are combined to achieve an optimal intervention package (Figure 1). EPAs are often used for preparing the tissue for local manual techniques or therapeutic exercise. EPA modalities are rarely used alone as monotherapies (Watson, 2000; Robertson et al., 2006).





The role of EPAs over recent decades has changed from being preparative modalities for other interventions, to becoming a more autonomous modality which can modulate pain and physiological processes during the inflammatory, proliferation and remodelling phase of tissue repair (Robertson et al., 2006; Kitchen and Young, 2008). In this perspective EPAs can be interpreted as competitor and substitute for painkiller drugs rather than a supplement to exercise and movement therapies.

Technological development has both improved the number of electrophysical treatment devices, and increased the assortment of electrophysical examination devices suitable for use by physiotherapists. At the World Confederation for Physical Therapy (WCPT), in Amsterdam 2011, where the International Society for Electrophysical Agents in Physical Therapy (ISEAPT) was implemented as an expert subgroup under WCPT, electrophysical diagnostic and evaluation methods were included in the definition of EPAs in physiotherapy (WCPT-ISEAPT, 2011).

1.2 A BRIEF HISTORICAL VIEW OF RESEARCH ON LIGHT

The theory categorizing light as being of electromagnetic nature was proposed by Faraday in the mid-19th century (Tyndall, 1922), and put forward by Maxwell in "*A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field*" (Maxwell, 1864). The scientific evidence for the analogy of light and electrical wave motion was demonstrated around the turn of the 19th to 20th century by Lorentz and Zeeman (The Nobel Organizations, 2012a). About the same time, Planck deduced the relationship between energy (*E*) and frequency (*v*) of radiation, E=hv (The Nobel Organizations, 2012b). In the early 20th century Millikan made a direct determination of Planck's constant *h*, as well as the elementary charge of a single electron (Millikan, 1913).

Another important contribution to physics of light came from Einstein. Experiments like Hertz's observations of charged objects losing their charge after light illuminations could not be explained by the wave theory. Einstein came up with a theory of light sometimes behaving as particles - called the photoelectric effect. The photoelectric effect is a phenomenon where particles are emitted from matter after the absorption of energy from electromagnetic radiation (The Nobel Organizations, 2012c).

During experiments of the scattering process, Compton demonstrated that for each scattering electron there are scattering photons (Compton, 1927). The photoelectric effect, together with Compton's scattering effect, have contributed to our understanding of the wave-particle duality of light (Ekspong, 1999). During the 20th century there was much research in physics on elementary particles, and in the 1950s Kastler showed that electrons can be put into excited sub-states by polarized light. Based on "amplification of stimulated emission of radiation" in the specter of light (laser) Basov/Prokhorov and Townes developed the first lasers in the late 1950s (Karlsson, 2000), and Maiman reported in 1960 his creation of the first ruby laser (Maiman, 1960).

The application of lasers range from low power lasers for purposes such as remote controllers and pointers, therapeutic devices for normalizing tissue homeostasis and reducing pain, to high power lasers for medical surgery and metal cutting devices for industrial use.

1.2.1 LOW-LEVEL-LASER-THERAPY (LLLT) LASERS

A laser consists of a lasing media in a resonating cavity, and an energy source. The supplied energy "pumps up" the lasing media to stimulate emission of radiation. Different types of lasing media have their specific wavelengths of radiation. Lasers are characterized by emitting monochromatic and coherent light. The monochromatic light occurs as it is clustered around a single wavelength. By synchronizing the light's "rhythm" it gets a high degree of coherence.

Lasers used for LLLT are typically of class 3B, classified by an average output power range between 5-500 mW (IEC, 2007). The unit for irradiated energy per second is W, also termed the mean output power (MOP). Commonly used wavelengths in LLLT are in the red- and near-infrared band (λ =600–1000 nm) (Karu, 2007), where the energy absorption in water and cutaneous melanin pigment is low (Anderson and Parrish, 1981).

LLLT lasers can operate in different output modes; continuous or pulsed. Continuous mode has a constant output power in the emitted energy, and MOP is equal to pulse power output. In pulse mode, MOP is a product of pulse power (W), pulse width (sec)

and pulse per second (Hz), as it is an energy average of the total amount of energy in pulses per second. There are two types of pulse mode in LLLT: Chopped-pulsed mode where pulse peak power is <500 mW; and superpulsed mode with high pulse peak power far above the 500 mW limit, but of ultra-short duration in the nanoseconds range (10^{-9} sec.) and long pauses making the average output of typically less than 100 mW MOP.

The unit for delivered energy in an irradiated point in LLLT is Joule (J), also called the energy dose. Another element in LLLT is the laser beam spot size (cm²) or the cross section area. The spot size is critical for power density (mW/cm²) calculations but is hard to define as the beam power distribution is not homogeneous. In addition to the spot size, the probe lens also shapes the laser beam. Commonly used laser probe lenses are flat or convex. A flat lens does not change the shape of the beam, while a convex lens reduces the natural angle of beam divergence caused by the laser diodes.

1.2.2 LLLT AS THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION

During the 1960s, experimental research was done with gas lasers in biological tissue (Goldman et al., 1963; Mester et al., 1968a), and the first papers on the biostimulating effects from LLLT irradiation with HeNe gas lasers were published (Carney et al., 1967; Mester et al., 1968b; Goldman et al., 1968).

Most of the early LLLT research focused on possible stimulation of cell proliferation. Various *in vitro* studies have shown that LLLT can stimulate cell metabolism in HeLa cells (Karu et al., 1984), Schwann cells (Van Breugel and Bar, 1993) and fibroblasts (Young et al., 1989; Loevschall and Arenholt-Bindslev, 1994; Yu et al., 1994). Similar *in vivo* animal studies with experimental injuries of various tissue types like skin (el Sayed and Dyson, 1990), cartilage (Nicolopoulos et al., 1996), tendons (Reddy et al., 1998), muscles (Bibikova and Oron, 1993) and nerves (Rochkind, 1992; Anders et al., 1993) found positive effects from LLLT on the healing process. Partly in parallel with this, a few researchers took an interest in investigating possible LLLT effects in inflammation, but only scattered studies were performed with contradictory results (Young et al., 1989; Honmura et al., 1992; Bouma et al., 1996). During the late 1990s LLLT interest picked up again, and Japanese dental research groups were

particularly active in this period (Shimizu et al., 1995; Ozawa et al., 1997; Sakurai et al., 2000; Takema et al., 2000; Nomura et al., 2001).

Publication activity for LLLT research was picking up around the turn of the 21st century. LLLT was demonstrated to act biomodulatory through light absorption of photoreceptors (Karu, 1999). These photoreceptors absorb light leading to a cascade of metabolic reactions in cells (Karu, 2008). It has been demonstrated that cytochrome c oxidase (the terminal enzyme in the electron transport chain) is the photoreceptor and that the initial reactions result in changes in the presence of nitric oxide (NO), reactive oxygen species (ROS) and adenosine triphosphate (Karu et al., 2004; Karu et al., 2005; Karu et al., 2008). Recently, the anti-inflammatory effects from LLLT have been extensively investigated and several aspects of the inflammatory process can be modulated by LLLT. In studies investigating the gene expression profiles of human fibroblasts, most genes enhance cell proliferation and/or suppress apoptosis, directly or indirectly, from LLLT (Yu et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2003; Frigo et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011). LLLT also reduces expression of pro-inflammatory mediators (Rizzi et al., 2006; Pires et al., 2011) and regulate oxidative stress (Fillipin et al., 2005; Rizzi et al., 2006; Moriyama et al., 2009).

An increasing amount of fairly homogeneous results from *in vivo* studies strengthened the support for a positive anti-inflammatory response from LLLT in injured tendons (Salate et al., 2005; Elwakil, 2006; Oliveira et al., 2009; Pires et al., 2011; Marcos et al., 2011; Marcos et al., 2012), -muscles (Rizzi et al., 2006; Mesquita-Ferrari et al., 2011; de Souza et al., 2011), -joints (Moriyama et al., 2005; Moriyama et al., 2009; Pallotta et al., 2012) and in soft tissue (Albertini et al., 2004).

A pain reducing effect from LLLT has been demonstrated in clinical studies on human tendinopathies (Stergioulas, 2003; Bjordal et al., 2006b; Stergioulas, 2007; Stergioulas et al., 2008), neck pain (Gur et al., 2004; Chow et al., 2006; Chow et al., 2009; Konstantinovic et al., 2010), myalgia (Gur et al., 2002; Chow et al., 2009), low back pain (Jovicic et al., 2012) and knee osteoarthritis (Gur et al., 2003; Hegedus et al., 2009). The mechanisms behind pain relief are not fully understood. A possible explanation is a nerve blocking effect from LLLT that was demonstrated by Chow et al. (2007) in laboratory study. Also, suggestions of pro-inflammatory cytokines as a trigger for pain (Brenn et al., 2007; Kawasaki et al., 2008), makes the anti-inflammatory effects a possible explanation for pain relief.

1.3 THE SKIN

The skin is the largest organ of the body, and its' outer boundary for protection. The skin is the first line of defense against intrusions and infections but also a barrier for energy applied from EPAs used in physiotherapeutic treatment. Mammalian skin consists of epidermis and dermis. The thickness of both skin layers varies with anatomical location in the body.

Human epidermis thickness varies from 0.04 mm to 0.4 mm, and is thinnest on the trunk and thickest in the palm of the hand and under the sole of the foot (Millington and Wilkinson, 2009). About 5-10% of cells in epidermis are melanocytes (Holbrook et al., 1988). The type and amount of melanin in the epidermis determine our skin colour (Alaluf et al., 2002; Yamaguchi et al., 2007), and play a central role in photo-protection of the skin (Giacomoni, 1995; Taylor, 2002). Dermis thickness ranges from 1 mm to 4 mm (Igarashi et al., 2005). Dermis is rich in blood vessels and sensory nerve endings, these are *inter alia* involved in thermoregulation (Ovalle and Nahirney, 2008). Hemoglobin also has light absorption bands in the red- and near-infrared radiation spectrum (Mobley and Vo-Dinh, 2003). The skin is attached to underlying structures by hypodermis, a subcutaneous fatty layer. The hypodermis also contains blood vessels and nerves (Kanitakis, 2002; Guyton and Hall, 2006).

Human skin appearance, structure, and biophysical properties differ with body location and between individuals according to their race, age and sex (Taylor, 2002; Costin and Hearing, 2007; Millington and Wilkinson, 2009). The skin ageing process leads to loss of collagen and elastin fibers; reductions in the size of epidermal, dermal and subcutaneous layers contribute to fragility, loss of laxity and a dry fine wrinkled appearance of the skin (Montagna and Carlisle, 1979; Leveque et al., 1984; Yaar et al., 2002; Farage et al., 2007). Genetic disposition and hormones also have an influence on the skin structure. After the menopause, female skin thickness decreases due to lower levels of estrogen (Shuster et al., 1975; Zouboulis et al., 2007).

Rat epidermis thickness varies from 0.01 mm to 0.07 mm, and dermis thickness ranges from 0.5 mm to 2.2 mm (Bronaugh et al., 1983; Regan Thomas, 2005), which is not unlike the human skin in miniature.

1.3.1 Optical properties of skin

LLLT is the application of light typically of wavelengths in the red and near infrared range (λ =600–1000 nm). Radiated energy may be reflected off the skin surface, absorbed within-, or penetrate through the skin. The reflected part of incident radiation of red and near-infrared wavelengths with a beam angle of 90 degrees to the human skin is small, ranging between 4% and 7% (Anderson and Parrish, 1981). Radiation penetrating the outer skin layer is partly absorbed by melanin in the epidermis and hemoglobin in the dermis (Kollias, 1995; Prahl, 1999; Jacques, 2001). Energy absorption by melanin in the skin decreases with longer wavelengths in the interval of λ =600-1000 nm (Anderson and Parrish, 1981; Mobley and Vo-Dinh, 2003; Bashkatov et al., 2005; Bashkatov et al., 2011; Nedosekin et al., 2012). Absorption by hemoglobin also decreases towards longer wavelengths with negligible absorption at wavelengths above λ =650 nm (Prahl, 1999; Roggan et al., 1999; Barun and Ivanov, 2003; Bashkatov et al., 2005; Bashkatov et al., 2011).

Within the skin, part of the radiated energy is refracted and scattered in random directions. This scattering contributes to extending the distribution of energy beyond the collimated beam. Scattering is strongest from wavelengths under λ =500 nm and decreases with longer wavelengths (Kollias, 1995; Bashkatov et al., 2005; Bashkatov et al., 2011).

During LLLT irradiation the probe is usually held in skin contact. With the laser probe in skin contact, reflected energy, in addition to the probe's diode and electronics, will heat the tip of the probe. This again will affect temperature in the surrounding skin. Therefore, measuring the thermal effect on human skin is an indirect way to investigate whether the energy from LLLT is absorbed by, or if it penetrates through, the skin.

1.3.2 LLLT'S SKIN PENETRATION ABILITIES

In order to interact with deeper tissue the radiated energy from LLLT has to penetrate through the skin barrier. Two decades ago, it was stated that most of the energy from λ =632.8 nm and 820 nm lasers was absorbed within the first 0.4–0.5 mm in human skin (Kolari and Airaksinen, 1993). But more recent studies have shown that the energy from λ =850 nm laser was only reduced by 66% after being transmitted through human skin

flaps of 0.784 mm thickness (Esnouf et al., 2007). Another study in female breast skin flaps demonstrated that 50% of the energy from λ =694 nm lasers actually penetrates at least 1 mm downward through the human skin (Topping et al., 2001).

Biophysically, the ability of radiated energy to penetrate tissue is dependent on the laser's wavelength. Light in the interval of infrared wavelengths (λ =750-1000 nm) penetrates tissue better than light in the interval of red wavelengths (λ =600-750 nm) (Anderson and Parrish, 1981; Stolik et al., 2000). Bashkatov et al. (2005) calculated optical penetration depth (δ =light attenuation to 37%) to be 1.5 mm from red wavelengths (λ =600 nm) and 3.5 mm from infrared wavelengths (λ =1040 nm). In clinical studies laser irradiation in skin flaps has shown an almost linear increase in penetration with wavelengths from λ =450 nm to 1030 nm (Ackermann et al., 2002). A similar wavelength dependent penetrated slightly better than a wavelength of λ =632.8 nm in human skin flaps (Kolarova et al., 1999). Other studies have reported similar findings with wavelength-dependent penetration in animal skin (Beek et al., 1997; Enwemeka, 2001).

1.4 TENDONS

Tendons transmit tensile load from muscles to bone. They consist of an extracellular matrix (ECM) and cells. Even though composites vary from tendon to tendon, the ratio of cells to ECM is approximately 1:4 (Kannus, 2000; Nordin and Frankel, 2001; Kjaer, 2004). Cells have the essential function of maintaining ECM by synthesizing and degradation of its substances. Fibroblasts cells are the main cell type in tendons. The solid substance in ECM is mainly collagen type-I mixed with proteoglycans that acts as a binder stabilizing the collagen structure. This morphological structure gives tendons the unique mechanical ability to tolerate high unidirectional tensile load (Jozsa and Kannus, 1997; Riley et al., 1994; Kjaer, 2004; Rumian et al., 2007).

Literature on tendons often state that tendons have relative limited vascularization and low metabolic rate (Jozsa and Kannus, 1997; Kannus, 2000; Cook et al., 2002; Kjaer, 2004; Theobald et al., 2005; Sharma and Maffulli, 2006), which is projected from less blood vessels in tendinous tissue (Lang, 1960; Lang, 1963) compared to muscles (Jozsa and Kannus, 1997; Kjaer, 2004).

However, some studies have demonstrate that collagen synthesis (¹³C- and ¹⁵N-prolin protein fraction synthetic rate per hour) is higher in human tendons than in muscles (Babraj et al., 2005), and that it has an acute increase following exercise (Miller et al., 2005). It has also been demonstrated that vascularization in peritendinous tissue increases significantly following exercise (Langberg et al., 1998; Boushel et al., 2000), which indirectly can interpret an increased intratendinous blood flow.

As aging progresses, tendon metabolic rate and mechanical properties as tensile strength and stiffness decrease (Kannus, 2000; Nordin and Frankel, 2001).

There are relatively few nerves inside tendons. Nevertheless both the myotendinous and the osseotendinous junction are well innervated, but in long tendons the mid-portion section are usually poorly innervated (Andres et al., 1985; Jozsa and Kannus, 1997).

The morphological structure and chemical composition of tendons are identical in humans and other mammals (Amiel et al., 1984; Nordin and Frankel, 2001).

1.4.1 TENDINOPATHY

The term tendinopathy describes all types of non-rupture tendon disorders. Human tendinopathy is probably a result of multiple factors and with potentially differing aetiology. Research on the aetiology of tendinopathy is complex, and even though tendinopathies have been exhaustively studied through the last decades, the exact etiologic initiation of tendon pain remains unclear (Jozsa et al., 1990; Almekinders and Temple, 1998; Maffulli et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2006; Cook and Khan, 2007).

The origin of human tendinopathy is commonly designated to overuse injuries (Khan and Maffulli, 1998; Almekinders and Temple, 1998; Cook et al., 2002; Maganaris et al., 2004). Overuse is suggested to be critical for development of tendon pain, but mechanical overload is not the sole reason for tendon pathology (Almekinders and Temple, 1998; Cook and Khan, 2007). Human tendinopathy also occur following external trauma to tendons (Wedderkopp et al., 1997; Agel et al., 2007; Garau et al., 2008).

Acute tissue injuries induce a complex cascade of actions in the immune system, including activation of integrin's and cytokines (Kindt et al., 2007). The inflammatory

processes are within days gradually undertaken by tissue repair, and during the next weeks to months tissue remodeling processes will reestablish the basal synthesis /degradation homeosthasis (Koob, 2002; Lin et al., 2004; Sharma and Maffulli, 2006).

Human tendinopathies are often irresponsive to treatment and around one in five patients develop chronic symptoms (Jarvinen et al., 1997; Almekinders, 1998; Cook et al., 2002). It has been suggested that chronic tendinopathy is a consequence of a failed healing response in the immune system (Sharma and Maffulli, 2005a; Longo et al., 2009).

The pathology in tendinopathies, either caused by overuse or trauma, results in an inflammatory response with extravasation and tendon swelling (Kindt et al., 2007). Swelling can occur as both intratendinous and peritendinous edema. These pathoanatomic changes seen in tendinopathies can be traced during the tendon's inflammatory- to remodeling phase, and our experience is that increased tendon thickness in humans can be observed long after the tissue becomes pain-free.

1.4.1.1 ANIMAL MODELS IN TENDINOPATHY RESEARCH

Human tendinopathies are multifactorial, and research in human tendinopathies is complex with ethical limitations in inflicting and evaluation methods. Use of animal models in tendinopathy research has the advantage of incorporating invasive evaluation techniques, detailed tissue examination and analysis of biochemical substances. Animal models may be useful in reproducing some aspects of human tendinopathy by providing researchers with the power to control variability (Warden, 2007; Lui et al., 2011).

In the literature, animal models of tendinopathies can be grouped in two categories: Models where tendinopathy is induced by chemical agents; and models which induce tendinopathy through mechanical load or injury (Lake et al., 2008). The latter is commonly done by excessive repetitive loading and can be appropriate in investigating tendinopathy related to overuse (Carpenter et al., 1998; Soslowsky et al., 2002). Increased levels of inflammatory mediators have been found in animal tendons after excessive activity (Perry et al., 2005). These findings fall in line with studies on healthy human tendons exposed to excessive activity (Langberg et al., 1999; Langberg et al., 2002; Boesen et al., 2006). Another model for mechanical load is inflicting a blunt tendon trauma transversely over the tendon fibre direction. Experimentally, this can be done by a mini-guillotine where a blunt metal blade inflicts a crush trauma to the tendon. Studies on rat Achilles trauma by such a mini-guillotine reveal significant histological changes compared to healthy tendons. The injured tendons yield a significant difference in collagen fibre alignment (Oliveira et al., 2009) and increased number of vessels (Salate et al., 2005) 3 days after the injury. Another study has found moderate inflammation in injured tendons 24 hours, 7, 14 and 21 days after trauma with this model (Fillipin et al., 2005).

1.4.2 LLLT IN TENDON TREATMENT

LLLT has been used in lots of clinical studies on human tendons. In a review of LLLT administered for lateral elbow tendinopathies (within the WALT therapeutic windows), LLLT seemed to offer pain relief and reduced disability (Bjordal et al., 2008). In an intervention study on Achilles tendinopathies, pain relief experienced by patients was significantly better after 4, 8 and 12 weeks of eccentric exercise and LLLT compared to eccentric exercise and placebo LLLT (Stergioulas et al., 2008). In another study, it was demonstrated that LLLT modulates inflammation by reducing PGE_2 in activated Achilles tendinopathy in human (Bjordal et al., 2006b).

In laboratory studies, LLLT has been performed on a variety of different pathological conditions, including injured animal tendons. Histopathological improvement in the LLLT treated groups has been observed in terms of increased collagen production (Reddy et al., 1998), improved collagen bundles organization (Carrinho et al., 2006; Elwakil, 2006; Arruda et al., 2007; Oliveira et al., 2009), and increased number of small blood vessels (Salate et al., 2005). In most of these laboratory studies the effect from LLLT has been evaluated after 3 to 21 days of treatment.

Lesser research focus has been given to the spontaneous effect from LLLT within 24 hours after injury and acute tendon inflammation. However, after induction of inflammation followed by 3-4 LLLT sessions, tendons have exhibited lower

concentrations of inflammatory markers in the LLLT-treated groups when compared to no treatment controls 24 hours after injection (Aimbire et al., 2006; Correa et al., 2007).

1.5 MEASURING METHODS

In the 1990s a shift in interpretation of research results was seen with the evolution of evidence-based practice. Seeking the best available evidence from quality-assessed research findings in clinical trials became popular among health professionals (Bury, 1998; Herbert et al., 2005). Scientific evidence was incorporated into all aspects of physiotherapy practice, including examination, intervention and evaluation. The evidence for good measuring methods was obtained through studies of their validity, reliability, and ability to discriminate, predict and show sensitivity to change. The evidence for appropriate interventions includes proof of some biological action from the active ingredients and a positive clinical response to the intervention.

The interface of irradiating energy and biological tissue is an aspect which requires reliable methods to measure the effects from LLLT. Two obviously measureable biophysical effects from LLLT are; 1) how much of the irradiated energy can be traced in the skin surface, and 2) how much of the irradiated energy penetrates through the skin. The biophysical measure of increased temperature reflects energy absorption and transformation in the skin during LLLT irradiation. This thermal effect can be measured in the skin surface by thermography. The other biophysical effect from LLLT irradiation can be measured by an optical power meter as the fraction of optical energy that penetrates through the skin.

The biological effects from LLLT irradiation in tissue are usually measured at the microscopic level as histological evaluation (Reddy et al., 1998; Salate et al., 2005; Fillipin et al., 2005; Elwakil, 2006; Carrinho et al., 2006; Arruda et al., 2007; Oliveira et al., 2009). In a couple of studies the biological effects have been evaluated at the macroscopic level as tissue mechanical properties (Elwakil, 2006; Ng and Fung, 2008). Another measuring method of tissue on the macroscopic level is RTUS. RTUS measurements are rarely used in small rodents, but RTUS is commonly used to detect pathology in human tissue.

1.5.1 THERMOGRAPHY

Thermography is an imaging method, which measures thermal energy emitted from an object. Thermographic cameras convert invisible infrared radiation to electronic signals, which is then processed to temperature calculations and visible colour images.

Traditionally, human skin temperature is measured by in-contact sensors like the mercury thermometer and the electronic thermometer. Human skin temperature measured by thermography has small inter-subject variability in repeated measurements (Roy et al., 2006; Howell et al., 2009). Body temperature measured on thermographic images has high reliability compared to rectal temperature measured with mercury thermometer (De Curtis et al., 2008). Thermography also yields high sensitivity in diagnosing morphoea (Martini et al., 2002) and in detecting Raynaud's syndrome (Gold et al., 2004).

An advantage of thermographic camera is that it works as a non-contact device with little risk of contact-induced infections.

1.5.2 Optical power meter

An optical power meter consists of a sensor measuring energy in an optical signal, and is connected to a console and display unit. The sensors are photodiodes, which are sensitive to specific ranges of wavelengths and power levels.

An optical power meter can be tuned to certain laser wavelengths, where it can measure the mean optical output (MOP) in the optical signal.

1.5.3 REAL TIME ULTRASONOGRAPHY (RTUS)

The piezoelectric crystal in ultrasound transducers converts electrical impulses to sound waves and vice versa. In ultrasonography, sound waves are transmitted into the body where they are reflected differently depending on the type of tissue. The reflected sound waves are collected by a receiver and processed through software to create sonoanatomic images. Tissue of high density (impedance) is displayed in bright grey-shades, and tissue of low density is displayed in dark grey-shades. This grey-scale imaging is called B-mode (brightness mode), and is commonly used in several areas of

medicine. Ultrasonography, for medical purpose, operates with frequencies from 1 MHz to 20 MHz (Siemens, 2010; GE, 2011). The transducer frequency is important for the image resolution: Higher frequencies give higher resolutions image, but have lower tissue penetration depth; and vice versa for lower frequencies. High frequency transducers (10-20 MHz) offer high resolution and are most appropriate for musculoskeletal imaging. Other features emphasizing ultrasonographic images are Coded Harmonics and CrossXBeam: Coded Harmonics enhances the details in images by brighter and more continuous boundaries, and CrossXBeam is a coplanar imaging technic to reduce noise in images (Cruz-Colon et al., 2006).

Ultrasonography is also a real-time imaging method (RTUS). Technical improvement in RTUS the last decades has made this imaging method valuable in the examination of musculoskeletal disorders, and RTUS has become popular among physiotherapists who seek diagnostic identification of tendinopathies. RTUS has high reliability and good sensitivity in detecting tendon abnormalities (Koski et al., 2006; Sein et al., 2007; Bashford et al., 2008), and RTUS has high accuracy compared to *magnetic resonance imaging* (MRI) (Khan et al., 2003; Kamel et al., 2004; Warden et al., 2007) and surgical findings (Hartgerink et al., 2001; Prickett et al., 2003). An advantage of RTUS compared to MRI and *computed tomography* (CT) is the opportunity of examination of tissues real-time during movements.

1.5.4 ULTIMATE TENSILE STRENGTH (UTS)

Tensile testing is performed as mechanical tests of tissue in material-test-machines, where a controlled load moves at a fixed speed pulling on the specimen. Ultimate tensile strength (UTS) is the maximum load and elongation that a specimen can withstand before the breaking point.

The biomechanical properties of tendons have been tested to determine their UTS. In two animal studies, healthy rat Achilles tendons were dissected and stretched to UTS-values of 42.5 N (SD \pm 5.5) (Kilkelly et al., 1996) and 48 N (SD \pm 11.0) (Wieloch et al., 2004).

An important and yet unanswered question in tendon research is whether the appearance of tendinopathies affects tendons tensile strength during different phases and severity grades of the disease.

1.6 THE RESEARCH QUESTION

LLLT interventions are commonly used to interact with pathological tissue beneath the skin. However the massive photo-protective property of the skin is a significant barrier which has to be considered to achieve optimal application of LLLT.

The irradiated energy first interacts with the skin, where some of the energy is reflected and some is absorbed. This gives rise to biophysical energy transformation processes and heat production in the skin. The remaining energy from the irradiation will penetrate through the skin, where it can be an active ingredient in ongoing photobiological processes in deeper tissue.

The research question in this Thesis is: What are the biophysical and biological effects from commercial infrared LLLT lasers commonly used in clinical physiotherapy practice?

The scope of the Thesis is to reveal some of the biophysical effects in skin during LLLT irradiation, and biological effects from LLLT in acute tendon trauma (Figure 1, p.28). In this perspective studies were designed to investigate if biophysical differences occur between the two most common types of commercially available LLLT lasers (infrared class 3B) where specifications for wavelength, irradiation mode and MOP differ. Secondly, the thesis will investigate two possible biological macroscopic effects from one of these infrared LLLT laser on a traumatized tendon.

1.6.1 The objective for study I

In LLLT irradiation some of the optical energy is converted to heat, when it is absorbed in biological tissue. During application of LLLT, the probe is usually held in a fixed position in skin contact. The reflected energy from the skin, in addition to energy from the diode and electronics in the probe, will heat the probe tip. An increased temperature in the laser probe tip will heat the skin by convection. In this way both absorbed and reflected energy from LLLT irradiation contribute to conversion of radiant energy to thermal energy.

There is a lack of research on whether the thermal effects are at play in treatment with commonly used infrared class 3B lasers. A search with the terms "thermal effects", "human skin," and "laser" in PubMed, Embase, Cinahl, ISI Web of Science and ScienceDirect (October 2009) yielded no clinical studies performed with class 3B lasers.

The objective of study I is to investigate the biophysical effect from LLLT lasers as heat in human skin.

1.6.2 The objective for study II

The few existing clinical LLLT studies that deal with penetration issues, have largely focused either on optical energy loss (Topping et al., 2001; Esnouf et al., 2007) or penetration depth (Kolarova et al., 1999; Enwemeka, 2001). LLLT intervention is typically administered during irradiation periods lasting from 10-20 sec up to a few minutes, but no studies have yet investigated the time-profiles for skin penetration of optical energy from infrared class 3B lasers.

The objective to study II is to determine the biophysical time-profiles for optical energy penetrating skin from LLLT lasers.

1.6.3 The objective for study III

A rat Achilles tendon trauma inflicted in a mini-guillotine model cause histological abnormalities 3 days after an injury (Salate et al., 2005; Oliveira et al., 2009), but it is not known whether these morphological changes affect biological outcomes such as UTS values, tendon structure or edema.

The objective to study III is to investigate whether a LLLT irradiation within half an hour after a tendon trauma cause biological effects in tendon thickness and tendon's UTS.



Figure 1. Internal relationship between studies in the Thesis.

2. AIM OF THE THESIS

The overall aim of this Thesis is to investigate biophysical and biological effects from commonly used LLLT laser devices where specifications for wavelength, irradiation mode and MOP differ.

The aims of the three studies in the Thesis are:

- Study I to investigate the biophysical effects of two therapeutic LLLT lasers on skin temperature in healthy participants of different skin colours, age and genders.
 - H₀: There are thermal effects in human skin of high doses from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers, varying with irradiated dose and participants' skin colour, age and gender.
 - H₁: There are no thermal effects from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers in human skin, regardless of irradiated dose and participants' skin colour, age and gender.
- Study II to investigate the biophysical rat skin penetration ability of two therapeutic LLLT lasers during 150 seconds of exposure.
 - H₀: A fraction of the optical energy from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers penetrates through rat skin during commonly used LLLT irradiation times.
 - H₁: Optical energy from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers does not penetrate through rat skin during commonly used LLLT irradiation times.
- Study III to investigate the biological effects of LLLT on tendon and peritendinous edema measured by RTUS and UTS when LLLT is administered half an hour after inflicting an Achilles tendon trauma.
 - H₀: A single LLLT dose, after an acute tendon trauma, has biological effects on the injured tissue.
 - H₁: There is no effect from a single LLLT dose after an acute tendon trauma.

3. METHODS

3.1 DESIGNS

Experimental research is characterized by controlled manipulation of variables by the researcher. Controlled manipulation enables researchers to draw causal conclusions about the variable under study. Single-factor experiments are trials where the researcher manipulates only one variable. The single-factor experiment of repeated measures design means that the same subjects are measured under all the levels of the independent variable. The single-factor experiment of post-test-only control-group design, means that post-test is the only basis on which judgements are made about the effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable (Domholdt, 2005).

The investigation of effects from LLLT lasers in biological tissue is best explored in clinical and laboratory single-factor experimental studies. This project includes three trials with these research designs.

STUDY I – is a blinded placebo-controlled study on LLLT in *in situ* human skin. The study has a repeated measures design.

STUDY II – is a basic research study on LLLT in *in vivo* rat skin. The study has a repeated measures design.

STUDY III - is a double blinded randomized controlled trial on LLLT in *in situ/in vivo* rat Achilles tendons. The study has a post-test-only control-group design.

3.2 Ethics

The protocol for study I was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (Appl.no: 091.08), and informed consent was obtained from all participants.

The protocol for study II and study III was approved by the Norwegian Animal Research Authority (Appl.no: 20102676).

3.3 SUBJECTS

STUDY I

This study includes healthy volunteers stratified for skin colour, age and gender. Participants were recruited from the staff at Bergen University College, Bergen University and local immigrant associations. The sample consists of 40 persons of both genders, three age groups (<40, 40-60, and >60 years of age), and three skin colour groups (light, medium, and dark skin), (Paper I, Table 1). Individuals with a history of skin disease were excluded.

STUDY II AND STUDY III

These studies were done with Spangue Dawley male rats, weight 250-300 g. Rats were housed four and four in individually ventilated cages under a light cycle of 12+/12. The humidity was of 55%. The temperature ranged from 20 to 22° C, and the rats received water and food *ad libitum*.

STUDY II - This study includes 62 harvested skin flaps overlaying the rat gastrocnemius muscle.

STUDY III - This study includes 32 Achilles tendons from 16 animals. Animals were divided in two groups of 8 animals (active-LLLT/placebo-LLLT), and housing cages were labeled with group identification.

3.4 INSTRUMENTS

STUDY I

Skin temperature was measured by a thermographic camera (Flir System, ThermaCAM S65HS) and ancillary software (ThermaCAM Researcher Pro 2.8 SR-1). This software includes tools for quantifying the recorded temperature. The camera measures temperatures with a precision of 50 mK at 30°C and has an accuracy of $\pm 2\%$ (Manufacturer's specification).

Two commercial infrared class 3B lasers were used for irradiation as follows:

 i) 810 nm wavelength laser (Thor-DD, UK), operated in continuous mode with 200 mW MOP, spot size 0.0314 cm² (Manufacturer's specification); ii) 904 nm wavelength laser (Irradia, Sweden) operated in superpulsed mode: Peak power 20 W, pulse train frequency 6 kHz and pulses 100 nsec (10⁻⁹ sec) width (=30.000 pulses per sec), 60 mW MOP, and spot size 0.0364 cm² (Manufacturer's specification).

(In Paper I: 60 mW MOP is correct, but pulse specifications are not correct).

STUDY II

The energy penetrating through rat skin was measured with an Optical Power Meter system (Thorlabs Instruments, NJ, USA). The Optical Power Meter system consists of a PM100 display unit with sample rate 6 Hz and an accuracy $\pm 1\%$, and a S121B Silicon sensor. The S121B sensor input had an aperture with diameter of Θ =9.5 mm with an optical power range 500 nW–500 mW at operating temperature 5°- 40°C, and accuracy $\pm 5\%$ (Manufacturer's specification).

Two commercial infrared class 3B lasers were used for laser irradiation, (the same lasers as described in study I above).

STUDY III

A laser, 904 nm wavelength (Irradia, Sweden), superpulsed mode: Peak power 20 W, pulse train frequency 6 kHz and pulses 100 nsec (10^{-9} sec) width (=30.000 pulses per sec), 60 mW MOP, and spot size 0.38 cm² (Manufacturer's specification), with two identical single diode laser probes were used: One with an active laser, and the other an inactive/placebo laser source. Probes were labeled.

(In Paper III: 60 mW MOP is correct, but pulse specifications are not correct).

A servohydraulic testing machine (Material Test System MTS-810, Minnesota, USA) equipped with a calibrated load cell of 500 N and a position transducer of 100 mm, was tuned to a deformation rate of 0.25 mm/sec.

RTUS Logiq-e (GE Healthcare, Minneapolis, USA), operating in B-mode with CrossXBeam resolution and Coded Harmonic imaging, and a 15" display screen. Imaging depth was 2 cm, with three focus areas around the first cm (Paper III, Figure 3). The transducer was a linear array with a frequency of 12 MHz.

The distal tendon grip was set ad modum Forslund, where the angle between calcaneus and Achilles correspond to 30° dorsiflexion of the foot during the UTS test (Forslund and Aspenberg, 2001; Dimmen et al., 2009). The proximal end of the tendon was powdered with 250 μ m aluminiumoxid (AlOO₃). The proximal tendon grip obtained optimal mortising with a combination of grip and rolling the tendon around the grip.

3.5 PROCEDURES

STUDY I

During pilot work we observed the temperature in both hands on subjects when irradiating one point in one of the hands. The thermography showed heat production strictly located to the irradiated point, and temperature in the irradiated area returned to baseline skin temperature within 1-2 minutes after irradiation. On the basis of this restricted heat localization we decided to use a control area close to the irradiated point. By this we wanted to eliminate effect from systemic temperature regulation mechanisms.

Recommended irradiation doses were selected according to WALT guidelines which are 2 J for 904 nm lasers and up to 6 J for 810 nm lasers (WALT, 2010). With the thermal effects from LLLT irradiation as phenomenon of interest, it was decided also to include doses somewhat above WALT's recommendations. For this purpose, the study was designed with doses from 2 J up to 12 J for both devices.

Laser irradiation was performed at the dorsal side of the proximal phalanx of the index finger. A neighboring area ulnar to the irradiated area in the proximal phalanx of the same index finger was used as a control area (Paper I, Figure 2). The dorsal side of the index finger was chosen as this is a relevant area for LLLT treatment of finger extensor tendons and inter-phalangeal joints.

The laboratory air-conditioning where thermal effects were measured was set to a fixed temperature of 21°C, and this was monitored during the study. This showed a stable temperature throughout the experiment with a room temperature of 21.2°C ($\pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C).

In order to acclimatize the skin temperature, participants dwelled in the laboratory for 15 minutes before the experiment started. During the experiment participants sat with their hands on a towel placed on a table (Paper I, Figure 1). The distance between the table and the camera was 25 cm. Participants were instructed that during laser irradiation they should report to the investigator if 1) they felt any heat sensation in the irradiated area, and if 2) the heat sensation became so uncomfortable that they wanted the laser irradiation to be stopped.

One investigator operated the thermographic camera, and another investigator administered laser irradiation. Each session lasted 55 minutes per participant with a total of 13 measurements of skin temperature taken. The first measurement was taken before any irradiation (i.e. baseline). This was followed by six measurements during increasing doses of irradiation from the 904 nm laser, followed by six measurements during increasing doses of irradiation from the 810 nm laser. The sequence of the doses was the same for both lasers, and as follows: 2 J, placebo (of same duration time as 2 J), 6 J, 9 J, 12 J and placebo (of same duration time as 12 J). The 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser deliver 1 J in 5 sec, and the 904 nm 60 mW MOP laser deliver 1 J in $16^2/_3$ sec. Placebo irradiation was delivered using the same laser probe as the active interventions, but the laser was not switched on. Participants were kept unaware of this fact.

During irradiation the laser probe was held stationary in contact with a fixed spot on the skin, and kept in a position approximately 10 degrees from a vertical angle. Between each laser irradiation there was a 3 minute break. Thermographic imaging was used to ensure baseline skin temperature between irradiated doses.

Thermography was recorded during the last 5 sec of each irradiation dose and continued for 1 minute after the end of irradiation (i.e., a total of 1 minute and 5 sec per measurement time-point). The maximum temperatures from the irradiated area and a control area were registered simultaneously by the ThermaCAM (Paper I, Figure 2), and the differences in skin temperature between these two areas constitute the base of the thermal effects.

STUDY II

The protocol concerning animal handling is described in detail in the next section – Study III.

LLLT devices typically take from between ten seconds and a couple of minutes to deliver an irradiation dose. Hence, this study was designed with exposure duration of 150 sec.

The Optical Power Meter (PM100/S121B) has five different wavelength options, and it was tuned to the same wavelengths as the respective test-lasers (λ =810 nm and λ =904 nm). Laser's MOP was registered at seven time points; immediately after being activated, after 10 sec, 30 sec and then for every 30 sec until 150 sec (Figure 2).



Data were collected in four steps:

Step one – was a measurement of the two lasers MOP directly into the Optical Power Meter. That is with no obstacles between the laser source and the sensor of the Optical Power Meter.

Step two – was a measurement of the two lasers MOP after penetrating a plastic film. That is with a transparent plastic film between the laser source and the sensor of the Optical Power Meter.

Step three – was a measurement of the two lasers MOP after penetrating through a freshly harvested rat skin flap, plus a plastic film. The laser probe was held in skin contact. (The irradiated area on the skin flaps had location corresponding to ~ 2 cm proximal from the plantar side of calcaneus on the animal).

Step three started with measurement of the immediate laser MOP directly into the Optical Power Meter, and then through a plastic film. After that the skin flap was placed on the plastic film and the sequence of measuring irradiated MOP through skin plus plastic film was performed. This was done for every skin flap and each laser.

Step four - (same procedure as in step three - but the probe was not held in skin contact), the laser probe was now kept approximately 1 mm from the skin surface during the irradiation.

STUDY III

Experimental setup for tendon strength testing - Pilot testing – The deformation rate was discussed with the researchers who carried out a previous study on rat Achilles UTS (Dimmen et al., 2009). Based on this and the experience in testing biological tissue at the current test-laboratory we decided to use a deformation rate of 0.25 mm/sec. The distal grip ad modum Forslund (Forslund et al., 2003) was capable of maintaining a stable grip during UTS testing, but the proximal grip was a challenge. The proximal grip, as described in literature with use of superglue (Chan et al., 2007) and sandpaper (Demir et al., 2004), were not sufficient to avoid the tendon sliding in the grip. Nor did railing the grip surface and rolling the tendon around the grip prevent the tendon from sliding out of the grip. We finally managed to prevent the tendon from sliding by using a combination of swabbing the tendon with alumina powder and rolling it around the grip. With this setup, tendons now ruptured in the mid-portion, a few millimeters from the distal grip.

Simultaneously, the model for inflicting tendon trauma in a mini-guillotine was tested. A trauma was inflicted to the animals' right Achilles tendon. We started with a single trauma, ad modum Lech (Fillipin et al., 2005; Salate et al., 2005; Oliveira et al., 2009), but did not achieve pronounced alterations of UTS on the next day between injured (right) and healthy (left) tendons. We then decided to repeat the trauma on two consecutive days, and now the UTS between injured and healthy tendons became slightly more pronounced, ~10 N. UTS was tested on day 1, 3 and 7 after the last trauma, with small differences in UTS on day 1, 3 and 7. During the half year of pilot tests, the animals included were redundant from other projects at the laboratory, and the groups comprised 2–4 rats.

An irradiation dose of 3 J in this study was based on previous laboratory work in our research group. Preliminary data from an ongoing study with LLLT administered one hour after collagenase injection presented less edema measured at 12 hour after
injection; an irradiation dose of 3 J provided superior results when compared to 1 J and 6 J (now published in Marcos et al., 2011).

The laboratory where the investigations took place had a stable temperature of 24° C (SD $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C) and humidity 40% (SD $\pm 10\%$).

The protocol for animal handling in study II and study III (Figure 3, p.38) was as follow:

Day 1: The animal was anesthetized with isoflurane (Isoba) using an Isotec vaporizer. The hair was shaved from both hind legs. Then animal's right ankle was positioned in full dorsal flexion, and a tendon trauma was inflicted in a mini-guillotine where a 200 g block with an edge 2 mm wide, dropped 20 cm. The trauma was located 9-10 mm from the plantar side of calcaneus, (Paper III, Figure 1). The trauma procedure took 30 minutes to perform. Half an hour later the animal was again anesthetized and subjected to LLLT treatment: One point, 9-10 mm from the plantar side of calcaneus, was irradiated with a dose of 3 J or a placebo dose (time corresponding to 3 J). The animal's tail was marked for each action it went through.

Day 2: The procedures of anesthesia, tendon trauma and LLLT treatment were repeated fifteen hours after the first trauma.

Day 3: Twenty-three hours after the last trauma the animal was anesthetized, and *in situ* tendon thickness (including the peritendon) was measured in the right and left Achilles by RTUS. The Achilles area was screened both in longitudinal and transversal plane; two images were done on each tendon in each plane. Screening in the longitudinal plane was done with the whole length of Achilles in the image (Paper III, Figure 3). When screening the Achilles tendon and the adjacent structures in the transversal plane the probe was moved from the knee in a distal direction until the probe met the Calcaneus, and images were taken in this position.

The animal was again anesthetized two hours later, and given 0.4 ml intraperitoneal anesthetic (Mebumal 50 mg/ml; 1 ml contains 54.9 mg pentobarbital sodium, 400 g propylenglycol, 150 mg strong alcohol and distilled water to 1 ml). The animal was then euthanatized by cardiac arrest (1 ml saturated potassium chloride solution).

The skin overlaying the gastrocnemius muscle from calcaneus to the proximal part of the muscle was dissected free (Paper II, Figure 1). These skin flaps were utilized in study II.

The Achilles tendon was then released with scissors, and the muscle fibers were removed from the tendon with a sharp scalpel. The free tendon was sprayed with water containing 9% sodium chloride, placed in a small plastic bag labeled by a code for group identification, animal number and right/left side, and stored in a refrigerator at 4°C. Three hours later tendons were subjected to UTS testing in MTS-820. Load and deformation data were sampled continuously during this test.





The code for active- and placebo laser probe was not disclosed until the statistical analyses were done. The laser probe output was then measured to determine which probe had been the active one.

3.6 STATISTICS

STUDY I

The differences in skin temperatures between the irradiation spot area and the neighboring control area on the index finger were used in analyses of thermal effects from LLLT irradiation. Analyses were done in subgroups, for each irradiation dose and lasers.

Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to determine relationships between irradiation doses and skin temperature. Student's pairwise t-tests and ANOVA were used for comparison of statistical differences with a significance level set at p<0.05.

Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2007) was used for statistical analysis and graphics.

STUDY II

The energy penetrating through skin was calculated as percentage of the amount of energy that penetrated the plastic film measured immediately before skin penetration measurements.

Descriptive statistical analyses on lasers' average MOP, Student's t-test p-value considered significant different, and graphs, at seven time-points, in four conditions, were done by Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2007).

Estimates of linearity in average response between six measured time-points (measurements at 10 seconds were omitted in these calculations) were analyzed by Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, ver.19 for Microsoft) repeated measures ANOVA, Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE). The maximum likelihood estimate for linear response between measuring points of 30 sec intervals was calculated with 95% CI.

STUDY III

The difference in tendon thickness (including the peritendon) and UTS, between injured right Achilles treated with active LLLT, - placebo LLLT, and healthy left Achilles, were analyzed by paired t-test in SPSS (ver.18 for Microsoft). Microsoft Excel (Office 2007) was used for graphics.

4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

STUDY I

The H₀-hypothesis "There are thermal effects in human skin of high doses from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers, varying with irradiated dose and participants' skin colour, age and gender" was confirmed, and the H₁-hypothesis "There are no thermal effects from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers in human skin, regardless of irradiated dose and participants' skin colour, age and gender" was rejected.

The baseline skin temperature in the proximal part on the index finger after acclimatization was on average $30.7^{\circ}C$ (SD ±2.8).

The laser probe tip temperature immediately after irradiation doses from 2 J to 12 J ranged from 30.1° C (SD ±2.2) to 33.7° C (SD ±3.4) for the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser, and from 31.8° C (SD ±1.8) to 32.6° C (SD ±2.0) for the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser.

After placebo with an irradiation time corresponding to 2 J, the differences in skin temperature between the laser spot area and the control area were $-0.9^{\circ}C$ (SD ± 0.7) for the 904 nm laser, and $-0.2^{\circ}C$ (SD ± 1.2) for the 810 nm laser. After the last dose in the sequence and the placebo with a time corresponding to 12 J, the temperature difference between the two areas was $0.4^{\circ}C$ (SD ± 1.2) for the 904 nm laser, and $0^{\circ}C$ (SD ± 1.1) for the 810 nm laser.

All participants completed the six irradiation doses with the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser. Participants with light and medium coloured skin completed all six irradiation doses with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser with no reporting of any heat sensation. However, all participants with dark skin reported heat sensations during irradiation from both lasers. Eight of thirteen participants with dark skin withdrew from the experiment with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser because they felt uncomfortable heating in the irradiated area. Two of these participants withdrew during a 6 J irradiation dose (a dose recommended by WALT), four withdrew during a 9 J irradiation dose and two withdrew during a 12 J irradiation dose. Skin temperature at

the time of withdrawal showed a large variation among participants, possibly indicating considerable differences in heat pain tolerance (Paper I, Table 3).

There was a strong positive correlation between increasing irradiation doses and increased skin temperature for both lasers in all sub-groups (Pearson's r = 0.98-0.99 when withdrawals were omitted from the analysis).

The increase in skin temperature was significantly (p<0.01) higher in dark skin compared to light skin for all irradiated doses, regardless of laser type (Paper I, Figure 3 and Figure 4).

Identical doses of laser irradiation resulted in significantly ($p \le 0.001$) higher skin temperatures in dark skin compared to light and medium coloured skin the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser (Paper I, Figure 4).

Irradiation doses of 2 J and 6 J with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser induced a threefold increase in temperature of dark skin when compared to the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser (Paper I, Figure 3 and Figure 4).

There was no significant thermal effect ($p \ge 0.16$ for any comparisons) when irradiating with doses recommended in WALT guidelines (i.e. 2 J for 904 nm, and 6 J for 810 nm), with temperatures increasing less than 1.5°C in light and medium coloured skin regardless of laser type. However, in dark skin there was a highly significant increase (p<0.0001) in skin temperature of 6.1°C (SD ±3.2) from a 2 J dose, and 9.2°C (SD ±4.5) from 6 J, with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser. Irradiation with a 2 J dose using the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser also induced a significant (p=0.043) but non-painful increase in skin temperature of 1.9°C (SD ±1.8) in dark skin.

When equivalent irradiation doses of 6 J or more were administered to light and medium coloured skin there were larger increases in skin temperature for the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser when compared with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser (p<0.05) (Paper I, Table 4).

There were no significant differences in skin temperature between males and females during laser irradiation in the dose interval of 2-12 J (no p-value lower than $p \ge 0.24$).

Adjusting for skin colour by removing data for dark skin from the analyses did not affect this result (Paper I, Figure 5 and Figure 6).

There was a tendency toward higher skin temperatures in the irradiated area in younger participants (under 40 year of age) for both lasers, although comparisons with older participants just barely failed to reach statistical significance ($p \ge 0.06$). There was tentative evidence that there were larger temperature differences between groups with higher doses for the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser than with doses recommended by WALT, and that the differences persisted when dark skin data was removed from the analysis (Paper I, Figure 7 and Figure 8).

STUDY II

The H_0 -hypothesis "A fraction of the optical energy from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers penetrates through rat skin during commonly used irradiation times" was confirmed, and the H_1 -hypothesis "Optical energy from infrared LLLT class 3B lasers does not penetrate through rat skin during commonly used LLLT irradiation times" was rejected.

Step one (no obstacle, through air only): The MOP from both lasers were stable during the selected 150 sec of exposure. The 904 nm laser increased MOP by 0.3 mW (SEM \pm 0.4), while the 810 nm laser MOP dropped by 9.8 mW (SEM \pm 1.9) by the end of 150 sec of exposure time (Paper II, Table 1).

The statistic GEE estimates a slope of 0.25 mW per 30 sec (95% CI: 0.07 to 0.42, p<0.01) for the 904 nm laser; and a slope of -1.14 mW per 30 seconds (95% CI: -1.44 to -0.84, p<0.01) for the 810 nm laser.

Step two (through plastic film): The plastic film reduced MOP during 150 sec of exposure by 3.6%, or 2.3 mW (SEM \pm 1.2), on average from the 904 nm laser; and by 6.6%, or 12.7 mW (SEM \pm 1.0), on average from the 810 nm laser (Paper II, Table 1). The statistic GEE estimates had the same trend as without any obstacle, but with a less steep slope, 0.16 mW per 30 sec (95% CI: -0.10 to 0.42, p=0.23) for the 904 nm laser; and -1.00 mW per 30 sec (95% CI: -1.49 to -0.52, p<0.01) for the 810 nm laser.

Step three (through skin - probe in skin contact): Skin flaps from rat hind legs had thickness of $1.2 \text{ mm} (\text{SD} \pm 0.2) (n=21)$.

There was no difference between penetration through skin flaps from the left or the right hind legs (t-test values for the two lasers at seven time-points varies from p=0.63 to p=0.91).

The two lasers had statistically different skin penetration abilities. The percentage of energy penetrating through skin from the 810 nm laser, was stable at approximately 20% of the MOP (ranging from 19.5% (SEM ± 0.6) to 20.4% (SEM ± 0.6) between seven measured time-points) during 150 seconds of exposure (Paper II, Table 1). The statistic GEE estimated slope for the 810 nm laser was -0.26% of MOP per 30 seconds (95% CI: -0.35 to -0.17, p<0.01). The percentage of energy penetrating skin from the 904 nm laser increased almost linearly during 150 sec of exposure, from 38.7% of MOP (SEM ± 1.4) to 58% of MOP (SEM ± 3.5) (Paper II, Table 1 and Figure 2). The statistic GEE estimated slope was 2.29% per 30 sec (95% CI: 1.69 to 2.88, p<0.01) for the 904 nm laser.

The two lasers had significant (p<0.01) different percentage of MOP penetrating through skin at all measured time-points (Paper II, Table 1 and Figure 2).

Step four (through skin - probe not in skin contact): Both lasers showed the same trends of energy penetrating through skin with the probe not in skin contact as the case was with the laser probes in skin contact. There were significant (t-test, p<0.01) differences in the percentage of MOP penetrating through skin with the probe not in skin contact from the two lasers at all measured time-points (Paper II, Table 1 and Figure 2). Even though, the slope of increased penetration during processing time from the 904 nm laser was smaller than with the probe in skin contact: The statistic GEE estimates a slope of 1.42% of MOP per 30 sec (95% CI: 0.82 to 2.03, p<0.01) with the probe not in skin contact. In percentages the amount of energy penetrating skin increased from 36.8% (SEM \pm 2.4) to 44.4% (SEM \pm 3.0) during exposure with the 904 nm laser (Paper II, Table 1 and Figure 2).

The amount of energy penetrating through skin for the 810 nm laser was slightly higher during irradiation with the probe not in skin contact than with the probe in skin contact: The percentage of MOP was approximately 24% (ranging 23.1% (SEM \pm 1.7)

to 25.5% (SEM \pm 2.2)) during the exposure period with the probe not in skin contact (Paper II, Table 1 and Figure 2). The statistic GEE estimated slope was -0.42% of MOP per 30 sec (95% CI: -1.27 to 0.43, p=0.33).

Irradiation with the laser probe in skin contact versus not in skin contact resulted in changes in skin penetration ability for both lasers. These changes are most likely not attributed to the optical laser parameters, but to the different physical shape of the two probe tips. The 904 nm laser probe has a convex protruding lens, which squeezes the skin when the probe is in skin contact. This will cause better penetration with full skin contact than with no skin contact. On the contrary the 810 nm laser probe has a flat folded up lens. Here the metallic ring surrounding the lens will gather and push skin underneath the lens, which leads to less penetration with the probe in skin contact than not in skin contact (Paper II, Figure 3).

STUDY III

The H_0 -hypothesis "A single LLLT dose, after an acute tendon trauma, has biological effects on the injured tissue" was confirmed, and the alternative hypothesis "There is no effect from a single LLLT dose after an acute tendon trauma" was rejected.

Achilles tendon thickness (including the peritendon) measurements in the longitudinal plane by RTUS revealed a statistically significant (p<0.05) difference between the injured right Achilles and the healthy left Achilles, in the active-LLLT group. In the group treated with placebo-LLLT, tendon thickness (including the peritendon) side differences were insignificant (p=0.35). The mean Achilles thickness (including the peritendon) on the injured right tendon was 0.93 mm (SD \pm 0.03) in the active-LLLT group, and 0.73 mm (SD \pm 0.07) in the placebo-LLLT group. The healthy left Achilles had a mean tendon thickness (including the peritendon) of 0.69 mm (SD \pm 0.07) and 0.70 mm (SD \pm 0.10) respectively.

The difference between injured right-Achilles and healthy left-Achilles on transversal plane RTUS images was significant at (p<0.05) in the active-LLLT group. In the placebo-LLLT group transversal tendon thickness side difference was insignificant (p=0.16). The mean transversal thickness of the injured right Achilles was 0.70 mm (SD ±0.10) in the active-LLLT group, and 0.63 mm (SD ±0.14) in the placebo-LLLT

There were no significant differences in UTS between the injured right Achilles and healthy left Achilles in the active-LLLT group and in the placebo-LLLT group. The mean UTS in the injured right Achilles was 51.11 N (SD \pm 9.77) in the active-LLLT group, and 57.64 N (SD \pm 7.80) in the placebo-LLLT group. The healthy left Achilles had an UTS of 53.94 N (SD \pm 9.80 N) in the active-LLLT group and 59.66 N (SD \pm 11.86 N) in the placebo-LLLT group.

Two months later we wanted to ensure reliability and measured tendon thickness again on the stored longitudinal images. This revealed an intrarater reliability by ICC(1,1)ranging from 0.68 to 0.83 (unpublished data), indicating moderate reliability.

5. DISCUSSION

This chapter contains sections with general discussion, methodical discussion, further research with pertinent follow-up studies, and finally conclusions.

5.1 GENERAL DISCUSSION

This general discussion will focus on the thesis in relation to perspectives of the current project and the physiotherapy research literature, biophysical effects from LLLT in skin, LLLT doses and initiating LLLT after acute trauma, and animal models in tendinopathy.

5.1.1 Physiotherapy research

Society is constantly changing and this requires health professionals' to adapt to changing demands in the society. Physiotherapists are an important resource available to society's health professionals. They shall always provide the most suitable examination and treatment methods which are best for helping the patients. To meet this requirement research in physiotherapy has increased in recent decades, with more emphasis on evidence-based practice and clinical research (Coronado et al., 2011). The number of RCTs and systematic reviews in physiotherapy published in the Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro) increased almost exponential during the period from 1960 to 2009 (Moseley et al., 2002), and constitutes now more than 23 thousand papers (PEDro, 2013). In line with this increase the quality of RCT of physiotherapy interventions has improved. Since 1960, study's quality score (PEDro score 0-10, where10 is best score on trials internal and external validity) has increased by on average 0.6 points per decade (Moseley et al., 2011). Similar efforts on improved evidence-based knowledge have also taken place in research on LLLT. There has been a sharp increase in the number of animal studies on LLLT since the turn of the twentyfirst century (Figure 4). A search in PubMed on the terms "animal" and "low level laser therapy" resulted in almost a thousand papers.



Figure 4 Publications over time on "animal and low-level-laser-therapy", (search in GoPubMed.com, April 2013)

(GoPubMed, 2013)

In clinical practice physiotherapists use electrophysical devices both in examination of patients and as part of a combined physiotherapy treatment package. Physiotherapists are capable of performing clinical examinations to guide clinical reasoning for optimal timing and optimal combination of treatment modalities. But physiotherapists are not necessarily in-depth specialists in the bordering sciences of physics, physiology or radiology. Still, physiotherapists must sometimes perform scientific research in bordering disciplines when it is necessary to elucidate what mechanisms are at play that causes effects from the various EPAs used by the physiotherapy science, partly because of physiotherapists' limited competence in basic science research. The solution to this is of course to initiate collaboration with other researchers in medical and basic sciences. In this perspective, the project at hand is an example of translational research involving a number of disciplines other than physiotherapy.

This project has involved acquisition of new skills that were needed for the realization of the research project. I have acquired skills in imaging techniques such as ultrasonography, thermography and gained qualification for performing laboratory animal studies (Federation of European Laboratory Animal Science Associations, FELASA C-course). An additional benefit from the research project is the confirmation that physiotherapists may be able to acquire these additional skills and to handle them professionally with adequate reliability.

5.1.2 LLLT'S BIOPHYSICAL EFFECTS IN SKIN

The various EPAs used in physiotherapy interventions are designed to deliver different forms of energy to the human body in a therapeutic purpose. Therapeutic lasers deliver light energy to the human skin in order to trigger phototherapeutic reactions in underlying tissues. With the first clinical LLLT studies being published in the 1980s critics soon claimed that the doses used were too low to evoke any noticeable thermal or biological reactions in the human body (Devor, 1990). In the nineties knowledge improved about the biophysical properties of LLLT irradiation. More studies into basic mechanisms led to a different understanding of LLLT effects, which shifted the prevailing perspective to attribute possible LLLT effects to non-thermal mechanisms (Basford, 1995). This perspective may have been challenged by the recent technological developments. New and more powerful class 3B laser devices have been brought to the market by laser manufacturers claiming that "more is better". Theoretically this has re-opened the possibility that thermal effects may be present during LLLT irradiation.

The thermal effects in human skin from infrared class 3B lasers, observed in study I, indicate that laser MOP is an aspect to be considered in clinical settings. The skin temperature increases in a near-linear manner with LLLT irradiation dosage. This dose-temperature relation seems to apply for all combinations of lasers and participant subgroups (age groups, gender and skin colour). The results show that the biophysical effect, heat production, in human skin during irradiation from infrared lasers is strongly related to skin colour. Skin temperatures were significantly higher at all irradiation doses for participants with dark skin compared to other skin colour groups, regardless of laser type. This indirectly indicates a differential influence of light energy absorption as lesser energy seems to be absorbed in light and medium coloured skin than in dark skin. Similarly skin colour dependent absorptions has previously been found in studies with ultraviolet irradiation, where darker skin was found to act as a better photon absorber and photo protection barrier than lighter skin (Giacomoni, 1995; Taylor, 2002; Yamaguchi et al., 2007).

One could be tempted to assume that the observed thermal effect from LLLT solely was a result of irradiated power density (mW/cm^2) , but this was not the case. The 810

nm laser with more than three times as high power density as the 904 nm laser induced less thermal effect in light and medium coloured skin.

Although both lasers evoked similarly shaped thermal responses for irradiation doses (J) in the graphs (Paper I), there were other factors that differed. The irradiation time with the 904 nm was more than three times longer as it was with the 810 nm laser for equal doses to be delivered. The longer exposure time component might have caused slightly higher skin temperatures from equal doses in light and medium coloured skin from the superpulsed 904 nm laser than from the continuous 810 nm laser.

Aging of the human skin-structure changes during the lifespan and could possibly influence the biophysical penetration properties for infrared class 3B lasers. Even though there was a tendency to more heat production in younger skin (under 40 year of age) than in older skin (over 60 year of age), these differences in skin temperatures were small and not significantly different between the three age groups included in study I. Although, a type-II error caused by few participants in the oldest age group cannot be ruled out.

Another possible factor influencing biophysical penetration could be gender. A gender difference in sun-sensitivity has previously been reported in the literature, with female skin being more sun-sensitive than male skin (Guinot et al., 2005). However, these gender differences seem to be of lesser importance, as we found no significant differences in the biophysical heating effects in human skin, between genders during irradiation from the two infrared class 3B lasers in study I.

Laser irradiation with doses recommended by WALT resulted in small and therapeutically irrelevant temperature changes (<1.5°C) in light and medium coloured skin. But the observed temperatures in dark skin with doses at, or above, 2 J for the 810 nm laser exceeded the threshold for painful thermal stimuli (Defrin et al., 2002). The significant heating of dark skin caused by the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser has implications for irradiation safety, and indicates that lasers with MOP in the 2-300 mW range should probably not be used clinically with doses at and above 6 J in persons with dark skin.

A previous penetration study using LED with an infrared wavelength (λ =840 nm) found decreased light transmission in skinfolds in participants with dark skin, but no significant differences between groups of different skin colours (Nussbaum et al., 2007). However, the power density for the LED source was very low compared to our study and used only 1-2% of the power density used in our study I. Additionally, both ours and their study only included respectively 13 and 15 participants with the darkest skin colour in the sample, and consequently type-II errors cannot be ruled out.

The biophysical ability of irradiation from infrared class 3B lasers to penetrate through skin was larger than expected from previous studies, as between twenty and fifty percent of the irradiated energy penetrated. The biophysical effect time-profile was expected to show a constant amount of energy penetrating through the skin with commonly used irradiation times for both lasers. Small differences between the 810 nm and 904 nm lasers were expected as longer wavelengths have been shown to penetrate slightly better (Ackermann et al., 2002; Bashkatov et al., 2005). However, only the continuous 810 nm laser showed a constant amount of penetrating light over time. As expected, we initially observed that a greater amount of energy penetrated through rat skin from the 904 nm laser than from the 810 nm laser. But the observed 50% increase of penetrating energy during the irradiation period from the superpulsed 904 nm laser was unexpected and can probably not be explained by wavelength differences alone. A biophysical effect time-profile of gradually increasing skin penetration during exposure has not previously been reported in the LLLT literature.

Increased skin penetration during exposure due to photobleaching is a phenomenon in the PDT literature. Photobleaching is the photochemical destruction of fluorescent molecules which consequently reduces the auto-fluorescence of the tissue and thereby causes lesser absorption of light. PDT utilize a photosensitizer in combination with light and tissue oxygenation in cancer treatment (Dougherty et al., 1998), and the photobleaching effect in skin is derived from the photosensitizer (Georgakoudi et al., 1997; Zhu and Finlay, 2008). This makes it inexpedient to extrapolate photobleaching results from the PDT literature to our findings. Although, reduced fluorescence in skin during laser irradiation was found in a recently published study on improving skin Raman spectral quality. Wang et al. (2012) found a fluorescence decrease in human skin of approximately 25% during 200 sec of exposure from a 785 nm laser with power density 0.29 W/cm². This percentage is somewhat lower than our findings from the 904 nm laser. The effect from irradiation modes, continuous versus superpulsed (peak power 12.5 W) was compared in a study on enhanced melanin fluorescence (Kerimo et al., 2011). Irradiation from a 930 nm laser with approximately the same MOP in continuous mode and superpulsed mode showed only small differences in activation of enhanced emission, which indicates that irradiation mode play a minor role in enhanced melanin fluorescence. As discussed, it cannot be said with certainty to what extent this photobleaching observed from the superpulsed 904 nm laser in study II occurred due to irradiation of this particular wavelength and/or the combination of pulse parameters (peak power, width and frequency) compounded in this superpulsed laser or other factors.

The few published LLLT penetration studies either use mathematical modelling or register outcome only for a single time-point. These models make the inherent assumption that penetration is constant and independent of time. In our study II we decided to investigate not only penetration at a single time-point, but to characterize the time-profile for LLLT skin penetration. In this novel area of research, we found it prudent to start by using an *in vivo* model. However, we recognized that further *in situ* experiments are needed in order to verify the presence of the observed penetration variation with superpulsed lasers in clinical settings.

It would be of greater clinical value to pursue the question of skin penetration further by measurements in an *in situ* experiment. This would require a more sophisticated technical procedure with smaller and more advanced optical sensors placed subcutaneously in a surgical procedure in the living subjects. Due to the inherent scattering and backscattering of laser light when passing the skin barrier and different layers of tissue, the optical sensors would also need to be circularly shaped to detect photons from all directions and connected by a thin optical fibre. A natural extension of study II would be to initiate a new *in situ* experiment if possible with suitable sensors, and test if acceptable reliability can be achieved. Finally, with positive results in the *in situ* experiment one could extend this research further to an *in situ* human experiment with a sensor surgically placed in, for instance, the peritendinous tissue of the Achilles tendon in volunteers, if this would be acceptable to the regional ethical committee. Whereas study II only gives us an indication of the possible relative penetration of LLLT in rats, the above delineated studies if feasible would have shed more precise information on LLLT penetration in human clinical settings.

5.1.3 LLLT DOSES AND INITIATING LLLT

Understanding the LLLT parameters is a challenging exercise for clinicians. Therapeutic lasers are characterized by a complexity of parameters comprising wavelength, output power, spot size and irradiation mode. Additionally, irradiation time seems to play a role, as longer exposure time seems to be more effective than short exposure time (Castano et al., 2007). The optical energy in the laser beam is gradually being absorbed by the tissue it penetrates. Biological tissue can only utilize a certain amount of optical energy, inasmuch as there are no known depositaries for optical energy in biological tissue. This means that irradiation time may have a direct influence on the effectiveness of LLLT irradiation in the biophysical processes taking place in tissue.

There is strong clinical evidence reflected in the WALT dosage guidelines that superpulsed λ =904 nm lasers have lower optimal dose ranges in musculoskeletal disorders than continuous λ =810 nm lasers (Tumilty et al., 2010; Jang and Lee, 2012). It has been proposed that less energy is lost in the skin barrier with the superpulsed 904 nm laser than with the continuous 810 nm laser (Bjordal et al., 2003b). The superpulsed 904 nm laser has both a wavelength-dependent initial larger proportion of energy penetrating through the skin barrier, and increased penetration during irradiation. Calculations on the basis of our findings in study II show that both a 4 J dose from the 810 nm laser and a 2 J dose from the 904 nm laser bring a similar energy dose of 0.8 J through the skin barrier. Consequently, our results from study II support the differentiation between dosages from λ =904 nm and λ =810 nm lasers in WALT dosage recommendations.

In study III rat Achilles tendons were irradiated by a dose of 3 J after injury. An irradiation dose of 3 J is commonly used in clinical practice for human inflammatory conditions and has been adapted from the dose recommendations from WALT (WALT, 2010). It is unclear if LLLT parameters which are effective in humans also can be extrapolated to small rodents. In retrospect, it seems that effective doses in animal studies are somewhat smaller than in humans (Bjordal et al., 2006a), and we may have gone too high in dosage for rat Achilles tendon pathology.

Recent studies with LLLT (λ =810 nm) and doses of 1 J and 3 J following a collagenase-induced tendinitis in rat Achilles evaluated biophysical and biomechanical aspects of the tendons. They found a single dose of 3 J to be most effective for reducing edema significantly 12 hours after injection (Marcos et al., 2011), while the 1 J dose had better UTS values in tendons 7 days after injury (Marcos et al., 2012).

In another recent study with LLLT (λ =904 nm), doses of 0.1, 0.3, 1.0 and 3.0 J were used to see if prevention of skeletal muscle fatigue and muscle damage in rats could be achieved. All irradiated groups except the 3.0 J group showed significantly lower post-exercise creatine kinase activity than the control group immediately after the electrical muscle contraction tests (Leal Junior et al., 2010). Thus, optimal irradiation doses from 904 nm lasers in rat muscles seem to be closer to 1 J, and we may have over-dosed with 3 J in our study III. This could explain the non-significant differences, but possibly not the increased edema observed in the active-LLLT group.

A more likely explanation of the increased edema in the active-LLLT group could be the early initiation of LLLT after injury. Timing the initiating of LLLT after an injury has not been subject to extensive debates in the literature. But in animal studies measuring edema after inducing an injury, LLLT is typically administrated an hour or later (Albertini et al., 2004; Albertini et al., 2007; Bortone et al., 2008; Marcos et al., 2011). It is also conceivable that LLLT treated tendons (on day one of the experiment) might be more vulnerable than untreated tendons to a trauma on the next day.

Hence, a possible negative effect on edema development in inflamed tissue may be restricted to the first half hour after the onset of inflammation (MacKenna et al., 1998; Kyaw et al., 2001; Arnoczky et al., 2002; Werle et al., 2002). In this perspective, our findings may have

important clinical implications as it has been an open question when the earliest timepoint for effective LLLT of soft-tissue injury might be.

It is interesting to note that increased tendon thickness is exhibited irrespective of the state of the tendinopathy being in an acute or a chronic phase. In the acute stage of tendinopathy edema may be present in the paratenon or tenosynovia, or intratendinously with loosening cross-links, but without major defects in the longitudinal tendon morphological structure. Increased tendon thickness may also be related to the formation of intratendinous edema after overload or trauma in a partly degenerated tendon (Kongsgaard et al., 2005). After the initial edema partial ruptures of the longitudinal fibre bundles will typically heal with tendon hypertrophy caused by the increased collagen fibre formation during the proliferative phase of tendon repair (Gerriets et al., 1993; Khan et al., 1999; Sharma and Maffulli, 2005b; Fillipin et al., 2005). In this perspective, increased tendon thickness may be present in the early phases due to edema, while tendon hypertrophy may be the cause of increased tendon thickness in later remodelling stages of partial rupture tendinopathy.

5.1.4 LLLT IN TENDINOPATHY - ANIMAL MODELS

Human tendinopathies have a multifactorial aetiology, and research in human tendinopathies is complex with ethical limitations on evaluation methods (Cook and Khan, 2007). Animal models can never be fully fledged models for human tendinopathies, but they may be useful in reproducing some aspects of human tendinopathy. Behaviour and nutrition can be controlled more easily in animal studies than in human studies. This gives animal studies an edge in being particularly suitable for single-factor experimental design. Another advantage of animal models is that they allow full tissue evaluation of biomechanics properties, histopathology and morphology; although the latter two were not used in this particular project.

The use of animal models in research on tendinopathies also has its' limitations. Extrinsic risk factors, like equipment and environmental conditions, are associated with human tendinopathy. These factors are difficult to imitate in animal models and restrain use of animal models as true triggers of tendinopathies in the way they occur

in humans (Lui et al., 2011). There are also obvious anatomical differences between bipeds and quadripeds. This affects the validity of using animal models in tendinopathy research and limits extrapolation of findings in animal studies to human tendinopathies (Warden, 2009; Lui et al., 2011).

One animal model for mimicking tendinopathy has been used by inducing repetitive mechanical stress. This over-use model forces animals to run daily for 1 kilometre in 60 minutes, causing development of changes in cellularity, tendon thickness and some 40% reduction in tensile strength in supraspinatus tendons (Soslowsky et al., 2000). In other studies with this over-use model, findings of inflammation and fibre degeneration have been conflicting. Perry et al. (2005) found significant presence of inflammatory markers, while Archambault et al. (2007) found little inflammatory reactions or degeneration, but a switch in procollagens to type II and III.

The mechanical model where a blunt trauma is inflicted to tendons in a mini-guillotine is fairly new in mimicking tendinopathy. In previous studies, a standardized trauma in the mini-guillotine caused distinct histopathological changes in rat tendons (Fillipin et al., 2005; Salate et al., 2005; Oliveira et al., 2009). But is has been an open question how this may affect biological properties of the tendons. During our pilot testing we achieved differences in UTS between healthy and injured rat Achilles tendons of ~10 N. Nevertheless UTS differences only came to 2-3 N in study III. A new rat study has since our study was performed found that the ability to regain normal UTS following tendon injury decreases with age (1, 3 and 12 months) (Lavagnino et al., 2013). This age-related regeneration ability in rat tendons can possible explains the relative low UTS differences found in our study III as we used younger rats (1-2 months) in study III than in the pilot tests (6-12 months).

5.2 METHODICAL DISCUSSION

In this section the methodological aspects of this project's design, procedures, subjects, instruments, data and statistics will be discussed. Methodological limitations are included in the sub-sections.

5.2.1 DESIGN AND PROCEDURES

The repeated measurements design is a strong design as it is especially sensitive in detecting differences in the same subject between conditions measured. In study I biophysical effects from several doses of LLLT irradiation were compared to a control area in the same body part of the subject, which means that subjects were their own controls. This minimizes the possibility of other factors than LLLT causing the changes in biophysical effects between the two measured areas. In study II the biophysical ability of energy from LLLT irradiation to penetrate through rat skin, was compared at several time-points during exposure.

There is consensus that randomized controlled double blind trial is the best suited experimental design for evaluating effects from an intervention. In study III the effect on edema formation and UTS from active-LLLT versus placebo-LLLT after an acute tendon trauma was investigated. The animals' contralateral healthy tendons served as controls.

Controlled manipulation of a variable enables us to infer something about the causality of the observed changes under study, although the strength of the conclusions depends on the level of control in the studies. The researcher can achieve control by uniformly implementing the independent variable, eliminating extraneous variables from the setting and relating to subjects, ensuring the reliability of measurements, and limiting information provided to themselves and subjects (Domholdt, 2005). All three studies in this project were provided with detailed protocols and standardized procedures. The implementation of the independent variable, irradiation doses (in study I and III) and exposure time (in study II), was specified in advance. Extraneous excitation was reduced by use of a highly controlled environment, subjects as their own controls, and by measuring outcome data at one occasion. Information to subjects and researchers

was limited where possible: Subjects in study I were blinded to the irradiation sequence i.e. active doses and placebo. Researchers in study III were blinded to placebo/active LLLT intervention.

LIMITATIONS TO STUDY I

One limitation to study I was that the irradiation doses were delivered in a fixed sequence. Applying the selected doses in a randomized manner would have revealed if this possible confounder was at play. The skin-contact laser irradiation application technique and the thermographic measurement seemed to be fairly insensitive to operator and observer variability.

Pilot testing of intraobserver and interobserver reliability could have been included. This would have made the study more robust by quantifying the variability and possibly eliminating this potential source of bias. All testing measures of outcome for each subject were done on a single occasion. We could have repeated the test sequences on another day to ensure that an acceptable intrasubject test-retest reliability level was achieved.

LIMITATIONS TO STUDY II

Considering that LLLT is an intervention used in clinical practice on humans, one limitation to study II was irradiation performed in rat skin with an *in vivo* procedure. On the other hand, for clinical problems (*in situ*) an *in vivo* experiment is often considered suitable as a first stage for investigating if a specific mechanism may or may not be at play.

LIMITATIONS TO STUDY III

The intervention of LLLT irradiation in study III was set to half an hour after trauma. In hindsight, it is easy to see that more groups with administration of LLLT at other time-points after an acute trauma could have shed light on the optimal timing of LLLT treatment after a trauma. But these results were unexpected and difficult to foresee. Future experiments with this model should include different time-points for irradiation and different irradiation doses. Another amendment to the design of study III would be to broaden it with groups treated with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser. By doing so parallels to differences in laser effects found in study I and study II could have been drawn.

The design of study III would have been more robust if we had provided pre-trauma test measurements on RTUS tendon thickness. This would have allowed comparison of pre- and post-trauma measurements on the same tendon, which is a variable of less variability than using our comparison to the contralateral control. Additionally, pathohistological outcome measurements subsequent to the double mini-guillotine trauma would have brought supplementary information about the tissue pathology. But our choice of UTS as outcome measure precluded the possibility for making a histological analysis of the actual tendons.

5.2.2 SUBJECTS

The research question for the Thesis was to look into biophysical and biological effects from LLLT lasers in tissue. The target tissue was the skin in study I and study II, and tendons in study III. The subjects under study act as a proxy for the target population of interest. Researchers use information from a sample of subjects to make some inference about the wider population of interest (McAuley, 2003).

The sampling method, probabilistic sample, involves randomization and is preferable when the researcher hopes to generalize findings from a sample. Nonprobability samples have absence of randomization and tend to have more sampling error than probability samples (Domholdt, 2005). The healthy humans in study I were recruited by nonprobability sampling, as a stratified convenience sample. This recruitment method can limit the generalization of the findings, but when subjects are compared to themselves the results will still yield clinical relevance. Power analysis was not done as any similar studies on thermal effects from LLLT lasers on human skin were not found in the literature, and the expected variation is a crucial factor in power analyses. The limited sample size of forty subjects leads to small numbers in some of the subgroups. This may have caused type II statistical errors in comparisons of subgroups. A type II error typically occurs when the statistical analysis results in no differences between groups when in reality there is a small but true difference. A larger sample could have shed light on whether the observed trends in age subgroups were occurring at random or not.

In study I we chose the dorsal side of the proximal phalanx of the right index finger for laser irradiation. A consideration regarding the anatomical location used for laser irradiation in study I includes the variety of actual sites for LLLT treatment in clinical practice. Therapeutic lasers are commonly used for treatment of tendons and joint disorders. Several tendons and joints in the hand have been subjected to LLLT in clinical studies (Sharma et al., 2002; Ozkan et al., 2004; Ye et al., 2011). Additionally, skin exposed to sunlight develops adaptation and enhances photo-protection to a higher degree than skin usually covered from sunlight (Alaluf et al., 2002). In this perspective laser irradiation in the skin of the hand can be expected to be absorbed more and penetrate less than in other anatomical locations.

There was a high withdrawal rate (62%) of participants in the dark skin group during irradiation with the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser. This weakens the precision of the exact mean temperature increase in dark skin caused by the lasers. However, it can be argued that this value is of purely academic interest and beyond the scope of this project. The important clinical finding is that painful temperature increases occur during LLLT irradiation with a 200 mW, 810 nm laser in dark skin. This also implies that the great absorption of laser energy in dark skin probably makes the remaining penetrating energy insufficient to induce photobiological reactions in deeper tissues. As a curiosity, one participant with dark skin and a research background wanted for his own interest to measure how high a painful increase in skin temperature he could tolerate (relative to the control area). The skin temperature increased by 11.2°C during a dose of 2 J, and 22.3°C during a dose of 6 J (irradiation was interrupted by the investigators and he was not irradiated with doses of 9 J and 12 J).

Animals included in study II and study III are inbred for more than 20 generations, and of inbreeding coefficient >98%. This increases homogeneity of the animals, and reduces intrasubject variability in tissues such as skin and Achilles tendons. Animals were given 10 days of acclimatization in the laboratory before the experiments were started.

In study II *in vivo* rat skin overlaying the gastrocnemius muscles from 34 animals was harvested. Six of these skin flaps were discarded because of human errors in the dissection procedure. As an extension of the results in study I, and with the knowledge we have after completing study II, it would have been of great value for clinical practice to investigate infrared class 3B lasers ability to penetrate human skin in different colours and age groups.

In study III sixteen animals were randomized to two groups of 8 animals. During the experiment there were no waivers. The target tissue in study III was *in situ* and *in vivo* rat Achilles tendons.

5.2.3 INSTRUMENTS

In this project electrophysical devices were used for both intervention and outcome measurements.

Both intervention devices, i.e. the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser and the 904 nm, 60 mW MOP laser, had stable MOP during exposure time as measured in study II (Paper II, Table 1). The active LLLT probe in study III was measured for control subsequently to study III with the same MOP stability as the probe used in study I and study II.

For the measurements of biophysical and biological effects from LLLT in tissue we used other electrophysical devices. The biophysical effects in skin were measured as heat by the Flir system, ThermaCAM S65HS, and as the amount of penetrated energy by the Optical Power Meter system. The biological effect in tendons were measured as tendon thickness (including the peritendon) by a RTUS device manufactured by General Electric, named Logiq e, fitted with a 12 MHz linear probe. The biomechanical testing of tendon UTS was performed with a pulling devise called MTS-820.

THERMOGRAPHIC IMAGING

Thermographic imaging has been used in medicine since the sixties. Technological improvements during the eighties and nineties have made thermographic cameras more accurate and made this type of imaging less time consuming. Today's

thermographic cameras have a small error rate of only $\pm 2\%$ and typical precision with deviation of less than 0.1°C when measuring skin temperatures (Villaseñor-Mora et al., 2009; Jiang et al., 2005). One limitation for thermography used as an outcome measurement in medical science has been the adaption of biological systems and the method's inherent sensitivity to environmental temperatures. Consequently, thermographic imaging should be performed in a temperature controlled environment where ambient temperature during measuring sessions does not vary more than 1°C (Jiang et al., 2005). In study I the laboratory temperature varied less than 0.5°C during the period of data collection.

Materials have different abilities to emit thermal radiation, expressed as a material's emissivity with range from 0 (not emitting) to 1 (complete emitting). Thermographic cameras visualize energy emitted from materials, and they are most sensitive to temperature changes in materials with high emissivity. Human skin on the back of the hand has an emissivity of 0.98, and skin pigmentation does not affect this value (Ring, 2006; Villaseñor-Mora et al., 2009). The Flir ThermaCAM S65HS used in this project is calibrated once a year against a blackbody, emissivity ε =0.99, distance=1 meter. Calibration is based on the International Temperature Scale (ITS-90) and performed at the Swedish National Testing and Research Institute.

There are no studies found in the literature on reliability tests of the ThermaCAM S65HS.

OPTICAL POWER METER

The Optical Power Meter in study II was a ThorLabs model PM100 fitted with a S121B optical sensor. The wavelength-specific measurement mode was operating at five specific wavelengths; 635, 670, 780, 810 and 904 nm. For our experiment, the two wavelengths (810 nm and 904 nm) that corresponded to the LLLT lasers were used. Laser power meters are known for having high stability and low measurement errors, but earlier equipment has been flawed by variations in the absolute values obtained during laser radiant power measurements (Nussbaum et al., 1999). For the purpose of study II, we were less interested in the absolute radiant power of the lasers, but more in the stability of the laser MOP and their relative loss of energy over time when passing through the skin barrier.

REAL TIME ULTRASONOGRAPHY

In a previous study from our research group, we found that intrasubject side differences in tendon thickness on RTUS were more reliable than intersubject variations in tendon thickness, as measures of tendon disorders (Bjordal et al., 2003a). The RTUS device used in this project, a GE Logiq e, with a 12 MHz linear probe, has present high interrater reliability and intrarater reliability in Master-thesis on human shoulder tendons thickness (Ingebrigtsen, 2012; Naterstad, 2012) and on median nerve cross-sectional area in human carpal tunnel (Hummelsund, 2008).

ULTIMATE TENSILE STRENGTH

Biomechanical testing of UTS is an evaluation method which has been commonly used in experimental tenotomy studies (Forslund and Aspenberg, 2001; Forslund et al., 2003; Dimmen et al., 2009). Nevertheless UTS testing after tendon trauma induced by a miniguillotine has, to our knowledge, not previously been reported in the literature. A major technical challenge in UTS testing of healthy rat Achilles tendons has been to obtain a reliable, non-sliding grip of the proximal end of the tendon. We have only found two papers investigating UTS of normal tendons, possibly because investigators have experienced grip slippage and consequently test failure before the tendon ruptured.

During UTS testing in study III most tendons ruptured a few mm from the distal grip zone with forces up to 75.2 N. In this model even healthy rat Achilles tendon UTS can be measured. One aspect of the results in study III is the relatively wide standard deviation (SD) we found for UTS in rat Achilles tendons. Whether this SD reflects the natural variation of rat Achilles UTS or is a consequence of the procedures used for UTS testing is as yet unclear.

5.2.4 DATA

The photo-protection ability of the skin barrier is of relevance when exploring effects from LLLT. The energy from LLLT has to pass the skin barrier to influence physiological processes in underlying tissues. Melanin is a chromophore in human skin which provides photo-protection from sunlight by absorbing photons (Giacomoni, 1995; Taylor, 2002), and with a thermal relaxation time of $\sim 1 \mu$ sec (Stratigos and Dover, 2000). The protective role of melanin against UV radiation is well known (Kaidbey et al., 1979; Costin and Hearing, 2007; Brenner and Hearing, 2008), but the specific characteristics by which the skin filters infrared irradiation are poorly described. The photon protective processes in skin include absorption and conversion of irradiated energy to heat energy.

The biophysical parameters as heat and skin penetration time-profile are of scientific value as no studies so far have dealt with these effects from infrared class 3B lasers. Even though heat induction in skin is an indirect effect of LLLT irradiation, this parameter still provides information about differences related to skin colour, age and gender (study I). The amount of energy penetrating skin during exposure is an essential figure in customizing doses for treating tissue beneath the skin (study II).

The biological parameter edema provides a rough estimate of the ongoing processes after an acute tendon trauma. When trauma is followed by treatment (placebo-/active LLLT) the difference in edema between the two groups will reflect the active ingredient of LLLT. The biomechanical parameter UTS is of interests as tensile strength reflects tendons' main *in situ* properties (study III).

It is interesting to note that increased tendon thickness is exhibited irrespective of the state of the tendinopathy being in an acute or chronic phase. In the acute stage of tendinopathy, edema may be present in the paratenon, tenosynovia or intratendinous with loosening cross-links but without defects in the longitudinal tendon structure (Couppe et al., 2009). Increased tendon thickness may also be related to the formation of intratendinous oedema after overload or trauma in a partly degenerated tendon (Kongsgaard et al., 2005).

5.2.5 STATISTICS

The selection of Microsoft Excel 2007 for statistical analysis in study I and study II was based on this software's advantage in graphic and table construction compared to other statistical packages. Excel is claimed to be untrustworthy as a statistical tool. A verification of statistical analysis in SPSS ver.19 confirms that p-values in Students t-tests became slightly more significant from SPSS in both study I and study II. All other SPSS analyses on data in study I-III gave identical results as in Excel.

Generalized Estimating Equation (GEE) used in study II is a strong statistical analysis to estimate the parameters of a generalized linear model with an unknown correlation between outcomes. Since our novel study II on LLLT laser's skin penetration timeprofile outcomes was unknown, this statistical method of analysis was suitable.

5.3 FURTHER RESEARCH

Although some aspects of the research question were answered, several new questions have been raised:

- To what extent does the irradiation mode affect the skin penetration profile for infrared class 3B lasers?
- Which laser parameter(s) cause photobleaching effects in skin?
 (The phenomenon observed from the superpulsed 904 nm laser, in study II)
- When is optimal timing for initiation of LLLT after a trauma?
- Do tendons in young and old subjects' respond differently to LLLT?
- How is the infrared-class-3B laser's ability to penetrate human skin? (Human skin in different groups of age and skin colour).

Other questions which arose were:

- How are the histopathological findings in young compared to old rat tendons after a double trauma in the mini-guillotine?

5.3.1 FOLLOW-UP STUDIES

As an extension of study II the time-profile for skin penetration for the irradiation mode chopped-pulsed (150 Hz) from the 810 nm, 200 mW MOP laser was investigated. The protocol from study II was used, and irradiation was done with the probe in skin contact (n=25) and not in skin contact (n=19).

 The skin penetration time-profile for chopped-pulsed irradiation was similar to the one for continuous irradiation: 22% (SD ±3.6) of MOP penetrated, and the penetration rate was stable over time.

Another follow-up study was done on timing the initiation of LLLT in acute Achilles trauma. The same dose as in study III was irradiated two hours after trauma. The study also included groups with a dose of 0.5 J half an hour after trauma and 0.5 J two hours after trauma. The same procedures as in study III was applied and tendon thickness on RTUS was the outcome measure. Groups consisted of 8 animals. The results were as follow:

- The LLLT dose of 3 J was irradiated 2 hours after each trauma.
 On day three the tendon thickness was (incl. peritendon) 0.72 mm (SD ±0.11).
- The LLLT dose of 0.5 J was irradiated half an hour after each trauma.
 On day three the tendon thickness was (incl. peritendon) 0.84 mm (SD ±0.09).
- The LLLT dose of 0.5 J was irradiated 2 hours after each trauma.
 On day three the tendon thickness was (incl. peritendon) 0.70 mm (SD ±0.07).

These results indicate that timing the initiation of LLLT after acute tendon trauma is an issue to consider in clinical practice, as edema formation is more prominent from irradiation half an hour after trauma than from irradiation two hours after trauma. The irradiation dose also had effect on edema formation in rat Achilles tendons, where

an irradiation dose of 3 J led to more edema formation than the 0.5 J dose. This indicates that 3 J might be too high a dose in acute trauma on small rodents.

5.4 CONCLUSIONS

The endeavour of the three studies in this Thesis was to investigate some biophysical and biological effects from infrared class 3B lasers.

The null hypothesis in study I on thermal effects in human skin from infrared class 3B lasers when irradiated with high doses was accepted, and the alternative hypothesis of no thermal effects was rejected.

The thermal effects in skin from typical WALT recommended LLLT doses for tendinopathies are negligible (<1.5°C) in light and medium coloured skin. However, higher LLLT doses delivered with a strong class 3B infrared laser (200 mW), are capable of inducing photothermal effects exceeding the thermal pain threshold for humans with dark skin. We found no significant differences in skin temperature between genders or between age groups during the laser irradiation sequence.

The null hypothesis in study II on a fraction of optical energy from infrared class 3B lasers penetrating rat skin was accepted, and the alternative hypothesis of no optical energy penetrate was rejected.

LLLT penetration through rat skin has been shown to provide sufficient optical energy at the sub-dermal level to influence pathological processes and tissue repair beneath the skin. The finding that energy from the superpulsed 904 nm laser penetrate 2-3 times better through rat skin than energy from the continuous 810 nm laser, corresponds well with results of LLLT dose analyses in systematic reviews of LLLT in musculoskeletal disorders. This may explain why the differentiation between these two laser types was needed in the clinical dosage recommendations of WALT.

The null hypothesis in study III on effect from a single LLLT dose in acute tendon trauma was accepted, and the alternative hypothesis of no effects from a single LLLT dose was rejected.

Irradiation with a dose of 3 J within half an hour after a tendon trauma embodies active integrant from LLLT in the ongoing processes in tissue beneath the skin. Optimal timing of LLLT administration after a trauma has not been debated in the literature. Our results show increased edema following LLLT irradiation administrated at half an

hour after trauma. This possibly indicate that half an hour after trauma is too early to initiate LLLT, or that recently LLLT-treated injured tendons may be more vulnerable than untreated tendons to a repeated injury. Another possibility is that the dose simply was too high. Future studies are needed to determine optimal timing of LLLT irradiation and optimal doses in acute tendon traumas.

REFERENCES:

- ACKERMANN, G., HARTMANN, M., SCHERER, K., LANG, E. W., HOHENLEUTNER, U., LANDTHALER, M. & BAUMLER, W. (2002). Correlations between light penetration into skin and the therapeutic outcome following laser therapy of port-wine stains. *Lasers Med Sci*, 17, 70-8.
- AGEL, J., OLSON, D. E., DICK, R., ARENDT, E. A., MARSHALL, S. W. & SIKKA, R. S. (2007). Descriptive epidemiology of collegiate women's basketball injuries: National Collegiate Athletic Association injury surveillance system, 1988-1989 through 2003-2004. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 42, 202-210.
- AIMBIRE, F., ALBERTINI, R., PACHECO, M. T., CASTRO-FARIA-NETO, H. C., LEONARDO, P. S., IVERSEN, V. V., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. & BJORDAL, J. M. (2006). Low-level laser therapy induces dose-dependent reduction of TNFalpha levels in acute inflammation. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 24, 33-7.
- ALALUF, S., ATKINS, D., BARRETT, K., BLOUNT, M., CARTER, N. & HEATH, A. (2002). Ethnic variation in melanin content and composition in photoexposed and photoprotected human skin. *Pigment Cell Res*, **15**, **112-8**.
- ALBERTINI, R., AIMBIRE, F. S., CORREA, F. I., RIBEIRO, W., COGO, J. C., ANTUNES, E., TEIXEIRA, S. A., DE NUCCI, G., CASTRO-FARIA-NETO, H. C., ZANGARO, R. A. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. (2004). Effects of different protocol doses of low power gallium-aluminum-arsenate (Ga-AI-As) laser radiation (650 nm) on carrageenan induced rat paw oedema. J Photochem Photobiol B, 74, 101-7.
- ALBERTINI, R., VILLAVERDE, A. B., AIMBIRE, F., SALGADO, M. A., BJORDAL, J. M., ALVES, L. P., MUNIN, E. & COSTA, M. S. (2007). Anti-inflammatory effects of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) with two different red wavelengths (660 nm and 684 nm) in carrageenan-induced rat paw edema. *J Photochem Photobiol B*, 89, 50-5.
- ALMEKINDERS, L. C. (1998). Tendinitis and other chronic tendinopathies. J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 6, 157-64.
- ALMEKINDERS, L. C. & TEMPLE, J. D. (1998). Etiology, diagnosis, and treatment of tendonitis: an analysis of the literature. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 30, 1183-90.
- AMIEL, D., FRANK, C., HARWOOD, F., FRONEK, J. & AKESON, W. (1984). Tendons and ligaments: a morphological and biochemical comparison. J Orthop Res, 1, 257-65.
- ANDERS, J. J., BORKE, R. C., WOOLERY, S. K. & VAN DE MERWE, W. P. (1993). Low power laser irradiation alters the rate of regeneration of the rat facial nerve. *Lasers in surgery and medicine*, **13**, 72-82.
- ANDERSON, R. R. & PARRISH, J. A. (1981). The optics of human skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 77, 13-19.
- ANDRES, K. H., VON DURING, M. & SCHMIDT, R. F. (1985). Sensory innervation of the Achilles tendon by group III and IV afferent fibers. Anat Embryol (Berl), 172, 145-56.
- ARCHAMBAULT, J. M., JELINSKY, S. A., LAKE, S. P., HILL, A. A., GLASER, D. L. & SOSLOWSKY, L. J. (2007). Rat supraspinatus tendon expresses cartilage markers with overuse. *J Orthop Res*, 25, 617-24.
- ARNOCZKY, S. P., TIAN, T., LAVAGNINO, M., GARDNER, K., SCHULER, P. & MORSE, P. (2002). Activation of stress-activated protein kinases (SAPK) in tendon cells following cyclic strain: the effects of strain frequency, strain magnitude, and cytosolic calcium. J Orthop Res, 20, 947-52.
- ARRUDA, E., RODRIGUES, N., TACIRO, C. & PARIZOTTO, N. (2007). Influences of different Low Level Laser Therapy wavelengths in Rat Tendon regeneration after Tenotomy. *Rev. bras. fisioter.*, 11, 247-252.
- BABRAJ, J. A., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., SMITH, K., LANGBERG, H., MILLER, B., KROGSGAARD, M. R., KJAER, M. & RENNIE, M. J. (2005). Collagen synthesis in human musculoskeletal tissues and skin. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 289, E864-9.
- BARUN, V. V. & IVANOV, A. P. (2003). Thermal action of a short light pulse on biological tissues. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer, 46, 3243-3254.
- BASFORD, J. R. (1995). Low intensity laser therapy: still not an established clinical tool. Lasers Surg Med, 16, 331-42.
- BASHFORD, G. R., TOMSEN, N., ARYA, S., BURNFIELD, J. M. & KULIG, K. (2008). Tendinopathy discrimination by use of spatial frequency parameters in ultrasound B-mode images. *IEEE Trans Med Imaging*, 27, 608-15.
- BASHKATOV, A. N., GENINA, E. A., KOCHUBEY, V. I. & TUCHIN, V. V. (2005). Optical properties of human skin, subcutaneous and mucous tissues in the wavelength range from 400 to 2000 nm. *Journal of Physics D-Applied Physics*, 38, 2543-2555.
- BASHKATOV, A. N., GENINA, E. A. & TUCHIN, V. V. (2011). Optical properties of skin, subcutaneous, and muscle tissues: A review. Journal of Innovative Optical Helath Sciences, 4, 9-38.
- BEEK, J. F., BLOKLAND, P., POSTHUMUS, P., AALDERS, M., PICKERING, J. W., STERENBORG, H. J. C. M. & VANGEMERT, M. J. C. (1997). In vitro double-integrating-sphere optical properties of tissues between 630 and 1064 nm. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, 42, 2255-2261.
- BIBIKOVA, A. & ORON, U. (1993). Promotion of muscle regeneration in the toad (Bufo viridis) gastrocnemius muscle by lowenergy laser irradiation. Anat Rec, 235, 374-80.
- BJORDAL, J., DEMMINK, J. & LJUNGGREN, A. (2003a). Tendon thickness and depth. An ultrasonography study on healthy subjects. *Physiotherapy*, 89, 375-383.
- BJORDAL, J. M., COUPPE, C., CHOW, R. T., TUNER, J. & LJUNGGREN, E. A. (2003b). A systematic review of low level laser therapy with location-specific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders. *Aust J Physiother*, 49, 107-16.
- BJORDAL, J. M., JOHNSON, M. I., IVERSEN, V., AIMBIRE, F. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. (2006a). Photoradiation in acute pain: a systematic review of possible mechanisms of action and clinical effects in randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 24, 158-68.

- BJORDAL, J. M., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. & IVERSEN, V. V. (2006b). A randomised, placebo controlled trial of low level laser therapy for activated Achilles tendinitis with microdialysis measurement of peritendinous prostaglandin E2 concentrations. Br J Sports Med, 40, 76-80.
- BJORDAL, J. M., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. B., JOENSEN, J., COUPPE, C., LJUNGGREN, A. E., STERGIOULAS, A. & JOHNSON, M. I. (2008). A systematic review with procedural assessments and meta-analysis of Low Level Laser Therapy in lateral elbow tendinopathy (tennis elbow). *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, 9:75.
- BMJ. (1929). Chartered Society of Massage and Medical Gymnastics. Br Med J [Online], 26. Available: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2452043/</u> [Accessed date 08.Feb.2013].
- BOESEN, M. I., KOENIG, M. J., TORP-PEDERSEN, S., BLIDDAL, H. & LANGBERG, H. (2006). Tendinopathy and Doppler activity: the vascular response of the achilles tendon to exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports,* 16, 463-469.
- BORTONE, F., SANTOS, H. A., ALBERTINI, R., PESQUERO, J. B., COSTA, M. S. & SILVA, J. A., JR. (2008). Low level laser therapy modulates kinin receptors mRNA expression in the subplantar muscle of rat paw subjected to carrageenaninduced inflammation. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 8, 206-10.
- BOUMA, M. G., BUURMAN, W. A. & VAN DEN WILDENBERG, F. A. (1996). Low energy laser irradiation fails to modulate the inflammatory function of human monocytes and endothelial cells. *Lasers Surg Med*, 19, 207-15.
- BOUSHEL, R., LANGBERG, H., GREEN, S., SKOVGAARD, D., BULOW, J. & KJAER, M. (2000). Blood flow and oxygenation in peritendinous tissue and calf muscle during dynamic exercise in humans. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 524, 305-313.
- BRENN, D., RICHTER, F. & SCHAIBLE, H. G. (2007). Sensitization of unmyelinated sensory fibers of the joint nerve to mechanical stimuli by interleukin-6 in the rat: an inflammatory mechanism of joint pain. Arthritis Rheum, 56, 351-9.
- BRENNER, M. & HEARING, V. J. (2008). The protective role of melanin against UV damage in human skin. *Photochem Photobiol*, 84, 539-49.
- BRONAUGH, R. L., STEWART, R. F. & CONGDON, E. R. (1983). Differences in Permeability of Rat Skin Related to Sex and Body Site. Journal of the Society of Cosmetic Chemists, 34, 127-135.
- BURY, T. J. (1998). Evidence-based Healthcare. A Practical Guide for Therapists, in Ed., BURY, T. J. & MEAD, J. M. (eds.). Oxford: Butterworth Heinemann. ISBN: 0 7506 3783 8
- CARNEY, S. A., LAWRENCE, J. C. & RICKETTS, C. R. (1967). The effect of light from a ruby laser on the metabolism of skin in tissue culture. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 148, 525-30.
- CARPENTER, J. E., FLANAGAN, C. L., THOMOPOULOS, S., YIAN, E. H. & SOSLOWSKY, L. J. (1998). The effects of overuse combined with intrinsic or extrinsic alterations in an animal model of rotator cuff tendinosis. *Am J Sports Med*, 26, 801-7.
- CARRINHO, P. M., RENNO, A. C., KOEKE, P., SALATE, A. C., PARIZOTTO, N. A. & VIDAL, B. C. (2006). Comparative study using 685-nm and 830-nm lasers in the tissue repair of tenotomized tendons in the mouse. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 24, 754-8.
- CASTANO, A. P., DAI, T., YAROSLAVSKY, I., COHEN, R., APRUZZESE, W. A., SMOTRICH, M. H. & HAMBLIN, M. R. (2007). Lowlevel laser therapy for zymosan-induced arthritis in rats: Importance of illumination time. *Lasers Surg Med*, 39, 543-50.
- CHAN, H. K., FUNG, D. T. & NG, G. Y. (2007). Effects of low-voltage microamperage stimulation on tendon healing in rats. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 37, 399-403.
- CHEN, A. C. H., ARANY, P. R., HUANG, Y. Y., TOMKINSON, E. M., SHARMA, S. K., KHARKWAL, G. B., SALEEM, T., MOONEY, D., YULL, F. E., BLACKWELL, T. S. & HAMBLIN, M. R. (2011). Low-Level Laser Therapy Activates NF-kB via Generation of Reactive Oxygen Species in Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts. *PLoS One*, 6, e22453.
- CHOW, R. T., DAVID, M. A. & ARMATI, P. J. (2007). 830 nm laser irradiation induces varicosity formation, reduces mitochondrial membrane potential and blocks fast axonal flow in small and medium diameter rat dorsal root ganglion neurons: implications for the analgesic effects of 830 nm laser. J Peripher Nerv Syst, 12, 28-39.
- CHOW, R. T., HELLER, G. Z. & BARNSLEY, L. (2006). The effect of 300 mW, 830 nm laser on chronic neck pain: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Pain*, 124, 201-10.
- CHOW, R. T., JOHNSON, M. I., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. & BJORDAL, J. M. (2009). Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in the management of neck pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo or active-treatment controlled trials. *Lancet*, 374, 1897-908.
- COLLINS, K. (1996). Thermal Effects, in Clayton's Electrotherapy 10E 10th. Ed., KITCHEN, S. & BAZIN, S. (eds.). London: WB Saunders Company Ltd. ISBN: 0-7020-1762-0
- COMPTON, A. H. (1927). X-rays as a branch of optics [Online]. Available:

http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1927/compton-lecture.pdf [Accessed date 16.Oct. 2012].

- COOK, J. & KHAN, K. (2007). Etiology of Tendinopathy, Chap.2 in Tendinopathy in Athletes, in Ed., WOO, S. R., PER. ARNOCZKY, STEVEN. (eds.). Blackwell. ISBN: 978-1-4051-5670-7
- COOK, J. L., KHAN, K. M. & PURDAM, C. (2002). Achilles tendinopathy. Man Ther, 7, 121-30.
- CORONADO, R. A., RIDDLE, D. L., WURTZEL, W. A. & GEORGE, S. Z. (2011). Bibliometric Analysis of Articles Published from 1980 to 2009 in Physical Therapy, Journal of the American Physical Therapy Association. *Physical Therapy*, 91, 642-655.

- CORREA, F., LOPES MARTINS, R. A., CORREA, J. C., IVERSEN, V. V., JOENSON, J. & BJORDAL, J. M. (2007). Low-level laser therapy (GaAs lambda = 904 nm) reduces inflammatory cell migration in mice with lipopolysaccharide-induced peritonitis. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 25, 245-9.
- COSTIN, G. E. & HEARING, V. J. (2007). Human skin pigmentation: melanocytes modulate skin color in response to stress. *FASEB J*, 21, 976-94.
- COUPPE, C., HANSEN, P., KONGSGAARD, M., KOVANEN, V., SUETTA, C., AAGAARD, P., KJAER, M. & MAGNUSSON, S. P. (2009). Mechanical properties and collagen cross-linking of the patellar tendon in old and young men. J Appl Physiol, 107, 880-6.
- CRUZ-COLON, E., SAMRMIWNTO, J., WASSHBURN, M. J. & SABOURIN, T. J. (2006). Advantages of CrossXBeam and SRI-HD imaging technology for the diagnosis of acute conditions fo the abdomen [Online]. GE Healthcare. Available: <u>http://www.penta-med.com.tr/download/penta-med_vayinlar_26072011/CrossXBeam-eng.pdf</u> [Accessed date 06.Feb. 2013].
- CSP. (2006). *The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy, UK* [Online]. London: The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy. Available: <u>http://www.csp.org.uk/director/members/practice/rulesandstandards/scopepractice.cfm</u> [Accessed date 10.Jan. 2011].
- DE CURTIS, M., CALZOLARI, F., MARCIANO, A., CARDILLI, V. & BARBA, G. (2008). Comparison between rectal and infrared skin temperature in the newborn. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed*, 93, F55-7.
- DE SOUZA, T. O. F., MESQUITA, D. A., FERRARI, R. A. M., PINTO, D. D., CORREA, L., BUSSADORI, S. K., FERNANDES, K. P. S. & MARTINS, M. D. (2011). Phototherapy with low-level laser affects the remodeling of types I and III collagen in skeletal muscle repair. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 26, 803-814.
- DEFRIN, R., OHRY, A., BLUMEN, N. & URCA, G. (2002). Sensory determinants of thermal pain. Brain, 125, 501-10.
- DEMIR, H., MENKU, P., KIRNAP, M., CALIS, M. & IKIZCELI, I. (2004). Comparison of the effects of laser, ultrasound, and combined laser + ultrasound treatments in experimental tendon healing. *Lasers Surg Med*, 35, 84-9.
- DEVOR, M. (1990). What's in a laser beam for pain therapy? Pain, 43, 139.
- DIMMEN, S., ENGEBRETSEN, L., NORDSLETTEN, L. & MADSEN, J. E. (2009). Negative effects of parecoxib and indomethacin on tendon healing: an experimental study in rats. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*, 17, 835-9.
- DOMHOLDT, E. (2005). Rehabilitation Research. Principles and Applications, Third Ed. St.Louis, Elsevier Saunders. ISBN: 978-0-7216-0029-1
- DOUGHERTY, T. J., GOMER, C. J., HENDERSON, B. W., JORI, G., KESSEL, D., KORBELIK, M., MOAN, J. & PENG, Q. (1998). Photodynamic therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst, 90, 889-905.
- EKSPONG, G. (1999). The Dual Nature of Light as Reflected in the Nobel Archives [Online]. Nobelprize.org: The Official Web Site of the Nobel Prize. Available: <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/articles/ekspong/</u> [Accessed date 31. March 2012].
- EL SAYED, S. O. & DYSON, M. (1990). Comparison of the effect of multi-wavelength light produced by a cluster of semiconductor diodes and of each individual diode on mast cell number and degranulation in intact and injured skin. Lasers in surgery and medicine, 10, 559-68.
- ELWAKIL, T. F. (2006). An in-vivo experimental evaluation of He-Ne laser photostimulation in healing Achilles tendons. Lasers Med Sci, 22, 53-59.
- ENWEMEKA, C. S. (2001). Attenuation and penetration depth of red 632.8 nm and invisible infrared 904 nm light in soft tissues. *Laser Therapy*, 13, 95-101.
- ESNOUF, A., WRIGHT, P. A., MOORE, J. C. & AHMED, S. (2007). Depth of penetration of an 850nm wavelength low level laser in human skin. Acupunct Electrother Res, 32, 81-6.
- FARAGE, M. A., MILLER, K. W., ELSNER, P. & MAIBACH, H. I. (2007). Structural characteristics of the aging skin: a review. *Cutan Ocul Toxicol*, 26, 343-57.
- FILLIPIN, L. I., MAURIZ, J. L., VEDOVELLI, K., MOREIRA, A. J., ZETTLER, C. G., LECH, O., MARRONI, N. P. & GONZALEZ-GALLEGO, J. (2005). Low-level laser therapy (LLLT) prevents oxidative stress and reduces fibrosis in rat traumatized Achilles tendon. *Lasers Surg Med*, 37, 293-300.
- FORSLUND, C. & ASPENBERG, P. (2001). Tendon healing stimulated by injected CDMP-2. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 33, 685-7.
- FORSLUND, C., BYLANDER, B. & ASPENBERG, P. (2003). Indomethacin and celecoxib improve tendon healing in rats. Acta Orthop Scand, 74, 465-9.
- FRIGO, L., FAVERO, G. M., LIMA, H. J., MARIA, D. A., BJORDAL, J. M., JOENSEN, J., IVERSEN, V. V., MARCOS, R. L., PARIZZOTO, N. A. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. (2010). Low-level laser irradiation (InGaAIP-660 nm) increases fibroblast cell proliferation and reduces cell death in a dose-dependent manner. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 28 Suppl 1, S151-6.
- GARAU, G., RITTWEGER, J., MALLARIAS, P., LONGO, U. G. & MAFFULLI, N. (2008). Traumatic patellar tendinopathy. *Disability* and Rehabilitation, 30, 1616-1620.
- GE. (2011). GE Healthcare Logiq e Transducer Guide [Online]. General Electric Company. Available: <u>http://www3.gehealthcare.com/en/Products/Categories/Ultrasound/~/media/Downloads/us/Product/Product-Categories/Ultrasound/Transducers/GEHealthcareLOGIQ-E-Transducer-Guide.pdf</u> [Accessed date 9.Feb. 2013].
- GEORGAKOUDI, I., NICHOLS, M. G. & FOSTER, T. H. (1997). The mechanism of Photofrin photobleaching and its consequences for photodynamic dosimetry. *Photochem Photobiol*, 65, 135-44.
- GERRIETS, J. E., CURWIN, S. L. & LAST, J. A. (1993). Tendon hypertrophy is associated with increased hydroxylation of nonhelical lysine residues at two specific cross-linking sites in type I collagen. J Biol Chem, 268, 25553-60.

- GERSTEN, J. W., WAKIM, K. G., STOW, R. W. & KRUSEN, F. H. (1949). A comparative study of the heating of tissues by near and far infrared radiation. Arch Phys Med Rehab, 30, 691-9.
- GIACOMONI, P. U. (1995). Open questions in photobiology III. Melanin and photoprotection. J Photochem Photobiol B, 29, 87-9.
- GOLD, J. E., CHERNIACK, M. & BUCHHOLZ, B. (2004). Infrared thermography for examination of skin temperature in the dorsal hand of office workers. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 93, 245-51.
- GOLDMAN, L., BLANEY, D. J., KINDEL, D. J., JR. & FRANKE, E. K. (1963). Effect of the laser beam on the skin. Preliminary report. J Invest Dermatol, 40, 121-2.
- GOLDMAN, L., ROCKWELL, R. J., JR., MEYER, R. & OTTEN, R. (1968). Investigative studies with the laser in the treatment of basal cell epitheliomas. *South Med J*, 61, 735-42.
- GOPUBMED. (2013). *GoPubMed* [Online]. GoPubMed.com: Transinsight GmbH. Available: <u>http://gopubmed.com/web/gopubmed/16?WEB01087ugk4fontki3l1l00h001000d10020000011000&rl</u> [Accessed date 04.April 2013].
- GUINOT, C., MALVY, D. J., LATREILLE, J., EZZEDINE, K., GALAN, P., TENENHAUS, M., AMBROISINE, L., HERCBERG, S. & TSCHACHLER, E. (2005). Sun-reactive Skin Type in 4912 French adults participating in the SU.VI.MAX study. *Photochem Photobiol*, 81, 934-40.
- GUR, A., COSUT, A., SARAC, A. J., CEVIK, R., NAS, K. & UYAR, A. (2003). Efficacy of different therapy regimes of low-power laser in painful osteoarthritis of the knee: a double-blind and randomized-controlled trial. *Lasers Surg Med*, 33, 330-8.
- GUR, A., KARAKOC, M., NAS, K., CEVIK, R., SARAC, J. & DEMIR, E. (2002). Efficacy of low power laser therapy in fibromyalgia: a single-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lasers Med Sci*, 17, 57-61.
- GUR, A., SARAC, A. J., CEVIK, R., ALTINDAG, O. & SARAC, S. (2004). Efficacy of 904 nm gallium arsenide low level laser therapy in the management of chronic myofascial pain in the neck: A double-blind and randomize-controlled trial. *Lasers Surg Med*, 35, 229-235.
- GUYTON, A. C. & HALL, J. E. (2006). *Textbook of Medical Physiology, eleventh.* Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Elsevier Saunders. ISBN: 0-8089-2317-X
- HARTGERINK, P., FESSELL, D. P., JACOBSON, J. A. & VAN HOLSBEECK, M. T. (2001). Full- versus partial-thickness Achilles tendon tears: sonographic accuracy and characterization in 26 cases with surgical correlation. *Radiology*, 220, 406-12.
- HEGEDUS, B., VIHAROS, L., GERVAIN, M. & GALFI, M. (2009). The Effect of Low-Level Laser in Knee Osteoarthritis: A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Photomedicine and Laser Surgery*, 27, 577-584.
- HERBERT, R., JAMTVEDT, G., MEAD, J. & HAGEN, K. B. (2005). Practical Evidence-Based Physiotherapy, Edinburgh, Elsevier. ISBN: 0 7506 8820 3
- HOLBROOK, K. A., VOGEL, A. M., UNDERWOOD, R. A. & FOSTER, C. A. (1988). Melanocytes in Human Embryonic and Fetal Skin: A Review and New Findings. *Pigment Cell Research*, 1, 6-17.
- HONMURA, A., YANASE, M., OBATA, J. & HARUKI, E. (1992). Therapeutic effect of Ga-Al-As diode laser irradiation on experimentally induced inflammation in rats. *Lasers Surg Med*, 12, 441-9.
- HOWELL, K. J., LAVORATO, A., VISENTIN, M. T., SMITH, R. E., SCHAEFER, G., JONES, C. D., WEIBEL, L., DENTON, C. P., HARPER, J. I. & WOO, P. (2009). Validation of a protocol for the assessment of skin temperature and blood flow in childhood localised scleroderma. *Skin Res Technol*, 15, 346-56.
- HUMMELSUND, S. (2008). A study of the reliability of ultrasound imaging in the estimation of the cross-sectional area of the median nerve in the carpal tunnel. Master Thesis, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, Bergen University.
- IEC. (2007). IEC 60825-1 Safety of laser products. *Part 1: Equipment classification and requirements* [Online]. Available: http://webstore.iec.ch/webstore/webstore.nsf/artnum/037864 [Accessed date 03.Oct. 2012].
- IGARASHI, T., NISHINO, K. & NAYAR, S. K. (2005). The Appearance of Human Skin [Online]. New York: Columbia University. Available: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.87.5961&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [Accessed date 05.Nov. 2011].
- INGEBRIGTSEN, S. (2012). Is ultrasound imaging a reliable method to use when measuring cross cestion tendon thickness of the supraspinatus and biceps tendon longus in persons with and without shoulder pain? Master Thesis, Department of Health and Social Sciences, Bergen University College.
- JACQUES, S. (2001). Optical Absorption of Melanin [Online]. Oregon Medical Laser Center: OMLC. Available: http://omlc.ogi.edu/spectra/melanin/index.html [Accessed date 26.Nov. 2012].
- JANG, H. & LEE, H. (2012). Meta-Analysis of Pain Relief Effects by Laser Irradiation on Joint Areas. Photomedicine and Laser Surgery, 30, 405-417.
- JARVINEN, M., JOZSA, L., KANNUS, P., JARVINEN, T. L., KVIST, M. & LEADBETTER, W. (1997). Histopathological findings in chronic tendon disorders. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 7, 86-95.
- JIANG, L. J., NG, E. Y., YEO, A. C., WU, S., PAN, F., YAU, W. Y., CHEN, J. H. & YANG, Y. (2005). A perspective on medical infrared imaging. *Journal of medical engineering & technology*, 29, 257-67.
- JOVICIC, M., KONSTANTINOVIC, L., LAZOVIC, M. & JOVICIC, V. (2012). Clinical and functional evaluation of patients with acute low back pain and radiculopathy treated with different energy doses of low level laser therapy. *Vojnosanit Pregl*, 69, 656-62.
- JOZSA, L. & KANNUS, P. (1997). Histopathological findings in spontaneous tendon ruptures. Scand J Med Sci Sports, 7, 113-8.
- JOZSA, L., REFFY, A., KANNUS, P., DEMEL, S. & ELEK, E. (1990). Pathological alterations in human tendons. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, 110, 15-21.
- KAIDBEY, K. H., AGIN, P. P., SAYRE, R. M. & KLIGMAN, A. M. (1979). Photoprotection by melanin--a comparison of black and Caucasian skin. J Am Acad Dermatol, 1, 249-60.
- KAMEL, M., EID, H. & MANSOUR, R. (2004). Ultrasound detection of knee patellar enthesitis: a comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 63, 213-4.
- KANITAKIS, J. (2002). Anatomy, histology and immunohistochemistry of normal human skin. Eur J Dermatol, 12, 390-9.

KANNUS, P. (2000). Structure of the tendon connective tissue. Scand J Med Sci Sports, 10, 312-20.

- KARLSSON, E. B. (2000). The Nobel Prize in Physics 1901-2000 [Online]. Nobel Media AB 2012. Available: <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/articles/karlsson/index.html</u> [Accessed date 30.May 2012].
- KARU, T. (1999). Primary and secondary mechanisms of action of visible to near-IR radiation on cells. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B-Biology. 49, 1-17.
- KARU, T. (2007). Ten Lectures on Basic Science of Laser Phototherapy, Grängesberg, Sweden, Prima Books. <u>www.prima-</u> books.com, ISBN: 978-91-976478-0-9
- KARU, T. I. (2008). Mitochondrial signaling in mammalian cells activated by red and near-IR radiation. *Photochem Photobiol*, 84, 1091-9.
- KARU, T. I., KALENDO, G. S., LOBKO, V. V. & PIATIBRAT, L. V. (1984). [Growth kinetics of HeLa tumor cells during subculturing after irradiation with low-intensity red light in the stationary growth phase]. *Eksp Onkol*, 6, 60-2.
- KARU, T. I., PYATIBRAT, L. V. & AFANASYEVA, N. I. (2005). Cellular effects of low power laser therapy can be mediated by nitric oxide. *Lasers Surg Med*, 36, 307-14.
- KARU, T. I., PYATIBRAT, L. V. & KALENDO, G. S. (2004). Photobiological modulation of cell attachment via cytochrome c oxidase. *Photochem Photobiol Sci*, 3, 211-6.
- KARU, T. I., PYATIBRAT, L. V., KOLYAKOV, S. F. & AFANASYEVA, N. I. (2008). Absorption measurements of cell monolayers relevant to mechanisms of laser phototherapy: reduction or oxidation of cytochrome c oxidase under laser radiation at 632.8 nm. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 26, 593-9.
- KAWASAKI, Y., ZHANG, L., CHENG, J. K. & JI, R. R. (2008). Cytokine mechanisms of central sensitization: distinct and overlapping role of interleukin-1beta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in regulating synaptic and neuronal activity in the superficial spinal cord. J Neurosci, 28, 5189-94.
- KERIMO, J., RAJADHYAKSHA, M. & DIMARZIO, C. A. (2011). Enhanced melanin fluorescence by stepwise three-photon excitation. *Photochem Photobiol*, 87, 1042-9.
- KHAN, K. M., COOK, J. L., BONAR, F., HARCOURT, P. & ASTROM, M. (1999). Histopathology of common tendinopathies. Update and implications for clinical management. *Sports Med*, 27, 393-408.
- KHAN, K. M., FORSTER, B. B., ROBINSON, J., CHEONG, Y., LOUIS, L., MACLEAN, L. & TAUNTON, J. E. (2003). Are ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging of value in assessment of Achilles tendon disorders? A two year prospective study. Br J Sports Med, 37, 149-53.
- KHAN, K. M. & MAFFULLI, N. (1998). Tendinopathy: an Achilles' heel for athletes and clinicians. *Clin J Sport Med*, 8, 151-4.
- KILKELLY, F. X., CHOMA, T. J., POPOVIC, N., MILLER, D. W. & SWEET, D. E. (1996). Tendon repair by laser welding: a histologic
- and biomechanical comparison and suture repair with CO2 and argon lasers. *Lasers Surg Med*, 19, 487-91. KINDT, T. J., GOLDBY, R. A. & OSBORNE, B. A. (2007). *Kuby Immunology*, New York, W.H. Freeman amd Company. www.whfreeman.com, ISBN: 978-1-4292-0211-4
- KITCHEN, S. & YOUNG, S. R. (2008). Tissue repair (Chap.4), in Electrotherapy. Evidence-Based Practice Twelfth. Ed., WATSON, T. (eds.). Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier. ISBN: 978-0-443-10179-3
- KJAER, M. (2004). Role of extracellular matrix in adaptation of tendon and skeletal muscle to mechanical loading. *Physiol Rev*, 84, 649-98.
- KOHN, R. R. & ROLLERSON, E. J. (1959). Studies on the effect of heat and age in decreasing ability of human collagen to swell in acid. *J Gerontol*, 14, 11-5.
- KOLARI, P. J. & AIRAKSINEN, O. (1993). Poor penetration of infra-red and helium neon low power laser light into the dermal tissue. Acupunct Electrother Res, 18, 17-21.
- KOLAROVA, H., DITRICHOVA, D. & WAGNER, J. (1999). Penetration of the laser light into the skin in vitro. *Lasers Surg Med*, 24, 231-5.
- KOLLIAS, N. (1995). The physical basis of skin color and its evaluation. Clin Dermatol, 13, 361-7.
- KONGSGAARD, M., AAGAARD, P., KJAER, M. & MAGNUSSON, S. P. (2005). Structural Achilles tendon properties in athletes subjected to different exercise modes and in Achilles tendon rupture patients. *J Appl Physiol*, 99, 1965-71.
- KONSTANTINOVIC, L. M., CUTOVIC, M. R., MILOVANOVIC, A. N., JOVIC, S. J., DRAGIN, A. S., LETIC, M. & MILER, V. M. (2010). Low-level laser therapy for acute neck pain with radiculopathy: a double-blind placebo-controlled randomized study. *Pain Med*, 11, 1169-78.
- KOOB, T. J. (2002). Biomimetic approaches to tendon repair. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular and Integrative Physiology, 133, 1171-1192.
- KOSKI, J. M., SAARAKKALA, S., HELLE, M., HAKULINEN, U., O HEIKKINEN, J., HERMUNEN, H., BALINT, P., BRUYN, G. A., FILIPPUCCI, E., GRASSI, W., IAGNOCCO, A., LUOSUJARVI, R., MANGER, B., DE MIGUEL, E., NAREDO, E., SCHEEL, A.
 K., SCHMIDT, W. A., SOINI, I., SZKUDLAREK, M., TERSLEV, L., USON, J., VUORISTO, S. & ZISWILER, H. R. (2006). Assessing the intra- and inter-reader reliability of dynamic ultrasound images in power Doppler ultrasonography. Ann Rheum Dis, 65, 1658-1660.

KYAW, M., YOSHIZUMI, M., TSUCHIYA, K., KIRIMA, K. & TAMAKI, T. (2001). Antioxidants inhibit JNK and p38 MAPK activation but not ERK 1/2 activation by angiotensin II in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *Hypertens Res*, 24, 251-61.

LAKE, S. P., ANSORGE, H. L. & SOSLOWSKY, L. J. (2008). Animal models of tendinopathy. Disabil Rehabil, 30, 1530-41.

LAMB, D. W., KALTENBORN, F. M. & PARIS, S. V. (2003). History of IFOMT. *Journal of Manual and Manipulative Therapy*, 11 (2), 73-76.

LANG, J. (1960). [On the sheath of tendons, muscles, fascia and blood vessels]. Z Anat Entwicklungsgesch, 122, 197-231.

LANG, J. (1963). [Concerning the Blood Vessels of the Synovial Sheath]. Acta Anat (Basel). 54, 273-309.

LANGBERG, H., BJORN, C., BOUSHEL, R., HELLSTEN, Y. & KJAER, M. (2002). Exercise-induced increase in interstitial bradykinin and adenosine concentrations in skeletal muscle and peritendinous tissue in humans. J Physiol, 542,

- 977-83. LANGBERG, H., BULOW, J. & KJAER, M. (1998). Blood flow in the peritendinous space of the human Achilles tendon during
- LANGBERG, H., BULOW, J. & KJAER, M. (1998). Blood flow in the peritendinous space of the human Achilles tendon during exercise. Acta Physiol Scand, 163, 149-53.
- LANGBERG, H., SKOVGAARD, D., KARAMOUZIS, M., BULOW, J. & KJAER, M. (1999). Metabolism and inflammatory mediators in the peritendinous space measured by microdialysis during intermittent isometric exercise in humans. *J Physiol*, 515, 919-27.
- LAVAGNINO, M., GARDNER, K. & ARNOCZKY, S. P. (2013). Age-Related Changes in the Cellular, Mechanical, and Contractile Properties of Rat Tail Tendons. *Connective Tissue Research*, 54, 70-75.
- LEAL JUNIOR, E. C., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A., DE ALMEIDA, P., RAMOS, L., IVERSEN, V. V. & BJORDAL, J. M. (2010). Effect of low-level laser therapy (GaAs 904 nm) in skeletal muscle fatigue and biochemical markers of muscle damage in rats. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 108, 1083-8.
- LEHMANN, J. F. (1953). The biophysical basis of biologic ultrasonic reactions with special reference to ultrasonic therapy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 34 (3), 139-152.
- LEVEQUE, J. L., CORCUFF, P., DE RIGAL, J. & AGACHE, P. (1984). In vivo studies of the evolution of physical properties of the human skin with age. Int J Dermatol, 23, 322-9.
- LIN, T. W., CARDENAS, L. & SOSLOWSKY, L. J. (2004). Biomechanics of tendon injury and repair. Journal of Biomechanics, 37, 865-877.
- LOEVSCHALL, H. & ARENHOLT-BINDSLEV, D. (1994). Effect of low level diode laser irradiation of human oral mucosa fibroblasts in vitro. *Lasers Surg Med*, 14, 347-54.
- LONGO, U. G., RONGA, M. & MAFFULLI, N. (2009). Achilles tendinopathy. Sports Med Arthrosc, 17, 112-26.
- LUI, P. P. Y., MAFFULLI, N., ROLF, C. & SMITH, R. K. W. (2011). What are the validated animal models for tendinopathy? Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 21, 3-17.
- MACKENNA, D. A., DOLFI, F., VUORI, K. & RUOSLAHTI, E. (1998). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase and c-Jun NH2terminal kinase activation by mechanical stretch is integrin-dependent and matrix-specific in rat cardiac fibroblasts. J Clin Invest, 101, 301-10.
- MAFFULLI, N., WONG, J. & ALMEKINDERS, L. C. (2003). Types and epidemiology of tendinopathy. *Clin Sports Med*, 22, 675-92.
- MAGANARIS, C. N., NARICI, M. V., ALMEKINDERS, L. C. & MAFFULLI, N. (2004). Biomechanics and pathophysiology of overuse tendon injuries: ideas on insertional tendinopathy. *Sports Med*, 34, 1005-17.
- MAIMAN, T. H. (1960). Optical and Microwave-Optical Experiments in Ruby. Physical Review Letters, 4, 564-566.
- MARCOS, R. L., LEAL, E. C. P., ARNOLD, G., MAGNENET, V., RAHOUADJ, R., WANG, X., DEMEURIE, F., MAGDALOU, J., DE CARVALHO, M. H. C. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. B. (2012). Low-level laser therapy in collagenase-induced Achilles tendinitis in rats: Analyses of biochemical and biomechanical aspects. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 30, 1945-1951.
- MARCOS, R. L., LEAL, E. C. P., MESSIAS, F. D., DE CARVALHO, M. H. C., PALLOTTA, R. C., FRIGO, L., DOS SANTOS, R. A., RAMOS, L., TEIXEIRA, S., BJORDAL, J. M. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. B. (2011). Infrared (810 nm) Low-level Laser Therapy in Rat Achilles Tendinitis: A Consistent Alternative to Drugs. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 87, 1447-1452.
- MARTINI, G., MURRAY, K. J., HOWELL, K. J., HARPER, J., ATHERTON, D., WOO, P., ZULIAN, F. & BLACK, C. M. (2002). Juvenileonset localized scleroderma activity detection by infrared thermography. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 41, 1178-82.
- MAXWELL, J. C. (1864). A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field [Online]. Wikimedia.org. Available: <u>http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field.pdf</u> [Accessed date 31.May 2012].
- MCAULEY, D. (2003). Clinical Researchs. A user guide to researching, analyzing and publishing clinical data, in The Key Topics series Ed., GAO SMITH, F. & SMITH, J. E. (eds.). Manchester, UK: BIOS Scientific Publishers Limited. ISBN: 1 85996 028 6
- MESQUITA-FERRARI, R. A., MARTINS, M. D., SILVA, J. A., DA SILVA, T. D., PIOVESAN, R. F., PAVESI, V. C. S., BUSSADORI, S. K. & FERNANDES, K. P. S. (2011). Effects of low-level laser therapy on expression of TNF-alpha and TGF-beta in skeletal muscle during the repair process. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 26, 335-340.
- MESTER, E., JUHASZ, J., VARGA, P. & KARIKA, G. (1968a). Lasers in clinical practice. Acta Chir Acad Sci Hung, 9, 349-57.
- MESTER, E., SZENDE, B. & GARTNER, P. (1968b). [The effect of laser beams on the growth of hair in mice]. Radiobiol Radiother (Berl), 9, 621-6.

MILLER, B. E., OLESEN, J. L., HANSEN, M., DOSSING, S., CRAMERI, R. M., WELLING, R. J., LANGBERG, H., FLYVBJERG, A., KJAER, M., BABRAJ, J. A., SMITH, K. & RENNIE, M. J. (2005). Coordinated collagen and muscle protein synthesis in human patella tendon and guadriceps muscle after exercise. *Journal of Physiology-London*, 567, 1021-1033.

MILLIKAN, R. A. (1913). On the Elementary Electrical Charge and the Avogadro Constant. The Physical Review. A Journal of Experimental and Theoretical Physics, II, 109-143.

MILLINGTON, P. F. & WILKINSON, R. (2009). *Skin. Biological structure and function 9, 1st Reissue edition.* Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press. <u>www.cambridge.org/9780521106818</u>, ISBN: 978-0-521-10681-8

MOBLEY, J. & VO-DINH, T. (2003). Photinics and Tissue Optics. *Optical Properties of Tissue* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.scribd.com/doc/33698696/Properties-of-Tissue</u> [Accessed date 17.Dec. 2012].

MONTAGNA, W. & CARLISLE, K. (1979). Structural changes in aging human skin. J Invest Dermatol, 73, 47-53.

MORIYAMA, Y., MORIYAMA, E. H., BLACKMORE, K., AKENS, M. K. & LILGE, L. (2005). In vivo Study of the Inflammatory Modulating Effects of Low Level Laser Therapy on iNOS Expression Using Bioluminescence Imaging. *Photochem Photobiol*, 81, 1351-5.

MORIYAMA, Y., NGUYEN, J., AKENS, M., MORIYAMA, E. H. & LILGE, L. (2009). In vivo effects of low level laser therapy on inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Lasers Surg Med*, 41, 227-31.

MOSELEY, A. M., HERBERT, R. D., MAHER, C. G., SHERRINGTON, C. & ELKINS, M. R. (2011). Reported quality of randomized controlled trials of physiotherapy interventions has improved over time. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 64, 594-601.

- MOSELEY, A. M., HERBERT, R. D., SHERRINGTON, C. & MAHER, C. G. (2002). Evidence for physiotherapy practice: A survey of the Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro). *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, 48, 43-49.
- NATERSTAD, I. F. (2012). Intrarater reliability in cross-section measurment of the shoulder tendons by the aid of realtime ultrasonography. Master Thesis, Department of Health and Social Sciences, Bergen University College.
- NEDOSEKIN, D. A., GALANZHA, E. I., AYYADEVARA, S., SHMOOKLER REIS, R. J. & ZHAROV, V. P. (2012). Photothermal confocal spectromicroscopy of multiple cellular chromophores and fluorophores. *Biophys J*, 102, 672-81.

NG, G. Y. & FUNG, D. T. (2008). The combined treatment effects of therapeutic laser and exercise on tendon repair. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 26, 137-41.

NICOLOPOULOS, N., CAVADIAS, C., KARAMERIS, A., DYSON, M., TSOUROUKTSOGLOU, A. & KONDOYANNIS, P. (1996). The use of laser surgery in subtotal meniscectomy and teh effect of low-level laser therapy on the healing potential of rabbid meniscus: An experimental study. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 11, 109-115.

NOMURA, K., YAMAGUCHI, M. & ABIKO, Y. (2001). Inhibition of interleukin-1beta production and gene expression in human gingival fibroblasts by low-energy laser irradiation. *Lasers Med Sci*, 16, 218-23.

- NORDIN, M. & FRANKEL, V. H. (2001). Basic Biomechanics of the Musculoskeletal System, Baltimore, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. ISBN: 13-978-0-683-30247-9
- NUSSBAUM, E. L., VAN ZUYLEN, J. & BXTER, G. D. (1999). Specification of treatment dosages in Laser therapy: Unreliable equipment and radiant power determination as confounding factors. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 3, 159-167.
- NUSSBAUM, E. L., VAN ZUYLEN, J. & JING, F. (2007). Transmission of light through human skin folds during phototherapy: effects of physical characteristics, irradiation wavelength, and skin-diode coupling. *Physiotherapy Canada*, 59, 194-207.
- OLIVEIRA, F. S., PINFILDI, C. E., PARIZOTO, N. A., LIEBANO, R. E., BOSSINI, P. S., GARCIA, E. B. & FERREIRA, L. M. (2009). Effect of low level laser therapy (830 nm) with different therapy regimes on the process of tissue repair in partial lesion calcaneous tendon. *Lasers Surg Med*, 41, 271-6.
- OVALLE, W. K. & NAHIRNEY, P. C. (2008). Netter's Essential Histology, Philadelphia, Saunders Elsevier. ISBN: 978-1-929007-86-8

OZAWA, Y., SHIMIZU, N. & ABIKO, Y. (1997). Low-energy diode laser irradiation reduced plasminogen activator activity in human periodontal ligament cells. *Lasers in Surgery and Medicine*, 21, 456-463.

- OZKAN, N., ALTAN, L., BINGOL, U., AKLN, S. & YURTKURAN, M. (2004). Investigation of the supplementary effect of GaAs laser therapy on the rehabilitation of human digital flexor tendons. *J Clin Laser Med Surg*, 22, 105-10.
- PALLOTTA, R. C., BJORDAL, J. M., FRIGO, L., LEAL, E. C. P., TEIXEIRA, S., MARCOS, R. L., RAMOS, L., MESSIAS, F. D. & LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. B. (2012). Infrared (810-nm) low-level laser therapy on rat experimental knee inflammation. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 27, 71-78.
- PEDRO. (2013). PEDro Physiotherapy Evidence Database [Online]. pedro.org.au: Centre for Evidence-Based Physiotherapy. Available: <u>http://www.pedro.org.au/</u> [Accessed date 01.April 2013].

PERRY, S. M., MCILHENNY, S. E., HOFFMAN, M. C. & SOSLOWSKY, L. J. (2005). Inflammatory and angiogenic mRNA levels are altered in a supraspinatus tendon overuse animal model. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*, 14, 79S-83S.

- PIRES, D., XAVIER, M., ARAUJO, T., SILVA, J. A., JR., AIMBIRE, F. & ALBERTINI, R. (2011). Low-level laser therapy (LLLT; 780 nm) acts differently on mRNA expression of anti- and pro-inflammatory mediators in an experimental model of collagenase-induced tendinitis in rat. *Lasers Med Sci*, 26, 85-94.
- POHLMAN, R., RICHTER, R. & PAROW, E. (1939). Über die ausbreitung und absorption des ultraschalls im menschlichen gewebe und seine therapeutische wirkung an ischias und plexusneuralgie. *Deut Med Wochenschr*, **7**, 251-54.
- PRAHL, S. (1999). Optical Absorption of Hemoglobin [Online]. Oregon Medical Laser Center: OMLC. Available: http://omlc.ogi.edu/spectra/hemoglobin/index.html [Accessed date 26.Nov. 2012].
- PRICKETT, W. D., TEEFEY, S. A., GALATZ, L. M., CALFEE, R. P., MIDDLETON, W. D. & YAMAGUCHI, K. (2003). Accuracy of ultrasound imaging of the rotator cuff in shoulders that are painful postoperatively. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 85-A, 1084-9.

- REDDY, G. K., STEHNO-BITTEL, L. & ENWEMEKA, C. S. (1998). Laser photostimulation of collagen production in healing rabbit Achilles tendons. *Lasers in surgery and medicine*, 22, 281-7.
- REFSHAUGE, K., GASS, E., BIGG-WITHER, G., KELLY, P., LATIMER, J., BOGDUK, N. & MERCER, S. (1995). Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy. Clinical Science and Practice, in Ed., REFSHAUGE, K. & GASS, E. (eds.). Oxford: Butterworth Heinemann. ISBN: 0 7506 1746 2

REGAN THOMAS, J. (2005). Effects of Age and Diet on Rat Skin Histology. The Laryngoscope, 115, 405-411.

- RENNIE, G. A. & MICHLOVITZ, S. L. (1996). Biophysical Principles of Heating and Superficial Heating Agents (Chap.5), in Thermal Agents in Rehabilitation Third. Ed., MICHLOVITZ, S. L. (eds.). Philadelphia: F.A.Davis Company. ISBN: 0-8036-0044-5
- RILEY, G. P., HARRALL, R. L., CONSTANT, C. R., CHARD, M. D., CAWSTON, T. E. & HAZLEMAN, B. L. (1994). Tendon degeneration and chronic shoulder pain: changes in the collagen composition of the human rotator cuff tendons in rotator cuff tendinitis. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 53, 359-66.
- RING, E. F. J. (2006). The hsitorical development of thermometry and thermal imaging in medicine. *Journal of Midical Energineering & Technology*, 30, 192-198.
- RIVENBURGH, D. W. (1992). Physical modalities in the treatment of tendon injuries. Clin Sports Med, 11, 645-59.

RIZZI, C. F., MAURIZ, J. L., FREITAS CORREA, D. S., MOREIRA, A. J., ZETTLER, C. G., FILIPPIN, L. I., MARRONI, N. P. & GONZALEZ-GALLEGO, J. (2006). Effects of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) on the nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB signaling pathway in traumatized muscle. *Lasers Surg Med*, 38, 704-13.

- ROBERTSON, V., WARD, A., LOW, J. & REED, A. (2006). *Electrotherapy Explained. Principles and Practice, Fourth edition*. Edinbourgh, Butterworth Heinemann. ISBN: 978-0-7506-8843-7
- ROCHKIND, S. (1992). Increase in the rate of nerve fibers growth, sprouting and myelinization, thus acceleration and improvement in regeneration of the injured nerve and spinal cord. *Neurological Research*, 14, 2-11.
- ROGGAN, A., FRIEBEL, M., DORSCHEL, K., HAHN, A. & MULLER, G. (1999). Optical properties of circulating human blood in the wavelength range 400-2500 NM. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 4, 36-46.
- ROY, R., BOUCHER, J. P. & COMTOIS, A. S. (2006). Validity of infrared thermal measurements of segmental paraspinal skin surface temperature. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 29, 150-5.
- RUMIAN, A. P., WALLACE, A. L. & BIRCH, H. L. (2007). Tendons and ligaments are anatomically distinct but overlap in molecular and morphological features--a comparative study in an ovine model. J Orthop Res, 25, 458-64.
- SAKURAI, Y., YAMAGUCHI, M. & ABIKO, Y. (2000). Inhibitory effect of low-level laser irradiation on LPS-stimulated prostaglandin E2 production and cyclooxygenase-2 in human gingival fibroblasts. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 108, 29-34.
- SALATE, A. C., BARBOSA, G., GASPAR, P., KOEKE, P. U., PARIZOTTO, N. A., BENZE, B. G. & FOSCHIANI, D. (2005). Effect of In-Ga-AI-P diode laser irradiation on angiogenesis in partial ruptures of Achilles tendon in rats. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 23, 470-5.
- SCHAUBEL, H. J. (1946). The local use of ice after orthopedic procedures. Am J Surg, 72, 711-4.
- SEIN, M. L., WALTON, J., LINKLATER, J., HARRIS, C., DUGAL, T., APPLEYARD, R., KIRKBRIDE, B., KUAH, D. & MURRELL, G. A. (2007). Reliability of MRI assessment of supraspinatus tendinopathy. *Br J Sports Med*, 41, e9.
- SELCON, H. (2001). The first century of mechanical electrotherapy. Physiotherapy, 87 (4), 208-209.
- SHARMA, P. & MAFFULLI, N. (2005a). Current concepts review tendon injury and tendinopathy: Healing and repair. *Journal* of Bone and Joint Surgery-American Volume, 87A, 187-202.
- SHARMA, P. & MAFFULLI, N. (2005b). Tendon injury and tendinopathy: healing and repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 87, 187-202.
- SHARMA, P. & MAFFULLI, N. (2006). Biology of tendon injury: healing, modeling and remodeling. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact, 6, 181-90.
- SHARMA, R., THUKRAL, A., KUMAR, S. & BHARGAVA, S. K. (2002). Effect of low level lasers in de Quervains tenosynovitis. *Physiotherapy (UK)*, 88, 730-4.
- SHIMIZU, N., YAMAGUCHI, M., GOSEKI, T., SHIBATA, Y., TAKIGUCHI, H., IWASAWA, T. & ABIKO, Y. (1995). Inhibition of prostaglandin E2 and interleukin 1-beta production by low-power laser irradiation in stretched human periodontal ligament cells. J Dent Res, 74, 1382-8.
- SHUSTER, S., BLACK, M. M. & MCVITIE, E. (1975). The influence of age and sex on skin thickness, skin collagen and density. Br J Dermatol, 93, 639-43.
- SIEMENS. (2010). Ultrasound Transducer Catalog [Online]. Siemens AG. Available:

http://healthcare.siemens.com/ultrasound/ultrasound-transducer-catalog [Accessed date 9.Feb. 2013].

- SOSLOWSKY, L. J., THOMOPOULOS, S., ESMAIL, A., FLANAGAN, C. L., IANNOTTI, J. P., WILLIAMSON, J. D., 3RD & CARPENTER, J. E. (2002). Rotator cuff tendinosis in an animal model: role of extrinsic and overuse factors. *Ann Biomed Eng*, 30, 1057-63.
- SOSLOWSKY, L. J., THOMOPOULOS, S., TUN, S., FLANAGAN, C. L., KEEFER, C. C., MASTAW, J. & CARPENTER, J. E. (2000). Neer Award 1999. Overuse activity injures the supraspinatus tendon in an animal model: a histologic and biomechanical study. J Shoulder Elbow Surg, 9, 79-84.
- STERGIOULAS, A. (2003). Effects of a 904 nm GaAs laser versus placebo in the treatment of patellar tendonitis. Laser & Technology, 13, 21-23.
- STERGIOULAS, A. (2007). Effects of low-level laser and plyometric exercises in the treatment of lateral epicondylitis. *Photomedicine and laser surgery*, 25, 205-13.

STERGIOULAS, A., STERGIOULA, M., AARSKOG, R., LOPES-MARTINS, R. A. & BJORDAL, J. M. (2008). Effects of low-level laser therapy and eccentric exercises in the treatment of recreational athletes with chronic achilles tendinopathy. Am J Sports Med, 36, 881-7.

STOLIK, S., DELGADO, J. A., PEREZ, A. & ANASAGASTI, L. (2000). Measurement of the penetration depths of red and near infrared light in human "ex vivo" tissues. J Photochem Photobiol B, 57, 90-3.

STRATIGOS, A. J. & DOVER, J. S. (2000). Overwiev of lasers and their properties. Dermatologic Therapy, 13, 2-16.

- TAKEMA, T., YAMAGUCHI, M. & ABIKO, Y. (2000). Reduction of Plasminogen Activator Activity Stimulated by Lipopolysaccharide from Periodontal Pathogen in Human Gingival Fibroblasts by Low-energy Laser Irradiation. Lasers in Medical Science, 15, 35-42.
- TAYLOR, S. C. (2002). Skin of color: biology, structure, function, and implications for dermatologic disease. J Am Acad Dermatol, 46, S41-62.
- THE NOBEL ORGANIZATIONS. (2012a). *The Nobel Prize in Physics 1902, Henrik A Lorentz and Pieter Zeeman* [Online]. Nobelprize.org: Nobel Media AS. Available: <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1902/press.html</u> [Accessed date 30.May 2012].
- THE NOBEL ORGANIZATIONS. (2012b). *The Nobel Prize in Physics 1918, Max Planck* [Online]. Nobelprize.org: The Official Web Site of the Nobel Prize. Available: <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1918/press.html#</u> [Accessed date 4.June 2012].
- THE NOBEL ORGANIZATIONS. (2012c). *The Nobel Prize in Physics 1921, Albert Einstein* [Online]. Nobelprize.org: Nobelprize.org. Available: <u>http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1921/</u> [Accessed date 31.May 2012].
- THEOBALD, P., BENJAMIN, M., NOKES, L. & PUGH, N. (2005). Review of the vascularisation of the human Achilles tendon. Injury, 36, 1267-72.
- TOPPING, A., GAULT, D., GROBBELAAR, A., SANDERS, R., GREEN, C. & LINGE, C. (2001). Does low penetration of human skin by the normal mode ruby laser account for poor permanent depilatory success rates? *Lasers Med Sci*, 16, 224-9.
- TUMILTY, S., MUNN, J., MCDONOUGH, S., HURLEY, D. A., BASFORD, J. R. & BAXTER, G. D. (2010). Low level laser treatment of tendinopathy: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Photomed Laser Surg*, 28, 3-16.
- TYNDALL, J. (1922). Experimental Reserches in Electricity by Michael Faradaly. 2nd Print ed. London; New York: J.M.Dent & sons Ltd; E.P.Dutton & Co.
- VAN BREUGEL, H. H. & BAR, P. R. (1993). He-Ne laser irradiation affects proliferation of cultured rat Schwann cells in a dosedependent manner. J Neurocytol, 22, 185-90.
- VILLASEÑOR-MORA, C., SANCHEZ-MARIN, F. J. & CALIXTO-CARRERA, S. (2009). An indirect skin emissivity measurement in the infrared thermal renge through reflection of a CO2 laser beam. *Revista Maxicana de Fisica*, 55, 387-392.
- WALT. (2010). World Association for Laser Therapy, Dosage recommendations [Online]. WALT. Available: http://waltza.co.za/documentation-links/recommendations/dosage-recommendations/ [Accessed date 25.Feb. 2013].
- WANG, H. Q., ZHAO, J. H., LEE, A. M. D., LUI, H. & ZENG, H. S. (2012). Improving skin Raman spectral quality by fluorescence photobleaching. *Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy*, 9, 299-302.
- WANG, J. H., IOSIFIDIS, M. I. & FU, F. H. (2006). Biomechanical basis for tendinopathy. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 443, 320-32.
- WARDEN, S. J. (2007). Animal models for the study of tendinopathy. Br J Sports Med, 41, 232-40.
- WARDEN, S. J. (2009). Development and use of animal models to advance tendinopathy research. Front Biosci, 14, 4588-97.
- WARDEN, S. J., KISS, Z. S., MALARA, F. A., OOI, A. B., COOK, J. L. & CROSSLEY, K. M. (2007). Comparative accuracy of magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography in confirming clinically diagnosed patellar tendinopathy. Am J Sports Med, 35, 427-36.
- WATSON, T. (2000). The role of electrotherapy in contemporary physiotherapy practice. Man Ther, 5, 132-41.
- WCPT- ISEAPT. (2011). World Confederation for Physical Therapy Subgroup: International Society for Electrophysical Agents in Physical Therapi (ISEAPT) [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.wcpt.org/iseapt</u> [Accessed date 04.Dec. 2012].
- WEDDERKOPP, N., KALTOFT, M., LUNDGAARD, B., ROSENDAHL, M. & FROBERG, K. (1997). Injuries in young female players in European team handball. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 7, 342-7.
- WERLE, M., SCHMAL, U., HANNA, K. & KREUZER, J. (2002). MCP-1 induces activation of MAP-kinases ERK, JNK and p38 MAPK in human endothelial cells. *Cardiovasc Res*, 56, 284-92.
- WIELOCH, P., BUCHMANN, G., ROTH, W. & RICKERT, M. (2004). A cryo-jaw designed for in vitro tensile testing of the healing Achilles tendons in rats. J Biomech, 37, 1719-22.
- WOLFSON, H. (1931). Studies on effect of physical therapeutic procedures on function and structure. Jama, 96, 2019-2021. YAAR, M., ELLER, M. S. & GILCHREST, B. A. (2002). Fifty years of skin aging. J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc, 7, 51-8.
- YAMAGUCHI, Y., BRENNER, M. & HEARING, V. J. (2007). The regulation of skin pigmentation. *J Biol Chem*, 282, 27557-61. YE, L., KALICHMAN, L., SPITTLE, A., DOBSON, F. & BENNELL, K. (2011). Effects of rehabilitative interventions on pain,
- function and physical impairments in people with hand osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Arthritis Res Ther, 13, R28.
- YOUNG, S., BOLTON, P., DYSON, M., HARVEY, W. & DIAMANTOPOULOS, C. (1989). Macrophage responsiveness to light therapy. *Lasers in surgery and medicine*, 9, 497-505.
- YU, W., NAIM, J. O. & LANZAFAME, R. J. (1994). The effect of laser irradiation on the release of bFGF from 3T3 fibroblasts. *Photochem Photobiol*, 59, 167-70.
- ZHANG, Y., SONG, S., FONG, C. C., TSANG, C. H., YANG, Z. & YANG, M. (2003). cDNA microarray analysis of gene expression profiles in human fibroblast cells irradiated with red light. *J Invest Dermatol*, 120, 849-57.

ZHU, T. C. & FINLAY, J. C. (2008). The role of photodynamic therapy (PDT) physics. *Medical Physics*, 35, 3127-3136.
 ZOUBOULIS, C. C., CHEN, W. C., THORNTON, M. J., QIN, K. & ROSENFIELD, R. (2007). Sexual hormones in human skin. *Horm Metab Res*, 39, 85-95.

Paper I

Photomedicine and Laser Surgery Volume 29, Number 3, 2011 © Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. Pp. X45X-X3X DOI: 10.1089/pho.2010.2793

The Thermal Effects of Therapeutic Lasers with 810 and 904 nm Wavelengths on Human Skin

Jon Joensen, P.T., M.Sc.,^{1,2} Jan Hendrik Demmink, P.T., Ph.D.,² Mark I. Johnson, Ph.D., Prof.,³ Vegard V. Iversen, Phys., Ph.D.,⁴ Rodrigo Álvaro Brandão Lopes-Martins, Ph.D., Prof.,⁵ and Jan Magnus Bjordal, P.T., Ph.D., Prof.^{1,2}

Abstract

Objective: To investigate the effect of therapeutic infrared class 3B laser irradiation on skin temperature in healthy participants of differing skin color, age, and gender. Background: Little is known about the potential thermal effects of Low Level Laser Therapy (LLLT) irradiation on human skin. Methods: Skin temperature was measured in 40 healthy volunteers with a thermographic camera at laser irradiated and control (non-irradiated) areas on the skin. Six irradiation doses (2-12]) were delivered from a 200 mW, 810 nm laser and a 60 mW, 904 nm laser, respectively. Results: Thermal effects of therapeutic LLLT using doses recommended in the World Association for Laser Therapy (WALT) guidelines were insignificant; below 1.5°C in light, medium, and dark skin. When higher irradiation doses were used, the 60 mW, 904 nm laser produced significantly (p < 0.01) higher temperatures in dark skin (5.7, SD±1.8°C at 12J) than in light skin, although no participants requested termination of LLLT. However, irradiation with a 200 mW, 810 nm laser induced three to six times more heat in dark skin than in the other skin color groups. Eight of 13 participants with dark skin asked for LLLT to be stopped because of uncomfortable heating. The maximal increase in skin temperature was 22.3°C. Conclusions: The thermal effects of LLLT at doses recommended by WALT-guidelines for musculoskeletal and inflammatory conditions are negligible (<1.5°C) in light, medium, and dark skin. However, higher LLLT doses delivered with a strong 3B laser (200 mW) are capable of increasing skin temperature significantly and these photothermal effects may exceed the thermal pain threshold for humans with dark skin color.

Introduction

D^{URING LASER IRRADIATION, photons are transferred from a laser source to the human body. Photons are elementary particles with electromagnetic energy measured as optical output power.¹ Lasers with wavelengths in the nearinfrared and red spectrum of light are used in Low Level Laser Therapy (LLLT). Class 3B lasers used in LLLT have a mean output power (MOP) ranging from 5 to 500 mW.}

Early reports regarding LLLT speculated that clinical effects were induced by increased temperature, although some authors claimed that the effects of LLLT radiation were induced by athermic physiological processes.^{2–3} More recently, research suggests that LLLT effects are produced by photochemical and photobiological processes.⁴⁻⁶ However, in order to induce these therapeutic processes, light energy must not be completely absorbed by the skin and needs to reach subcutaneous tissue. Energy is transformed and stored as heat during the process of absorption and the amount of heating is inversely related to the penetration ability of the light.

Interestingly, there is a lack of research into the thermal effects from commonly used LLLT devices. A search with the terms "thermal effect", "human skin," and "laser" in PubMed, Embase, Cinahl, and ScienceDirect (October 2009) yielded no references for class 3B lasers.

¹Department of Physiotherapy, Faculty of Health and Social Science, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway.

²Section for Physiotherapy Science, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, Faculty of Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.

³Faculty of Health, Leeds Metropolitan University, Leeds, United Kingdom.

⁴Faculty of Education, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway.

⁵Laboratory of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Pharmacology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil.

JOENSEN ET AL.

Skin color may affect absorption and skin temperature during laser irradiation. Nussbaum⁷ found a tendency for infrared LEDs (Light-Emitting Diodes) to produce higher temperatures in human skin folds of participants with dark skin than in those of participants with light skin. Whether skin color influences skin temperature from therapeutic infrared class 3B lasers has not been previously investigated.

The structure, appearance, and biophysical properties of human skin differ between individuals according to their age, sex, and race. The ageing process leads to loss of collagen and elastin fibers, and reductions in the size of epidermal, dermal, and subcutaneous layers contribute to fragility, loss of laxity, and a dry, fine, wrinkled appearance of the skin.⁸⁻¹¹ Genetic and hormonal influences affect the sumsensitivity of skin. Females have greater sum-sensitivity than males.^{12–13} After menopause, female skin thickness decreases due to lower levels of estrogen.^{14–15}

Skin color evolved in relation to the amount of sun irradiation in different parts of the world, with populations living close to the equator having darker skin than populations living close to the poles. Human skin color is determined by type and amount of melanin in the skin^{16–19} which has a central role in skin photoprotection.^{17,20} Thus, differences in skin color and properties are factors that may influence absorption and production of heat in human skin during LLLT irradiation.

Human skin temperature can be precisely and reliably measured with thermographic cameras.^{21–25} The advantages of thermographic cameras are that they are noninvasive and can be used without being in contact with the skin. The aim of this placebo-controlled study was to investigate the effect on skin temperature in healthy volunteers of differing skin color, age, and gender during irradiation with doses recommended in the World Association for Laser Therapy (WALT) guidelines from two commercially available therapeutic infrared class 3B lasers. A second purpose was to investigate whether irradiation from therapeutic infrared class 3B lasers can produce thermal effects in human skin.

Ethical approval

The study was given ethical approval by REK Vest in Norway (Ref.no: 091.08). Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Methods

Subjects

A sample of 40 healthy adult volunteers was recruited and divided by gender, age, and skin color. Participants were stratified according to skin color using Von Luschan's chromatic scale,²⁶ which ranks color from 1 (= lightest skin) to 36 (= darkest skin). Three arbitrary categories were used: 1 to 15="light" skin, 16 to 28="medium" skin, and 29 to 36="dark" skin. Participants were also stratified according to age as under 40 years of age, between 40 and 60 years of age, and over 60 years of age on the basis of changes in skin optical properties.^{11, 27} Individuals with a history of skin disease were excluded.

Instruments

(page number not for citation purpose)

Skin temperature was measured by a thermographic camera (Flir System, ThermaCAM S65HS, Boston, MA) and ancillary software (ThermaCAM Researcher Pro 2.8 SR-1). This software includes tools to quantify the recorded temperature. The camera measures temperatures with a precision of 50 mK at 30°C, and has an accuracy of $\pm 2\%$ (Prod. information). The Flir ThermaCAM S65HS used in this study is calibrated once a year against a blackbody, emissivity $\varepsilon = 0.99$, distance = 1 meter. Calibration is based on the International Temperature Scale (ITS-90)28 and performed at the Swedish National Testing and Research Institute. Two commercially available therapeutic lasers were used for irradiation as follows: (a) 810 nm wavelength laser (Thor-DD, London, UK), operated in continuous mode with a mean output power (MOP) of 200 mW, spot size of 0.0314 cm² and power density of 6.37 W/cm², (b) 904 nm wavelength laser (Irradia, Stockholm, Sweden) operated in pulsed mode with a peak power of 20 W, pulse width of 200 ns (10^{-9} s), and frequency of 700 Hz; and with an MOP of 60 mW, spot size of 0.0364 cm², and power density of 1.67 W/cm².

Experimental procedure

In order to acclimatize skin temperature, participants remained in the laboratory for 15 min before the experiment started. Participants were instructed that during irradiation they should report to the investigator (a) if they felt any heat sensation in the irradiated area, and (b) if the heat sensation became so uncomfortable that they wanted laser irradiation to be ceased. During the experiment participants sat with their hands on a towel placed on a table (Fig. 1).

Recommended irradiation doses according to WALT guidelines are 2J for 904 nm lasers and up to 6J for 810 nm lasers.²⁹

Laser irradiation was performed on the proximal phalanx of the index finger. A neighboring area on the proximal phalanx of the same index finger was used as the control area (Fig. 2).



FIG. 1. Laboratory setup. Thermographic camera placed approximately 25 cm over the subject's hand, with the participant sitting at a table with both hands on a towel.

THERMAL EFFECTS OF LLLT ON HUMAN SKIN



FIG. 2. Thermographic picture (original picture is in color) of the hand after laser irradiation with a dose of 12 joules. Increasing whiteness corresponds to increasing temperature.

One investigator (JHD) operated the thermographic camera, and another investigator (II) administered laser irradiation. Each experiment lasted 55 min, with a total of 13 measurements of skin temperature taken from each participant. The first measurement was taken before any irradiation (i.e., baseline). This was followed by six measurements during treatments with different doses of irradiation from the 904 nm laser followed by six measurements during treatments with different doses of irradiation from the 810 nm laser. The sequence of the doses was the same for both lasers, as follows: (a) 2 Joule (J) = 33 s duration from a 60 mW, 904 nm laser and 10 s duration from a 200 mW, 810 nm laser; (b) placebo = 33 s duration from an inactivated 60 mW, 904 nm laser and 10 s duration from an inactivated 200 mW, 810 nm laser (i.e., same duration as 2J); (c) 6I = 100 s duration from a 60 mW, 904 nm laser and 30 s duration from a 200 mW, 810 nm laser; (d) 9J = 150 s duration from a 60 mW, 904 nm laser and 45 s duration from a 200 mW, 810 nm laser; (e) 12 I = 200 s duration from a 60 mW. 904 nm laser and 60 s duration from a 200 mW, 810 nm laser; (f) placebo = $200 \, \text{s}$ duration from an inactivated $60 \, \text{mW}$, 904 nm laser and 60 s duration from an inactivated 200 mW, 810 nm laser (i.e., same duration as 12 J). Placebo irradiation was delivered using the same laser device as the active interventions but the laser was not switched on. Participants were not aware of this fact. During irradiation, the laser probe was held in a position approximately 10 degrees from vertical, and it was stationary in contact with one spot of skin overlying the dorsal side of the proximal phalange of the index finger. Between each laser irradiation there was a 3 min pause. Participants and the operator of the thermographic camera were blinded to active or placebo treatment condition.

Thermography was recorded during the final 5s of each irradiation dose and continued for 1 min after the end of irradiation (i.e., a total of 1 min and 5s). The maximum temperatures from the irradiated area and a control area ulnar to the irradiated area on the same index finger were simultaneously registered by ThermaCAM (Fig. 2).

(page number not for citation purpose)

Main outcome measure

The difference in skin temperature between the irradiation surface area and the control area was calculated for each irradiation dose and each laser.

Statistical analysis

Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2007) was used for statistical analysis and graphics. Student's pairwise T-tests and ANOVA were used for comparison of statistical differences with a significance level set at p < 0.05. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to determine relationships between irradiation doses and skin temperature.

Results

Forty volunteers expressed interest in taking part in the study, provided written consent, and were included (Table 1).

The baseline skin temperature after acclimatization was $30.7^{\circ}C$ (SD ± 2.8) in the proximal part of the index finger.

Placebo irradiation with a treatment time corresponding to the 2J conditions changed mean skin temperature in the irradiated area by -0.9° C (SD ± 0.7) for the 60 mW, 904 nm laser, and -0.2° C (SD ± 1.2) for the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. Placebo irradiation corresponding to the 12J treatment conditions changed mean skin temperature by 0.4° C (SD ± 1.2) for the 60 mW, 904 nm laser, and 0° C (SD ± 1.1) for the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. There were no significant temperature differences between the irradiated and control areas on the index finger (no *p* value less than *p* < 0.05).

The tip of the laser probe was in skin contact during laser irradiation, and the probe tip temperature was also measured immediately after irradiation. The probe tip temperature ranged from 31.8° C (SD ± 1.8) to 32.6° C (SD ± 2.2) for the 200 mW, 810 nm laser and from 30.1° C (SD ± 2.2) to 33.7° C (SD ± 3.4) for the 60 mW, 904 nm laser for the irradiation doses from 2 to 12J (Table 2).

All participants completed the six irradiation doses with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser. Participants with light and medium skin completed six irradiation treatments with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. However, 8 of 13 participants with dark skin withdrew consent to continue the experiment because they felt uncomfortable heating in the irradiated area with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. Two of these participants withdrew consent during a 6J irradiation dose (as recommended by WALT), four withdrew consent during a 9J irradiation dose, and two withdrew during a 12J irradiation dose.

Skin temperature at the time of withdrawal showed a large variation between participants. The participant with the highest measured increase in skin temperature (relative

 TABLE 1. NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS GROUPED

 BY AGE AND SKIN COLOR

	Light	Medium	Dark	Total
Under 40 years	5	5	7	17
From 40 to 60 years	4	2	4	15
Total	13	14	13	40

(page number not for citation purpose)

TABLE 2. LOW LEVEL LASER THERAPY PROBE TIP TEMPERATURE IMMEDIATELY AFTER IRRADIATION DOSES

	60 mW,	904 nm	200 mW, 810 nm		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Placebo	30.2	±2.7	32.0	±1.7	
21	30.1	± 2.2	31.8	± 1.8	
61	31.2	± 1.4	31.9	± 2.2	
91	32.8	± 2.9	31.8	±2.9	
12J	33.7	± 3.4	32.6	± 2.0	

to the control area) during irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser was a male with dark skin aged 45 years. The skin temperature increased by 11.2°C during a dose of 2 J, and 22.3°C during a dose of 6 J (irradiation was interrupted by the investigators and he was not irradiated with doses of 9 and 12 J). The subject and experimental data related to withdrawals are summarized in Table 3.

There was a positive correlation between increasing irradiation doses and increased skin temperature for both lasers and all skin color groups (Pearson's r = 0.98 - 0.99, withdrawals omitted from analysis).

For light and medium skin, no significant thermal effects ($p \ge 0.16$ for any comparisons) were observed when irradiating at doses recommended in the WALT guidelines²⁹ (i.e., 2J for 904 nm, and 6J for 810 nm), with temperatures increasing less than 1.5°C regardless of laser type. However, highly significant increases (p < 0.0001) in skin temperature were observed when irradiating dark skin: 6.1° C (SD \pm 3.2) for the 2J dose and 9.2°C (SD \pm 4.5) for the 6J dose, using the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. Also, irradiation with a 2J dose using the 60 mW, 904 nm laser induced a lower but nevertheless significant (p = 0.043) increase in skin temperature, 1.9°C (SD \pm 1.8), in dark skin (Figs. 3 and 4).

During the four active irradiation doses from LLLT, the temperature change in dark skin was significantly higher than that in light skin for all irradiation doses, regardless of laser type (p < 0.01). During these four doses, delivered with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser, the mean temperature difference between the irradiated area and the control area ranged from -0.1° C (SD ± 1.0) to 4.0° C (SD ± 1.3) in light skin, from 0.7° C (SD ± 0.9) to 5.3° C (SD ± 1.7) in medium skin, and from



FIG. 3. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in the three skin color groups during irradiation with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser (n = 40). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures in the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD). *Significant differences between the light-skin group and the dark- and medium-skin groups (p < 0.01). †Significant differences between light- and medium-skin groups and the medium- and dark-skin groups (p < 0.05).

 1.9° C (SD ± 1.8) to 5.7° C (SD ± 1.8) in dark skin (Fig. 3). During irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser, thermal effects were small in light skin, ranging from 0.3° C (SD ± 0.8) to 1.5° C (SD ± 1.2), and moderate in medium skin, ranging from 0.7° C (SD ± 1.4) to 3.3° C (SD ± 1.2). In dark skin, thermal effects were substantial, from 6.1° C (SD ± 3.2) to 9.8° C (SD ± 2.3) across doses from 2 to 12 J (Fig. 4).

When equivalent irradiation doses, of 6J or more, were administered to light and medium skin, there were larger increases in skin temperature for the 60 mW, 904 nm laser when compared with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser (p < 0.05) (Table 4).

Due to the high withdrawal rate (62%) of participants in the dark-skin group during irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser, comparison of skin temperature for the two lasers was problematic in this group.

Lase	er data		Biographical da	ta		Temperature data	
nm	Dose	Skin	Sex	Age	Irradiated	Control	Difference
810	61	Dark	F	43	35.1	33.2	1.9
810	6 J ^a	Dark	М	45	53.4	31.1	22.3
810	9Ĵ	Dark	F	39	40.3	32.6	7.7
810	9Í	Dark	Μ	37	41.5	33.1	8.4
810	9Í	Dark	Μ	41	40.9	33.1	7.8
810	9Í	Dark	Μ	61	43.1	31.5	11.6
810	12 J	Dark	F	34	40.0	29.2	10.8
810	12 Ĵ	Dark	М	42	37.3	32.5	4.8
				Mean	41.5	32.0	9.4

TABLE 3. Skin Temperature Thresholds at Withdrawal

^aParticipant completed irradiation with the 6J dose (and did not start the 9J dose).

THERMAL EFFECTS OF LLLT ON HUMAN SKIN



FIG. 4. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in the three skin color groups during irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser (n = 40). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures in the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD). * Significant differences between the dark-skin group and the medium-and light-skin groups (p < 0.01). \dagger Significant differences between the medium-skin group and the light-skin group (p < 0.05). ^a) Six and ^{b)} eight of thirteen participants with dark skin withdrew because of uncomfortable heating in the LLLT-spot area.

In contrast to the results in light and medium skin, identical doses of laser irradiation resulted in significantly higher skin temperatures in dark skin ($p \le 0.001$) for the 200 mW, 810 nm laser. Irradiation doses of 2 and 6J with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser induced a threefold increase in temperature in dark skin when compared with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser (Figs. 3 and 4).

There were no significant differences in skin temperature between males and females during laser irradiation when using doses at or above those recommended by WALT (no p-value lower than $p \ge 0.24$). Adjusting for skin color by removing dark-skin data from the analyses did not affect this result (Figs. 5 and 6).

There was a tendency toward higher skin temperatures in the irradiated area in younger participants (under 40 years

(page number not for citation purpose)

of age) for both lasers, although comparisons with older participants just failed to reach statistical significance ($p \ge 0.06$). There was evidence that there were larger differences for higher doses with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser than for doses recommended by WALT, and that the differences persisted when dark-skin data were removed from the analysis (Figs. 7 and 8).

Discussion

In this study, we investigated the effects of irradiation using two commercially available class 3B lasers on human skin temperature for subjects of different skin color, age, and gender. In the early days of LLLT, it was speculated that treatment effects were of thermal origin and similar to heat therapy.³⁰ However, research in the 1980s supported claims that doses used in clinical practice were too low to produce noticeable thermal and biological reactions in the human body.³¹ Subsequent research in the 1990s into the biophysical properties of LLLT irradiation suggested that the therapeutic effects of LLLT irradiation suggested that the therapeutic effects have arrived on the market, with laser manufacturers claiming that "more powerful is better".

Thermoregulation of the skin is mainly controlled by the hypothalamic nuclei. Heating of small areas of skin by conduction results in activation of skin thermoreceptors and leads to the release of nitric oxide which acts directly on blood vessels to dilate the vessels and thereby regulate body temperature.^{33–36} Central thermoregulation acts to regulate changes in larger areas of the body, such as the entire index finger, and cannot result in local temperature differences like those we found between the two measurement areas on the proximal phalanx of the index finger.

We observed a consistent thermal effect of laser irradiation, which was strictly limited to the area of the irradiation spot. Skin temperature decreased to that of the surrounding areas within 15 s after irradiation had ceased. We interpret this effect as laser light absorption and subsequent heating of the skin, because it was clearly limited to the area of irradiation and did not spread to the control site, which was 1 cm away from the irradiated site on the same index finger. We also observed an increase in skin temperature which started proximally in the hand and then spread to the fingers in several participants following irradiation with 6J (100 s) or more from the 904 nm laser. Interestingly, the temperature difference noted between the irradiation

Table 4. Temperature Changes in Light and Medium Skin During Comparable Irradiation Doses from Two Different Lasers

		Light skin		Medium skin		
Irradiation dose	200 mW, 810 nm Mean ± SD (°C)	60 mW, 904 nm Mean ± SD (°C)	t-test (2-tailed) p value	200 mW, 810 nm Mean ± SD (°C)	60 mW, 904 nm Mean ± SD (°C)	t-test (2-tailed) p value
2 Joules 6 Joules 9 Joules 12 Joules	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \pm 0.8 \\ 0.3 \pm 1.1 \\ 0.9 \pm 1.1 \\ 1.5 \pm 1.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.1 \pm 1.0 \\ 1.3 \pm 1.3 \\ 2.6 \pm 1.2 \\ 4.0 \pm 1.3 \end{array}$	${ \begin{array}{c} 0.31 \\ 0.04^{a} \\ 0.00^{b} \\ 0.00^{b} \end{array} }$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7 \pm 1.4 \\ 1.4 \pm 1.2 \\ 2.2 \pm 1.0 \\ 3.3 \pm 1.2 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7 \pm 0.9 \\ 2.5 \pm 0.9 \\ 3.9 \pm 1.0 \\ 5.3 \pm 1.7 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.85 \\ 0.01^{\rm b} \\ 0.00^{\rm b} \\ 0.00^{\rm b} \end{array}$

^aSignificant (p < 0.05) differences during use of different lasers.

^bSignificant (p < 0.01) differences during use of different lasers.





FIG. 5. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in males and females during irradiation with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser (n = 27). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures between the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD).

spot and the control area was statistically significant despite the increase in background temperature across the entire hand. We infer from these observations that laser irradiation initiates central thermoregulatory mechanisms that affect skin circulation in the skin surrounding the area of irradiation. Slow-onset circulatory effects lasting more than 120 s after irradiation have been reported in humans following 2 min of irradiation with 74 mW, 810 nm laser³⁷ and 20 min of irradiation with a 30 mW, 632 nm laser³⁸ and in rabbits after 10 min with a 10 mW, 904 nm laser.³⁹ Evidence also suggests that equal doses below 10J delivered over a longer period of time stimulates cell activity and modulates inflammation to a



FIG. 6. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in males and females during irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser (n = 27). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures in the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD).



FIG. 7. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in the three age groups during irradiation with the 60 mW, 904 nm laser (n = 27). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures in the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD).

greater extent than lasers with higher MOP using shorter irradiation times. $^{40\!-\!41}$

Thermal effects in the human skin need to reach a threshold magnitude before they are perceived by individuals. Recent studies have shown that there is spatial summation of warming sensation thresholds in the human hand ranging from 35.4° C (± 1.0) when large areas (9 cm²) are heated to 42.3° C (± 3.0) when small areas (2 cm²) are heated.⁴² During irradiation, heat could either stem from the absorption of laser light or transfer of heat energy from the laser probe to the skin by conduction as the laser probe heats during production of the laser beam. Our measurements of



FIG. 8. Doses in joules plotted against temperature change in the three age groups during irradiation with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser (n = 27). The change in temperature was defined as the difference between temperatures in the irradiated area (laser spot) and a control area 1 cm ulnar on the same index finger (error bars \pm SD).

150

Page 7 of 9

THERMAL EFFECTS OF LLLT ON HUMAN SKIN

the temperature of the laser probe tips immediately after irradiation suggest that the probe tip was not responsible for elevations in skin temperature; probe temperatures were below 34° C with doses of 12 J, and below 32° C with doses recommended by WALT.²⁹ The thermal effects for doses recommended by WALT were below the warmth sensitivity thresholds for human skin for the respective lasers. This is particularly important because the sensation of warmth can compromise blinding of active and placebo laser units in research studies.

Guinot¹² found that female skin is more sun-sensitive than male skin, but we did not find any significant differences in skin temperature between males and females during infrared laser irradiation. Structures and entities of the human skin do change with age and this change could result in modified skin sensitivity to laser irradiation. Even though there was a tendency to more heat production in younger skin (under 40 years of age) than in older skin, we did not find significant differences in skin temperature according to age.

Our results showed that the heat induced in human skin during LLLT irradiation is strongly related to skin color. Skin temperature was higher at all irradiation doses for participants with dark skin than for those in other skin color groups, regardless of laser type. Skin temperature differences for the 60 mW, 904 nm laser were moderate (about 4°C) during irradiation doses from 2 to 12 J, and increased according to dose in a linear manner for all skin color groups. While the dose-temperature profile was linear for light- and medium-skin groups with the 200 mW, 810 nm laser, the induced thermal effects were higher in darker skin. One study using LEDs with an 840 nm infrared wavelength found no significant differences between participants with different skin colors but there were few participants with the darkest skin color in the sample and the power density for the LED source was low and only 1-2% of the power density used in the present study.

The significant heating of dark skin by the 200 mW, 810 nm laser has implications for irradiation safety and clinical practice. There was a three- to sixfold increase in skin temperature in dark skin, reaching $42-43^{\circ}$ C, when compared with light and medium skin. This temperature corresponds to the threshold for painful thermal stimuli⁴³ and was achieved even at small laser irradiation doses.

Both lasers used in this study were classified as class 3B, and their irradiation spot sizes were almost identical, 0.0364 cm² (60 mW, 904 nm) and 0.0314 cm² (200 mW, 810 nm). The authors see no reason why such a small spot size difference would affect temperature to any appreciable degree. Therefore, it is necessary to consider differences in wavelengths, MOP, and irradiation mode (continuous vs. pulsed) between the lasers as possible causes of the study results. Infrared wavelengths penetrate human skin more readily than red wavelengths.^{1, 44} However, there are only minor differences (<20%) in rat skin penetration for wavelengths within the near-infrared spectrum, with 810 nm penetrating slightly more than 904 nm wavelengths.45 The observed differences in our study seem to exceed what can reasonably be explained by wavelength differences. We expected that the largest increase in skin temperature would occur using the 200 mW, 810 nm laser because its MOP is approximately three times greater than the 60 mW, 904 nm

(page number not for citation purpose)

151

laser, and it has a shorter irradiation time. However, skin temperature increased more in light and medium skin during irradiation with the 904 nm laser. It seems unlikely that a physiological response such as more rapid removal of excess heat should occur during and after irradiation with the stronger 810 nm laser than the 904 nm laser. Future studies are required to investigate in greater detail the influence of MOP and irradiation mode (pulsed vs. continuous) in heat production on human skin during laser irradiation.

There is strong clinical evidence, reflected in the WALT guidelines, that pulsed 904 nm lasers have lower optimal dose ranges in musculoskeletal disorders than continuous 810 nm lasers, possibly because less energy is lost in the skin barrier with the pulsed 904 nm laser.⁴⁶ Our results from light and medium skin may be seen as contradictory to this suggestion because equal doses yielded significantly higher skin temperatures with the pulsed 904 nm laser than with the continuous 810 nm laser.

During LLLT in which the thermal effect on the skin is small, the irradiated energy facilitates other photoprocesses in the local tissue. Infrared irradiation stimulates photobiological reactions through photoacceptors that take part in metabolic reactions in the cells.^{47–54} As the purpose of irradiation during LLLT is to reach structures beneath the skin layers, the significant thermal response in dark skin raises a question as to whether sufficient energy reaches subdermal target tissue. Our results suggest that the 200 mW, 810 nm laser should probably not be used clinically with doses at or above 6J in persons with dark skin.

Conclusion

The thermal effects of LLLT at doses recommended in the WALT guidelines for musculoskeletal and inflammatory conditions are negligible (<1.5°C) in light- and medium-colored skin. However, at higher irradiation doses delivered with a strong class 3B laser (200 mW), LLLT is capable of increasing skin temperature significantly, and these photo-thermal effects may exceed the thermal pain threshold for humans with dark skin. The thermal effects in dark skin were most pronounced during irradiation with the 200 mW MOP, 810 nm laser; 62% of participants withdrew because of uncomfortable heating in the irradiated spot area. There were no significant differences between age groups or between gender groups in skin temperature during laser irradiation.

Author Disclosure Statement

No competing financial interests exist.

References

- Enwemeka, C.S. (2001). Attenuation and penetration depth of red 632.8 nm and invisible infrared 904 nm light in soft tissues. Laser Therapy 13, 95–101.
- Schindl, A., Schindl, M., Pernerstorfer-Schon, H., and Schindl, L. (2000). Low-intensity laser therapy: a review. J. Investig. Med. 48, 312–326.
- Zancan, A. and D'Alessandro, G. (1994). Evaluation of the superficial thermic effects induced by low-power laser therapy. Riabilitazione 27, 177–184.

Page 8 of 9

- Tuner, J.A. and Hode, L. (2002). Laser Therapy. Clinical Practice and Scientific Background. Grängesberg (Sweden): Prima Books AB.
- Gao, X. and Xing, D. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of cell proliferation induced by low power laser irradiation. J. Biomed. Sci. 16, 4.
- Karu, T. (1999). Primary and secondary mechanisms of action of visible to near-IR radiation on cells. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B. 49, 1–17.
- Nussbaum, E.L., Van Zuylen, J., and Jing, F. (2007). Transmission of light through human skin folds during phototherapy: effects of physical characteristics, irradiation wavelength, and skin-diode coupling. Physiother. Can. 59, 194–207.
- Farage, M.A., Miller, K.W., Elsner, P., and Maibach, H.I. (2007). Structural characteristics of the aging skin: a review. Cutan. Ocul. Toxicol. 26, 343–357.
- 9. Montagna, W. and Carlisle, K. (1979). Structural changes in aging human skin. J. Invest. Dermatol. 73, 47-53.
- Yaar, M., Eller, M.S., and Gilchrest, B.A. (2002). Fifty years of skin aging. J. Investig. Dermatol. Symp. Proc. 7, 51–58.
- Leveque, J.L., Corcuff, P., de Rigal, J., and Agache, P. (1984). In vivo studies of the evolution of physical properties of the human skin with age. Int. J. Dermatol. 23, 322–329.
- Guinot, C., Malvy, D.J., Latreille, J., et al. (2005). Sun-reactive Skin Type in 4912 French adults participating in the SU. VI.MAX study. Photochem. Photobiol. 81, 934–940.
- Tur, E. (1997). Physiology of the skin–Differences between women and men. Clin. Dermatol. 15, 5–16.
- Zouboulis, C.C., Chen, W.C., Thornton, M.J., Qin, K., and Rosenfield, R. (2007). Sexual hormones in human skin. Horm. Metab. Res. 39, 85–95.
- Shuster, S., Black, M.M., and McVitie, E. (1975). The influence of age and sex on skin thickness, skin collagen and density. Br. J. Dermatol. 93, 639–643.
- Alaluf, S., Atkins, D., Barrett, K., Blount, M., Carter, N., and Heath, A. (2002). Ethnic variation in melanin content and composition in photoexposed and photoprotected human skin. Pigment Cell Res. 15, 112–118.
- Taylor, S.C. (2002). Skin of color: biology, structure, function, and implications for dermatologic disease. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 46, S41–62.
- Costin, G.E. and Hearing, V.J. (2007). Human skin pigmentation: melanocytes modulate skin color in response to stress. FASEB J. 21, 976–994.
- Yamaguchi, Y., Brenner, M., and Hearing, V.J. (2007). The regulation of skin pigmentation. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27557– 27561.
- Giacomoni, P.U. (1995). Open questions in photobiology III. Melanin and photoprotection. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B. 29, 87–89.
- Roy, R., Boucher, J.P., and Comtois, A.S. (2006). Validity of infrared thermal measurements of segmental paraspinal skin surface temperature. J. Manipulative Physiol. Ther. 29, 150–155.
- De Curtis, M., Calzolari, F., Marciano, A., Cardilli, V., and Barba, G. (2008). Comparison between rectal and infrared skin temperature in the newborn. Arch. Dis. Child Fetal Neonatal. Ed. 93, F55–57.
- Gold, J.E., Cherniack, M., and Buchholz, B. (2004). Infrared thermography for examination of skin temperature in the dorsal hand of office workers. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 93, 245– 251.
- Martini, G., Murray, K.J., Howell, K.J., et al. (2002). Juvenileonset localized scleroderma activity detection by infrared thermography. Rheumatology (Oxford) 41, 1178–1182.

- Howell, K.J., Lavorato, A., Visentin, M.T., et al. (2009). Validation of a protocol for the assessment of skin temperature and blood flow in childhood localised scleroderma. Skin Res. Technol. 15, 346–356.
- Wikipedia. Von Luschan's chromatic scale: 2005 [updated 2010 Feb 13; cited 2010 Feb. 20.]; Available from: http:// en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Von_Luschan's_chromatic_scale.
- Calin, M.A. and Parasca, S.V. (2010). In vivo study of agerelated changes in the optical properties of the skin. Lasers Med. Sci. 25, 269–274.
- Plassmann P., Ring, E. F. J., and Jones C.D. (2006). Quality assurance of thermal imaging systems in medicine. Thermology Int 16, 10–15.
- WALT. World Association for Laser Therapy, Dosage recommendation: 1994 [updated August 2005; cited 2010 Feb. 20.]; Available from: http://www.walt.nu/dosagerecommendations.html.
- Lehmann, J.F., Warren, C.G., and Scham, S.M. (1974). Therapeutic heat and cold. Clin. Orthop. Related R. 99, 207– 245.
- Devor, M. (1990). What's in a laser beam for pain therapy? Pain 43, 139.
- Basford, J.R. (1995). Low intensity laser therapy: still not an established clinical tool. Lasers Surg. Med. 16, 331–342.
- Guyton, A.C. and Hall, J.E. (2006). Textbook of Medical Physiology (eleventh ed.). Philadelphia (PA): Elsevier Saunders.
- Kellogg, D.L., Jr., Liu, Y., Kosiba, I.F. and O'Donnell, D. (1999). Role of nitric oxide in the vascular effects of local warming of the skin in humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 86, 1185– 1190.
- Kellogg, D.L., Jr., Zhao, J.L., and Wu, Y. (2009). Roles of Nitric Oxide Synthase Isoforms in Cutaneous Vasodilation Induced by Local Warming of the Skin and Whole Body Heat Stress in Humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 107, 1438– 1444.
- Joyner, M.J. and Casey, D.P. (2009). The catecholamines strike back. What NO does not do. Circ. J. 73, 1783–1792.
- Tullberg, M., Alstergren, P.J., and Ernberg, M.M. (2003). Effects of low-power laser exposure on masseter muscle pain and microcirculation. Pain 105, 89–96.
- Schindl, A., Schindl, M., Schon, H., Knobler, R., Havelec, L., and Schindl, L. (1998). Low-intensity laser irradiation improves skin circulation in patients with diabetic microangiopathy. Diabetes Care 21, 580–584.
- Ihsan, F.R. (2005). Low-level laser therapy accelerates collateral circulation and enhances microcirculation. Photomed. Laser Surg. 23, 289–294.
- Evans, D.H. and Abrahamse, H. (2008). Efficacy of three different laser wavelengths for in vitro wound healing. Photodermatol. Photoimmunol. Photomed. 24, 199–210.
- Castano, A.P., Dai, T., Yaroslavsky, I., et al. (2007). Lowlevel laser therapy for zymosan-induced arthritis in rats: Importance of illumination time. Lasers Surg. Med. 39, 543–550.
- Defrin, R., Petrini, L., and Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2009). Spatial summation of thermal sensations depends on skin type and skin sensitivity. Exp. Brain Res. 198, 29–36.
- Defrin, R., Ohry, A., Blumen, N., and Urca, G. (2002). Sensory determinants of thermal pain. Brain 125, 501–510.
- Dai, T., Pikkula, B.M., Wang, L.V., and Anvari, B. (2004). Comparison of human skin opto-thermal response to nearinfrared and visible laser irradiations: a theoretical investigation. Phys. Med. Biol. 49, 4861–4877.

Page 9 of 9

THERMAL EFFECTS OF LLLT ON HUMAN SKIN

- Byrnes, K.R., Waynant, R.W., Ilev, I.K., et al. (2005). Light promotes regeneration and functional recovery and alters the immune response after spinal cord injury. Lasers Surg. Med. 36, 171–185.
- Bjordal, J.M., Couppe, C., Chow, R.T., Tuner, J., and Ljunggren, E.A. (2003). A systematic review of low level laser therapy with location-specific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders. Aust. J. Physiother. 49, 107–116.
- Karu, T.I., Pyatibrat, L.V., Kolyakov, S.F., and Afanasyeva, N.I. (2008). Absorption measurements of cell monolayers relevant to mechanisms of laser phototherapy: reduction or oxidation of cytochrome c oxidase under laser radiation at 632.8 nm. Photomed. Laser Surg. 26, 593–599.
- Karu, T.I. (2008). Mitochondrial signaling in mammalian cells activated by red and near-IR radiation. Photochem. Photobiol. 84, 1091–1099.
- Karu, T.I., Pyatibrat, L.V., and Afanasyeva, N.I. (2005). Cellular effects of low power laser therapy can be mediated by nitric oxide. Lasers Surg. Med. 36, 307–314.
- Rizzi, C.F., Mauriz, J.L., Freitas Correa, D.S., et al. (2006). Effects of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) on the nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB signaling pathway in traumatized muscle. Lasers Surg. Med. 38, 704–713.

(page number not for citation purpose)

- Moriyama, Y., Nguyen, J., Akens, M., Moriyama, E.H., and Lilge, L. (2009). In vivo effects of low level laser therapy on inducible nitric oxide synthase. Lasers Surg. Med. 41, 227– 231.
- Pereira, A.N., Eduardo Cde, P., Matson, E., and Marques, M.M. (2002). Effect of low-power laser irradiation on cell growth and procollagen synthesis of cultured fibroblasts. Lasers Surg. Med. 31, 263–267.
- Eells, J.T., Wong-Riley, M.T.T., VerHoeve, J., et al. (2004). Mitochondrial signal transduction in accelerated wound and retinal healing by near-infrared light therapy. Mitochondrion. 4, 559–567.
- Schieke, S.M., Schroeder, P., and Krutmann, J. (2003). Cutaneous effects of infrared radiation: from clinical observations to molecular response mechanisms. Photodermatol Photoimmunol. Photomed. 19, 228–234.

Address correspondence to: Jon Joensen Mollendalsveien 6, N-5009 Bergen, Norway

E-mail: jon.joensen@hib.no

Paper II

Page 1 of 7 (page number not for citation purpose)

Skin Penetration Time-Profiles for Continuous 810 nm and Superpulsed 904 nm Lasers in a Rat Model

Jon Joensen, P.T., M.Sc.,^{1,2} Knut Øvsthus, Mlng, Ph.D.,³ Rolf K. Reed, M.D., Ph.D.,⁴ Steinar Hummelsund, P.T., M.Sc.,¹ Vegard V. Iversen, Phys., Ph.D.,⁵ Rodrigo Álvaro Brandão Lopes-Martins, Ph.D.,⁶ and Jan Magnus Bjordal, P.T., Ph.D.^{1,2}

Abstract

Objective: The purpose of this study was to investigate the rat skin penetration abilities of two commercially available low-level laser therapy (LLLT) devices during 150 sec of irradiation. Background data: Effective LLLT irradiation typically lasts from 20 sec up to a few minutes, but the LLLT time-profiles for skin penetration of light energy have not yet been investigated. Materials and methods: Sixty-two skin flaps overlaying rat's gastrocnemius muscles were harvested and immediately irradiated with LLLT devices. Irradiation was performed either with a 810 nm, 200 mW continuous wave laser, or with a 904 nm, 60 mW superpulsed laser, and the amount of penetrating light energy was measured by an optical power meter and registered at seven time points (range, 1-150 sec). Results: With the continuous wave 810 nm laser probe in skin contact, the amount of penetrating light energy was stable at $\sim 20\%$ (SEM ± 0.6) of the initial optical output during 150 sec irradiation. However, irradiation with the superpulsed 904 nm, 60 mW laser showed a linear increase in penetrating energy from 38% (SEM±1.4) to 58% (SEM±3.5) during 150 sec of exposure. The skin penetration abilities were significantly different (p < 0.01) between the two lasers at all measured time points. *Conclusions:* LLLT irradiation through rat skin leaves sufficient subdermal light energy to influence pathological processes and tissue repair. The finding that superpulsed 904 nm LLLT light energy penetrates 2–3 easier through the rat skin barrier than 810 nm continuous wave LLLT, corresponds well with results of LLLT dose analyses in systematic reviews of LLLT in musculoskeletal disorders. This may explain why the differentiation between these laser types has been needed in the clinical dosage recommendations of World Association for Laser Therapy.

Introduction

LASERS ARE USED for a number of different purposes in medicine. Class 4 surgical lasers are used to cut and destroy biological tissue, whereas low-level laser therapy (LLLT) is administered with weaker class 3B lasers and mean output powers (MOP) <500 mW.¹ The most commonly used lasers in LLLT are gallium-aluminum-arsenide (GaAlAs) with a wavelength of 810 nm (\pm 50 nm) operating in continuous output mode, and gallium-arsenide (GaAs) with a wavelength of 904 nm superpulsed with high peak power pulses. LLLT emerged as a treatment option in clinical practice approximately three decades ago.² After the initial upsurge, LLLT gained a poor reputation because of a string of negative research results being published. This picture has slowly changed again as an increasing amount of evidence is pointing toward the existence of specific therapeutic windows for LLLT. Several studies have found that anticipated optimal doses yield significantly better results in tendinopathies,³ osteoarthritis,⁴ and neck pain.⁵

The skin is the body's external boundary in animals and humans. Among other things, the skin serves as a barrier against physical and chemical intrusions.⁶ The skin also represents a barrier to applied physical energy from

¹Department of Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy, and Radiography; Faculty of Health and Social Science; Bergen University College; Bergen; Norway. ²Physiotherapy Research Group, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of

²Physiotherapy Research Group, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.

Faculty of Engineering, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway.

⁴Cardiovascular Research Group, Department of Biomedicine, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway. ⁵Faculty of Education, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway.

⁶Laboratory or Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Pharmacology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil.

Page 2 of 7 (page number not for citation purpose)

SKIN PENETRATION WITH LLLT

electrophysical agents (EPAs), which represent one of the four treatment pillars of physical therapy.⁷

EPAs are used to treat tissue such as muscles, tendons, ligaments, and joint capsules. This makes the skin barrier of particular interest for research on EPAs. Variation characteristics in the biophysical ability to penetrate skin have direct implications for the dosing of LLLT in clinical settings. EPA therapy dosing has historically been based on clinical experience, rather than solid scientific evidence from basic research.⁸

The skin's photoprotective properties, during epidermal light reflectance and melanocytes light absorption, avoid tissue injury caused by radiation from sunlight.^{9,10}. The skin penetration characteristics of ultraviolet and visible light, are fairly well mapped in biophysical and dermatological literature. However, this literature provides only limited data about the penetration ability of the most commonly used infrared and near-infrared LLLT wavelengths in clinical settings.

Biophysically, the ability of lasers to penetrate tissue is dependent upon the laser's wavelength. Light with a wavelength range of 700–1000 nm is infrared and invisible, and penetrates tissue better than light in the red wavelengths (600–700 nm).¹¹ Clinically, laser irradiation in skin flaps has shown that penetration increases linearly with wavelengths from 450 nm to 1030 nm.¹² This was further supported by results from a study of two different red laser wavelengths in human skin flaps, which showed that a wavelength of 675 nm penetrated better than did a wavelength of 632.8 nm.¹³ Other studies have reported similar findings with wavelength-dependent penetrated na animal tissue.¹⁴ These results correlate well with another study showing that a greater amount of energy penetrated rabbit skin with a wavelength of 904 nm, than with a red wavelength of 632.8 nm.¹⁵

In a systematic review of LLLT studies on lateral epicondyle tendinopathies, Bjordal et al.³ found effective doses from superpulsed 904 nm lasers to be significantly lower than effective doses from 632.8 nm lasers. Guidelines from World Association for Laser Therapy (WALT) have also differentiated between wavelengths. Typically, WALT recommends doses that are twice as high for lasers within the 780-860 nm wavelength range, than for lasers with a wavelength of 904 nm.16 WALT guidelines doses are derived from some 160 published randomized controlled LLLT trials. The difference in energy dose can only partly be explained by wavelength, which typically accounts for <20% of the pen-etration difference.¹² However, a satisfactory causal understanding of the need for differentiated dosing is still lacking. An aspect other than wavelength dependency is the mode of operating the laser. GaAs lasers with 904 nm wavelength operate with strong, short pulses (peak power 10-100 W) in a superpulsed mode with nanosecond or picosecond pulse durations, whereas 780-860 nm GaAlAs lasers typically operate in a continuous mode or with chopped pulses (peak power <0.5W). This feature has not been extensively addressed in the LLLT literature, and few studies have compared continuous with pulsed and superpulsed irradiation. In a recent article, Hamblin et al.¹⁷ searched the literature for possible differences in therapeutic effects between those of continuous and pulsed laser irradiation. Their conclusion was that pulsed irradiation mode seems to be superior to continuous mode. However, this result could also be caused

by differences in laser parameters other than irradiation modes, as no head-to-head comparisons were performed with equal doses. Moriyama et al.¹⁸ compared superpulsed with continuous irradiation mode from 905 nm lasers in acute knee inflammation in mice induced by Zymosan-A, and found more pronounced upregulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) from superpulsed irradiation mode. They suggested that inflammatory pathway responses were activated by different mechanisms in superpulsed and continuous irradiation modes.

The few existing LLLT studies that deal with penetration issues have focused either on energy $\log^{19,20}$ or on penetration depth.^{13,15} In LLLT treatment, an irradiation dose is typically administered during periods lasting from 20 to 30 sec up to a few minutes. No studies have yet investigated the time-profiles for skin penetration of energy from LLLT devices. With this perspective, we decided to perform a study with two commonly used lasers in LLLT.

Aim

The aim of this study was to investigate the rat skin penetration abilities of two commercially available LLLT lasers during 150 sec of exposure.

Materials and Methods

Materials

Thirty-four matured male Sprague–Dawley rats weighing 250–300 g were housed with 3–4 animals together in individually ventilated cages. Light cycles were kept at 12+/12-h, with water and food *ad libitum*. The animals were then euthanized and 62 skin flaps (n=62) overlaying the gastrocnemius muscles on the hind legs were successfully dissected free and irradiated within 3 min after euthanization. Six skin flaps were discarded because of human errors in the dissection procedure.

Instruments

The laser MOP was measured with an Optical Power Meter System (Thorlabs Instruments, U.K.). The Optical Power Meter System consists of a PM100 Display unit with sample rate of 6 Hz and accuracy of \pm 1%, and a S121B silicon sensor. The S121B sensor input had an aperture with diameter of O=9.5 mm with an optical power range 500 nW-500 mW and an accuracy of \pm 5% (manufacturer's specification).

Two commercially available therapeutic lasers were used for laser irradiation: (1) 810 nm wavelength laser (Thor-DD, U.K.), operated in a continuous mode with MOP of 200 mW, spot size 0.0314 cm², and power density of 6.37 W/cm^2 (manufacturer's specification); and (2) 904 nm wavelength laser (Irradia, Sweden) operated in a superpulsed mode: Peak power 20 W, superpulsed width 100 ns (10⁻⁹ sec) with a frequency of 6 kHz; and 60 mW MOP, spot size 0.0364 cm², and power density 1.67 W/cm² (manufacturer's specification).

Experimental procedure, part 1

Step one: energy output measured directly. The two lasers were tested for MOP during 150 sec of exposure with no obstacles between the laser source and the Optical Power Meter.

Step two: energy output measured after penetrating a plastic film. The two lasers were tested for MOP during 150 sec of exposure with a transparent plastic film between the laser source and the Optical Power Meter.

Step three: energy output measured after penetrating freshly harvested rat skin flaps. with the probe in skin contact. The animal was put into gas anesthesia (isoflurane, Isoba), and then given $0.4 \,\mathrm{mL}$ intraperitoneal anesthesia (Mebumal $50 \,\mathrm{mg/mL}$). Hair was shaved from both hind legs.

Experimental procedure, part 2

Animals were then euthanized by cardiac arrest from a 1 mL saturated potassium chloride solution.

The skin overlaying the gastrocnemius muscle was then dissected free: distally from calcaneus, anteriolateral and anteriomedial of the edge of the gastrocnemius muscle, and proximal to the gastrocnemius muscle (Fig. 1).

The Optical Power Meter System was tuned to the same wavelengths as the respective test lasers.

All skin flaps were then irradiated in a sequential manner with increasing exposure times for each laser.

For every skin flap the measurement procedure started with registering the lasers' MOP directly into the Optical Power Meter. A plastic film was then placed over the sensor. The skin flap was then placed on the plastic film and the laser MOP was registered. During the exposure, the laser probe was in full skin contact for 150 sec. The laser probe was held in skin contact with slight pressure necessary to maintain the probe in a fixed position. The therapist sought to apply the same amount of pressure for all skin flaps. Laser penetration through the skin plus plastic film was registered at seven time points; immediately after being activated, after 10 sec, after 30 sec, and then every 30 sec up to 150 sec.

Step four (same procedure as in step three, but with the probe not in skin contact). The laser probe was now kept $\sim 1 \text{ mm}$ from the skin during LLLT irradiation.



FIG. 1. A skin flap, consisting of skin overlaying the gastrocnemius muscle.

Main outcome measure

The power was measured in mW without obstacles after penetration through air, plastic film, and rat skin flap, and as a percentage of the measured nominal MOP.

Statistical analysis

Statistical differences were calculated by Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, v.19) using repeated measures ANOVA, generalized estimating equations(GEE), for the whole sequence (measurements at 10 sec are omitted in these calculations). Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2007) was used for statistical descriptive analysis, Student's *t*-test *p*-value significant differences, and graphs.

Ethical approval

This study was approved by the local animal laboratory committee at the University of Bergen, Norway (Appl. No. 20102676).

Results

Step one (no obstacle, through air only)

The MOP from both lasers were stable during 150 sec of exposure. The 904 nm laser increased MOP by 0.3 mW (SEM \pm 0.4), whereas the 810 nm laser reduced MOP by 9.8 mW (SEM \pm 1.9) by the end of 150 sec of exposure (Table 1). The statistic GEE estimated a slope of 0.25 mW per 30 sec (95%CI: 0.07 to 0.42, p < 0.01) for the 904 nm laser; and a slope of -1.14 mW per 30 sec (95%CI: -1.44 to -0.84, p < 0.01) for the 810 nm laser.

Step two (through plastic film)

The plastic film reduced MOP by 3.6%, or 2.3 mW (SEM±1.2), on average from the 904 nm laser; and by 6.6%, or 12.7 mW (SEM±1.0), on average from the 810 nm laser (Table 1). The statistic GEE estimated a slope of 0.16 mW per 30 sec (95%CI: -0.10 to 0.42, p=0.23) for the 904 nm laser; and a slope of -1.00 mW per 30 sec (95%CI: -1.49 to -0.52, p < 0.01) for the 810 nm laser.

Step three (through skin, probe in skin contact)

The two lasers had statistically different skin penetration abilities. The percentage of energy penetrating skin from the 810 nm laser was stable at ~ 20% of MOP (ranging from 19.5% [SEM \pm 0.6] to 20.4% [SEM \pm 0.6]) during the exposure period (Table 1). The statistic GEE estimated slope was -0.26% of MOP per 30 sec (95%CI: -0.35 to -0.17, p < 0.01), whereas the percentage of energy penetrating skin from the 904 nm laser increased almost linearly during the exposure period, from 38.7% of MOP (SEM \pm 1.4) to 58% of MOP (SEM \pm 3.5) (Table 1). The statistic GEE estimated slope was 2.29% per 30 sec (95%CI: 1.69 to 2.88, p < 0.01) for the 904 nm laser.

Comparing the percentage of MOP penetrating skin from the two lasers, there were significant (*t*-test, p < 0.01) differences at all measured time points (Table 1 and Fig. 2).

Step four (through skin, probe not in skin contact)

Both lasers showed the same trends of energy penetrating skin as was the case with the laser probes in skin contact. There were significant (*t*-test, p < 0.01) differences in percentage of MOP penetrating skin from the two lasers at all

Page 4 of 7

SKIN PENETRATION WITH LLLT

(page number not for citation purpose)

		Exposure time (in seconds):						
	n	1	10	30	60	90	120	150
Direct (through air)								
904 nm (mW)	5	64.7	64.3	64.2	64.4	64.6	64.8	65.0
(SEM±)		0.2	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
810 nm (mW)	8	198.3	195.5	192.9	191.2	189.7	189.3	189.5
(SEM±)		1.8	2.1	2.0	1.8	1.8	2.2	1.9
Through plastic film								
904 nm (mW)	5	61.6	61.6	62.1	62.8	62.6	62.3	62.6
(SEM±)		1.6	1.4	1.2	1.2	1.0	0.8	0.8
810 nm (mW)	7	185.5	182.8	180.1	178.4	177.4	176.5	175.7
(SEM±)		0.7	0.8	1.0	1.2	1.2	0.9	1.3
Skin penetration (through	plastic †	film and skin)						
Probe in skin contact	, ,							
904 nm (% of MOP)	62	38.7	42.0	45.1	47.0	54.7	56.3	58.0
(SEM±)		1.4	1.6	1.8	1.9	3.4	3.5	3.5
810 nm (% of MOP)	62	20.4	20.1	19.9	19.5	19.9	19.8	19.8
(SEM±)		0.6	0.7	0.7	0.6	1.3	1.2	1.3
t-test (p)		1.30E-19	1.01E-20	5.58E-21	1.74E-22	3.33E-11	2.70E-11	1.04E-11
Probe not in skin contac	t							
904 nm (% of MOP)	15	36.8	37.6	38.6	41.2	43.6	43.4	44.4
(SEM±)		2.4	2.8	2.8	3.2	3.3	2.9	3.0
810 nm (% of MOP)	9	25.5	25.5	25.5	24.3	24.4	23.1	23.7
(SEM±)		2.2	2.0	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.7	1.5
t-test (p)		3.91E-03	5.92E-03	3.10E-03	1.42E-03	0.46E-03	0.01E-03	0.44E-03

Table 1. Skin Penetration with LLLT Devices. Penetration Time-Profile for Continuous 810 nm and Superpulsed 904 nm Wavelength Lasers in a Rat Model

The mean energy output from two commercial LLLT-lasers, during 150 sec of irradiation: direct into an Optical Power Meter, through plastic film, and through plastic film plus skin (with the LLLT-probe in skin contact and not in skin contact).

LLLT, low-level laser therapy; MOP, mean output powers.

measured time points (Table 1), even though the slope of increased penetration during processing time from the 904 nm laser was smaller than with the probe in skin contact. The statistic GEE estimates a slope of 1.42% of MOP per 30 sec (95%CI: 0.82 to 2.03, p < 0.01) with the probe not in skin contact. In percentages, the amount of energy penetrating skin increased from 36.8% (SEM ± 2.4) to 44.4% (SEM ± 3.0) during exposure (Table 1 and Fig. 2).

In skin contact versus not in skin contact and probe's shape

For the 810 nm laser, the amount of energy penetrating the skin was slightly higher during irradiation than with the

probe in skin contact: The percentage of MOP was ~24% (ranging from 23.1% [SEM \pm 1.7] to 25.5% [SEM \pm 2.2]) during the exposure period with the probe not in skin contact (Table 1 and Fig. 2).

The statistic GEE estimated slope was -0.42% of MOP per 30 sec (95%CI: -1.27 to 0.43, p=0.33).

Irradiation with the laser probe in skin contact versus not in skin contact resulted in a change in skin penetration for both lasers. This change was most likely not attributed to laser parameters, but to the different physical shape of the two probe tips. The 904 nm laser probe has a protruding convex lens, which squeezes the skin when the probe is in skin contact. This will cause better penetration with full skin

FIG. 2. Percentage of mean output powers (MOP) $(\pm$ SEM) penetrating skin during 150 sec of irradiation, from the 904 nm (60 mW, superpulsed) laser and the 810 nm (200 mW, continuous) laser. Data are represented with the laser probe in skin contact and not in skin contact.





FIG. 3. Laser probe tip, the 904 nm laser with a protruding lens (*left*), and the 810 nm laser with a folded up lens (*right*).

contact than with no skin contact. On the other hand, the 810 nm laser probe has a recessed flat window. Here, the metallic ring surrounding the lens will push skin underneath the lens, which leads to less penetration with the probe in skin contact than not in skin contact (Fig. 3).

Discussion

The skin barrier has been a major obstacle for EPAs since they were introduced in the treatment of tissue pathology.²¹ Questions such as how deep can different energy forms penetrate into the body, and what happens in terms of energy loss in this process has intrigued researchers for decades. LLLT has poor penetration ability when compared with other energy forms such as electromagnetic and ultrasound radiation. Nonetheless, it is important to emphasize that the current study demonstrates that between 20 and 58% of the energy delivered to the skin surface is penetrating the rat skin barrier during LLLT irradiation. The important conclusion is therefore that this residual energy should be more than enough to reach the dose threshold for stimulating physiological and tissue repair processes.

The first two steps of the experimental procedure developed as expected, showing that both lasers delivered stable MOP, and that energy loss in a plastic film was negligible and stable. The time-profiles for skin penetration, during 150 sec of exposure, were, however, distinctly different for the two lasers. For the 810 nm continuous laser, the penetration ability stayed at the same level during 150 sec of exposure, whereas the penetration from the 904 nm superpulsed laser increased in an almost linear manner during 150 sec of exposure. The higher skin penetration ability of the 904 nm superpulsed laser increased from +18% initially to +28% at 150 sec of exposure. This time-profile of increased skin penetration ability during exposure time has, to our knowledge, never been demonstrated before. The pronounced differences cannot be explained by different wavelengths alone. According to studies investigating the ability of different wavelengths in light to penetrate skin, a difference of 10^{22} to 15%,²³ could be expected between the wavelengths 800 nm and 900 nm. This leads us to speculate that the irradiation mode is the most likely source for the observed differences in skin penetration. It has previously been suggested that strong pulses may cause a photobleaching effect in the skin barrier over time.²⁴

In the research for identification of possible LLLT doseresponse patterns, we suggested already in 2001 that the different laser wavelengths and irradiation modes should be classified in different categories.²⁵ At that time, the differentiation was governed more by minimizing uncertainty than by solid evidence for these possible differences.

Our current findings contributes to a plausible explanation for different effective doses from 904 nm and 780-860 nm lasers, found in clinical studies and reflected in WALT guidelines.¹⁶ It can be illustrated by an example with two 60 mW MOP lasers, that WALT recommendations of twice as high doses for 810 nm lasers than for 904 nm lasers, as they result in approximately equal amount of energy penetrating the skin. A dose of 4J from an 810 nm, 60 mW, continuous laser, takes 67 sec to deliver. The skin penetration rate with the probe in skin contact is 20%. The cumulated amount of energy penetrating skin is 0.8 J (=20%×0.06 W×67 sec). The delivering of a 21 dose from a 904 nm, 60 mW, superpulsed laser, takes 33 sec. With the probe in skin contact, skin penetration increase linearly from 38 to 45% during 30 sec of exposure (percentages are in accordance with Table 1). The amount of energy penetrating skin cumulates to 0.82J

 $\{=[(38\% \times 0.06 \text{ W}) + (\frac{1}{2} \times [45 - 38\%] \times 0.06 \text{ W})] \times 33 \text{ sec}\}$

In line with our currently demonstrated skin penetration profile, Castano et al.²⁶ found long processing time from superpulsed 810 nm lasers to be more effective than short processing time in inflammatory rat knee arthritis. In Castano's study, all other irradiation parameters were held equal.

In a study with LLLT intervention in induced arthritis in mouse knees, Moriyama et al.¹⁸ found irradiation mode to activate iNOS expression differently. They suggested differently response as an explanation to the significant differences found between superpulsed and continuous irradiation mode from 905 nm lasers. In perspective of our current findings, the amount of energy penetrating skin from superpulsed lasers is more than double the amount of energy from continuous lasers, during 200 sec of exposure. These circumstances could as well be part of the given reason.

This skin penetration profile, with a linear increase in amount of energy passing skin during an irradiated dose from the superpulsed laser, points out processing time as an interesting parameter in LLLT with superpulsed lasers.

In most clinical studies on animals, LLLT irradiation is initiated hours after an injury or injection. In Moriyama's study with increased inflammatory reactions in mouse knees after LLLT, the treatment from a superpulsed laser was 15 min after induced inflammation. Similarly, we found increased edema in rat Achilles tendon treated with 3 J from a superpulsed laser within 30 min after a blunt trauma.²⁷ Whether these increased inflammatory reactions are caused

SKIN PENETRATION WITH LLLT

by too early irradiation after induced injury, or whether the amount of energy penetrating the skin gave a too high dose, is unclear. We need further research on initiation of irradiation and influence of irradiation mode to answer those questions.

Conclusions

In clinical practice, the different skin penetration profiles for superpulsed and continuous lasers will have some clinical implications. In addition to different optimal doses as reflected in WALT guidelines, the penetration profile influences skin temperature during LLLT treatment. We found lower thermal effects in dark skin from 904 nm superpulsed laser than from 810 nm continuous laser in one of our earlier studys.²⁸ This difference in thermal effects from these two lasers can be explained by skin penetration profile. The percentage of energy absorbed in skin during processing time is decreased for superpulsed lasers, whereas it is constant for continuous lasers. In addition, 904 nm superpulsed lasers have better skin penetration initially than do 810 nm continuous lasers (Fig. 2).

Other critical features with the lasers, which are outside the scope of this study, are to what degree output power (peak value), power density (mW/cm²), and spot size (cm²) influence skin penetration.

Other important questions, are "What happens to the skin during LLLT irradiation?" and "Are results from lasers' rat skin penetration applicable to humans?" Few LLLT-studies are concerned with sequelae in the skin during irradiation aiming at tissues beneath the skin. This might be because of the absence of side effects such as skin damage or ablation from LLLT treatment.3 To the latter issue, the photoacceptor processes from irradiation by near infrared light are believed to be the same in all mammalian cells, catalyzed by cytochrome c oxidase.²⁹ Stratum corneum and skin thickness in both rats³⁰ and humans³¹ differs with body site. Most irradiation of the skin is absorbed or scattered in stratum corneum of epidermis,32 and there is considerable similarity in this skin layer thickness between rats³⁰ and humans.³¹ On the other hand, within the research areas of photodynamic therapy and drug metabolisms, the degree of skin permeability and percutaneous absorption differs between rats and humans.^{33–36} Further histology investigations after single and repeated LLLT irradiation of rat and human skin flaps are recommended to elucidate if the observed changes over time in 904 nm penetration are irreversible or permanent.

Author Disclosure Statement

No competing financial interests exist.

References

- Statens strålevern (Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority) (2008). Laser. Oslo, Available at: http://www. nrpa.no/eway/default.aspx?pid=239&trg=Center_6304& LeftMiddle_6254=6262:0:27,4829:1:0:0:::0:0&CenterAndRight_ 6254=6304:0:27,6308:1:0:0:::0:0&Center_6304=6312:84599::1: 6314:1:::0:0 Accessed January 24, 2011.
- Baxter, D.G. (2008). Low-intensity laser therapy, in: *Electro-therapy. Evidence-Based Practice*, 12th ed. T. Watson (ed.). Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, chap. 11, pp. 161–178.

- Bjordal, J.M., Lopes-Martins, R.A.B., Joensen, J., Couppe, C., Ljunggren, A.E., Stergioulas, A., et al. (2008). A systematic review with procedural assessments and meta-analysis of low level laser therapy in lateral elbow tendinopathy (tennis elbow). BMC Musculoskel. Disord. 9, 75.
- Bjordal, J.M., Couppe, C., Chow, R.T., Tuner, J., and Ljunggren, E.A. (2003). A systematic review of low level laser therapy with location-specific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders. Aust. J. Physiother. 49, 107–116.
- Chow, R.T., Johnson, M.I., Lopes–Martins, R.A., and Bjordal, J.M. (2009). Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in the management of neck pain: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised placebo or active-treatment controlled trials. Lancet 374, 1897–1908.
- Millington, P.F., and Wilkinson, R. (1983). Skin. Biological structure and function. Cambridge, U.K.: Cambridge University Press.
- The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy (2006). The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy, U.K. London. Available at: http://www.csp.org.uk/director/members/practice/ rulesandstandards/scopepractice.cfm Accessed January 10, 2011.
- Watson, T. (2008). Introduction: current concepts and clinical decision making in electrotherapy, in: *Electrotherapy. Evidence-Based Practice*, 12th ed. T. Watson, (ed.). Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, chap. 1, pp. 3–10.
- Alaluf, S., Atkins, D., Barrett, K., Blount, M., Carter, N., and Heath, A. (2002). Ethnic variation in melanin content and composition in photoexposed and photoprotected human skin. Pigment Cell Res. 15, 112–118.
- 10. Yamaguchi, Y., Brenner, M., and Hearing, V.J. (2007). The regulation of skin pigmentation. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27, 557–27,561.
- Kwon, K., Son, T., Lee, K.J., and Jung, B. (2009). Enhancement of light propagation depth in skin: cross-validation of mathematical modeling methods. Lasers Med. Sci. 24, 605–615.
- Ackerman, B.H., Reilly, K.J., Guilday, R.E., Patton, M.L., and Haith, L.R. (2007). Quality assurance assessment of the use of linezolid in the treatment of thermal injury patients at a community teaching hospital. J. Burn Care Res. 28, 145–151.
- Kolarova, H., Ditrichova, D., and Wagner, J. (1999). Penetration of the laser light into the skin in vitro. Lasers Surg. Med. 24, 231–235.
- Byrnes, K.R., Waynant, R.W., Ilev, I.K., Wu, X., Barna, L., Smith, K., et al. (2005). Light promotes regeneration and functional recovery and alters the immune response after spinal cord injury. Lasers Surg. Med. 36, 171–185.
- Enwemeka, C.S. (2001). Attenuation and penetration depth of red 632.8 nm and invisible infrared 904 nm light in soft tissues. Laser Ther. 13, 95–101.
- 16. WALT (1994). World Association for Laser Therapy. Available at: http://www.walt.nu/dosage-recommendations .html Accessed October 6, 2011
- Hamblin, M.R., Hashmi, J.T., Huang, Y.Y., Sharma, S.K., Kurup, D.B., De Taboada, L., et al. (2010). Effect of pulsing in low-level light therapy. Lasers Surg. Med. 42, 450–466.
- Moriyama, Y., Nguyen, J., Akens, M., Moriyama, E.H., and Lilge, L. (2009). In vivo effects of low level laser therapy on inducible nitric oxide synthase. Lasers Surg. Med. 41, 227–231.
- Esnouf, A., Wright, P.A., Moore, J.C., and Ahmed, S. (2007). Depth of penetration of an 850nm wavelength low level laser in human skin. Acupunct. Electrother. Res. 32, 81–86.

Page 7 of 7

- Topping, A., Gault, D., Grobbelaar, A., Sanders, R., Green, C., and Linge, C. (2001). Does low penetration of human skin by the normal mode ruby laser account for poor permanent depilatory success rates? Lasers Med. Sci. 16, 224–229.
- Robertson, V., Ward, A., Low, J., and Reed, A. (2006). Electrotherapy explained. Principles and practice. 4th ed. Edinbourgh: Butterworth Heinemann.
- Bashkatov, A.N., Genina, E.A., Kochubey, V.I., and Tuchin, V.V.(2005). Optical properties of human skin, subcutaneous and mucous tissues in the wavelength range from 400 to 2000 nm. J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys. 38, 2543–2555.
- Ackermann, G., Hartmann, M., Scherer, K., Lang, E.W., Hohenleutner, U., Landthaler, M., et al. (2002). Correlations between light penetration into skin and the therapeutic outcome following laser therapy of port-wine stains. Lasers Med. Sci. 17, 70–78.
- Kawano, H., Nabekawa, Y., Suda, A., Oishi, Y., Mizuno, H., Miyawaki, A., et al. (2003). Attenuation of photobleaching in two-photon excitation fluorescence from green fluorescent protein with shaped excitation pulses. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 311, 592–596.
- Bjordal, J., Couppé, C., and Ljunggreen, A. (2001). Low level laser therapy for tendinopathy. Evidence of a dose-response pattern. Phys. Ther. Rev. 6, 91–99.
- Castano, A.P., Dai, T., Yaroslavsky, I., Cohen, R., Apruzzese, W.A., Smotrich, M.H., et al.(2007). Low-level laser therapy for zymosan-induced arthritis in rats: Importance of illumination time. Lasers Surg. Med. 39, 543–550.
- Joensen, J., Gjerdet, N.R., Hummelsund, S., Iversen, V., Lopes–Martins, R.A., and Bjordal, J.M. (2012). An experimental study of low-level laser therapy in rat Achilles tendon injury. Lasers Med. Sci. 27, 103–111
- Joensen, J., Demmink, J.H., Johnson, M.I., Iversen, V.V., Lopes–Martins, R.A., and Bjordal, J.M. (2011). The thermal effects of therapeutic lasers with 810 nm and 904 nm wavelengths on human skin. Photomed. Laser Surg. 29, 145–153.

- Karu, T. (2007). Lecture 7, in: *Ten Lectures on Basic Science of Laser Phototherapy*, Grängesberg, Sweden: Prima Books AB Lecture 7, pp. 195–238.
- Bronaugh, R.L., Stewart, R.F., and Congdon, E.R. (1983). Differences in permeability of rat skin related to sex and body site. J. Soc. Cosmet. Chem. 34, 127–135.
- Sandby–Moller, J., Poulsen, T., and Wulf, H.C. (2003). Epidermal thickness at different body sites: relationship to age, gender, pigmentation, blood content, skin type and smoking habits. Acta Derm Venereol. 83, 410–413.
- Kollias, N. (1995). The physical basis of skin color and its evaluation. Clin. Dermatol. 13, 361–367.
- 33. Pappinen, S., Hermansson, M., Kuntsche, J., Somerharju, P., Wertz, P., Urtti, A., et al. (2008). Comparison of rat epidermal keratinocyte organotypic culture (ROC) with intact human skin: Lipid composition and thermal phase behavior of the stratum corneum. BBA Biomembranes 1778, 824–834.
- van Ravenzwaay, B., and Leibold, E.(2004). A comparison between in vitro rat and human and in vivo rat skin absorption studies. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 23, 421–430.
- Suhonen, T.M., Pasonen-Seppanen, S., Kirjavainen, M., Tammi, M., Tammi, R., and Urtti, A.(2003). Epidermal cell culture model derived from rat keratinocytes with permeability characteristics comparable to human cadaver skin. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 20, 107–113.
- Schmook, F.P., Meingassner, J.G., and Billich, A.(2001). Comparison of human skin or epidermis models with human and animal skin in in-vitro percutaneous absorption. International journal of pharmaceutics. 215, 51–56.

Address correspondence to: Jon Joensen Mollendalsveien 6 N-5009 Bergen Norway

E-mail: jon.joensen@hib.no

X694



An experimental study of low-level laser therapy in rat Achilles tendon injury

Jon Joensen • Nils Roar Gjerdet • Steinar Hummelsund • Vegard Iversen • Rodrigo Alvaro B. Lopes-Martins • Jan Magnus Bjordal

Received: 29 November 2010 / Accepted: 6 April 2011 / Published online: 6 May 2011 © The Author(s) 2011. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract The aim of this controlled animal study was to investigate the effect of low-level laser therapy (LLLT) administered 30 min after injury to the Achilles tendon. The study animals comprised 16 Sprague Dawley male rats divided in two groups. The right Achilles tendons were injured by blunt trauma using a mini guillotine, and were treated with LLLT or placebo LLLT 30 min later. The injury and LLLT procedures were then repeated 15 hours later on the same tendon. One group received active LLLT (λ =

J. Joensen · S. Hummelsund Department of Physiotherapy, Faculty of Health and Social Science, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway

J. Joensen (⊠) · J. M. Bjordal Physiotherapy Research Group, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway e-mail: jon.joensen@hib.no

N. R. Gjerdet Department of Clinical Dentistry, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

V. Iversen Faculty of Education, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway

R. A. B. Lopes-Martins

Laboratory of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Pharmacology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences, University of São Paulo, Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, Brazil

J. M. Bjordal

Centre for Evidence-Based Practice, Bergen University College, Bergen, Norway

904 nm, 60 mW mean output power, 0.158 W/cm² for 50 s, energy 3 J) and the other group received placebo LLLT 23 hours after LLLT. Ultrasonographic images were taken to measure the thickness of the right and left Achilles tendons. Animals were then killed, and all Achilles tendons were tested for ultimate tensile strength (UTS). All analyses were performed by blinded observers. There was a significant increase in tendon thickness in the active LLLT group when compared with the placebo group (p < 0.05) and there were no significant differences between the placebo and uninjured left tendons. There were no significant differences in UTS between laser-treated, placebo-treated and uninjured tendons. Laser irradiation of the Achilles tendon at 0.158 W/cm² for 50 s (3 J) administered within the first 30 min after blunt trauma, and repeated after 15 h, appears to lead to edema of the tendon measured 23 hours after LLLT. The guillotine blunt trauma model seems suitable for inflicting tendon injury and measuring the effects of treatment on edema by ultrasonography and UTS. More studies are needed to further refine this model.

Keywords LLLT · Acute injury · Rat Achilles · Ultrasonographic imaging · Edema · Ultimate tensile strength

Introduction

Animal models are commonly used in tendon disorder research. They have the advantages of incorporating invasive evaluation techniques, and the possibility for detailed tissue examination and analysis of biochemical substances. These models may be useful in reproducing some aspects of human tendon disorders because in animal models it is easier to control single factors. In experimental studies on animal tendons, partial or total surgical tenotomy is the most commonly used method for inducing injury [1–8]. Another, nonsurgical, method of injury induction has been introduced in a few studies of tendons in small rodents [9–11]. In this model, an external blunt trauma is inflicted by a mini guillotine where a block falls down from a fixed height and crushes the tendon. After such an injury in a mini guillotine, significant histological changes have been found when compared to healthy tendons [9–11]. However, other relevant outcome measures such as edema and the tendon's ability to withstand load, have not yet been investigated.

The primary purpose of tendons is to transmit tensile load from muscles to bone insertions. Their biomechanical properties can be measured by their ultimate tensile strength (UTS). UTS is an outcome measure of a the tendon's ability to tolerate tensile load and elongation [12]. In two studies on rat tendons where UTS was used as an outcome measure, healthy rat Achilles tendon had UTS values of 42.5 ± 5.5 N (mean \pm SD) [13] and 48 ± 11.0 N [14].

Low-level laser therapy (LLLT) is considered to act in a biomodulatory manner through light absorption by photoreceptors, which stimulates cells and modulates inflammatory processes [15-19]. Studies performed in a variety of different pathological conditions including injured animal tendons are frequent in the LLLT literature. In most of these LLLT studies, tendons were treated daily for 3 to 21 days [1-5, 9, 11]. Observed histopathological changes in tendons receiving LLLT include increased collagen production [1], improved collagen bundle organization [2-4, 11], and an increased number of small blood vessels [9]. Some studies have investigated the effect of LLLT within the first 24 h after an acute inflammation. After induction of inflammation followed by three or four LLLT sessions, tissue receiving LLLT exhibited reduced concentrations of inflammatory markers and cells compared to no-treatment controls [20, 21].

In the clinical setting tendon disorders are common. Tendon loading seems to be a risk factor for developing tendon disorders, particularly in the upper extremities among manual workers [22] and in the lower extremities among athletes [23]. Acute tendinitis may occur after unfamiliar repetitive movement, friction and pressure during tendon loading, and is often seen in the Achilles tendons of military recruits after long marches [24]. Chronic tendinopathies have a more complex etiology and manifestation, and development of chronic tendinopathies may be gradual and less clearly associated with tendon loading episodes. Age seems to be of importance, and partial or complete tendon ruptures are strongly correlated with age [25]. Developing experimental animal models which accurately mimic the clinical situation in chronic tendinopathies is a challenge, and the ultimate experimental

model has yet to be found [26]. Soslowsky et al. [27] developed a rat model of repetitive loading of the supraspinatus in treadmill running, but some aspects including genetics and the influence of pre-experimental structural tendon defects, have not been catered for. Another, as yet unused, possibility for mimicking tendinopathies is to repeat infliction of injury by blunt trauma.

During the last two decades, ultrasonographic imaging (US) has become a popular diagnostic tool for assessment of musculoskeletal disorders [28]. US is reported to have high accuracy in diagnosing disorders in superficial human tendons [28–30].

The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of LLLT administered 30 min after an Achilles tendon injury inflicted by a mini guillotine. The outcome was measured as tendon edema on US and tendon tensile strength.

Method

Animals

The study animals comprised 16 male rats (Sprague Dawley SD M; Taconic Europe, Denmark) weighing 250–300 g, which were divided in two groups. The rats were housed four and four in individually ventilated cages under a light cycle of 12 hours light/12 hours dark, in an atmosphere of humidity 55% and a temperature range of 20–22°C, and with water and food ad libitum.

Instruments

Mini guillotine The mini guillotine comprised a block weight of 200 g with a blunt edge 2 mm wide that was dropped from 20 cm guided by supports (Fig. 1).

Laser The laser emitted radiation at a wavelength 904 nm (Irradia, Sweden) and was operated in pulsed mode. The peak power was 20 W, the pulse width 200 ns and the frequency 700 Hz. The mean output power was 60 mW, the spot size 0.38 cm^2 and the power density 60 mW/0.38 cm² (=0.158 W/cm²). Two identical single diode laser probes were use, one with active laser and the other an inactive/ placebo probe. Irradiation was applied for 50 s. Thus 3 J was delivered from the active laser.

Ultrasonography The US instrument was a GE Logiq e (GE Healthcare, Minneapolis, MN) with a 12 MHz linear probe.

Material test system A servohydraulic testing machine (MTS 810; MTS, Minneapolis, MN) equipped with a calibrated load cell of 500 N and a position transducer of 100 mm was used.



Fig. 1 a Mini guillotine with rat positioned for Achilles injury. **b** (*insert*) Close-up of the tendon crush location

The deformation rate was 0.25 mm/s. The load and deformation data were sampled continuously during the test.

Experimental procedure

One investigator (J.M.B.) labeled one laser probe with blue tape and the other with yellow tape. The code for active and placebo probes were not disclosed until the statistical analysis was done. The laser probe output was then measured to determine which probe had been the active one. The main outcome measures were tendon thickness (including the peritendon) as measured on ultrasonographic images and UTS. The study was approved by the local animal laboratory committee at the University of Bergen (application no. 20102676).

The experimental procedure (Fig. 2) was carried out in six steps:

 The animal was anesthetized with isoflurane (Isoba) using an Isotec vaporizer. Under anesthesia, the animal's right ankle was positioned in full dorsal flexion in the mini guillotine such that the edge of the block hit just proximal to the insertion on the calcaneus (Fig. 1). This procedure was carried out by J.J. After injury, the animal's tail was marked to distinguish it from others in the cage, and was put back into the cage. All animals in each group were subjected to this procedure.

- 2. Half an hour after injury, the animal was again anesthetized and the injured area was treated for 50 s with either active (3 J) or placebo LLLT delivered to one single point (performed by J.J.). A new mark was put on the tail. This treatment procedure was repeated in all eight animals in each group.
- 3. The next day, 15 h after the first injury, the same area of the right Achilles tendon was again injured using the guillotine according to the procedure in step 1 and half an hour after later the area was treated for 50 s with LLLT according to the procedure in step 2. This procedure was performed by J.J.
- 4. On day three, 23 h after the second injury, US was performed bilaterally on the right and left Achilles tendon (carried out by S.H.). The imaging depth was set to 2 cm, with three focus areas around the first centimeter (Fig. 3). The animal was anesthetized and the Achilles tendon area was scanned in both the longitudinal and transverse planes, two images in both planes. The longitudinal plane was scanned with the whole length of the Achilles tendon in the image. Tendon thickness (including peritendon) in the longitudinal plane images was measured from the os calcaneus up to the deeper layer of the skin (Fig. 3). When scanning the Achilles tendon and the adjacent structures in the transverse plane the probe was moved distally from the knee until it met the os Calcaneus, and images were acquired in this position. The thickness in the transverse plane was measured as the vertical distance within the anterior and posterior border of the peritendon. In the statistical analyses the averages of the measurements from two US images were used. Each animal's tail was marked after the US scan was complete.
- 5. The animals were anesthetized 2 h later and given 0.4 ml intraperitoneal anesthetic (Mebumal 50 mg/ml; 1 ml contains 54.9 mg pentobarbital sodium, 400 g propylene glycol, 150 mg strong alcohol and distilled water to 1 ml). The animals were killed by injection of 1 ml saturated potassium chloride solution to cause cardiac arrest. The skin overlying the right gastrocnemius muscle was released from the calcaneus to the proximal part of the triceps surae muscle. The Achilles tendon was then released with scissors, and the muscle fibers were removed from the tendons with a scalpel. Water containing 9% sodium chloride was sprayed over the tendon. The tendon was put into a small plastic bag, labeled and stored in a refrigerator at 4°C. The same



Fig. 2 The experiment time schedule

procedure was used for the left Achilles, and on all animals. This was carried out by J.J.

6. The tendons were subjected to UTS testing 3 h after release. The proximal end of the Achilles tendon was sprinkled with 250 μm alumina powder before it was gripped in a clamp to prevent sliding. A special conically designed grip for the distal end of Achilles tendon was used. In this grip the os calcaneus was used as a plug to obtain the optimal tendon grip [31, 32] (Fig. 4). The maximal load for each tendon at failure was recorded. The procedure was performed by OJ.L. and N.R.G.

Statistical analysis

Differences between injured right Achilles and healthy left Achilles tendons were analyzed using a paired *t*-test, and differences between groups were analyzed using the *t*-test in SPSS (version 18) from Microsoft.

Results

The thickness of the injured right and the healthy left Achilles tendons in the longitudinal US images were significantly different (p<0.05) in the active LLLT group (Table 1), but were not significantly different in the placebo LLLT group (p=0.35; Table 1). The mean thickness of the injured right Achilles tendon was 0.93±0.03 mm in the active LLLT group and 0.73±0.07 mm in the placebo LLLT group, and the mean thickness of the healthy left Achilles tendon (including the peritendon) was 0.69±0.07 mm and 0.70±0.10 mm, respectively.

In the transverse US images the difference between the injured right and the healthy left Achilles tendon was



Fig. 3 Longitudinal US images with tendon thickness measurements. Active LLLT group 2) left and right Achilles tendon (rat 5), 0.70 mm and 0.93 mm, respectively



Fig. 4 A rat Achilles tendon at the moment of rupture during UTS testing

significant (p < 0.05) in the active LLLT group (Table 1), but was not significant the placebo LLLT group (p=0.16; Table 1). The mean transverse thickness of the injured right Achilles tendon was 0.70 ± 0.10 mm in the active LLLT group and 0.63 ± 0.14 mm in the placebo LLLT group. The mean thickness of the healthy left Achilles tendon in the two groups was 0.51 ± 0.07 mm and 0.57 ± 0.07 mm, respectively.

There were no significant differences in UTS between the injured right and healthy left Achilles tendon in the active LLLT group or in the placebo LLLT group (Table 1). The mean UTS in the injured right Achilles tendon was 51.11 ± 9.77 N in the active LLLT group and 57.64 ± 7.80 N in the placebo LLLT group. The mean UTS in the healthy left Achilles tendon was 53.94 ± 9.80 N in the active LLLT group and 59.66 ± 11.86 N in the placebo LLLT group.

Discussion

Biomechanical test methods are commonly used in the evaluation of surgically induced tendon injuries [31–33]. The UTS values are fairly low during the first 2 weeks after tenotomy and previous studies have avoided UTS testing in models where tendons are not seriously weakened by sharp trauma. Measuring UTS after tendon injury induced by a mini guillotine has to our knowledge not previously been reported in the literature. After a standardized injury in a mini guillotine, rat tendons show histopathological changes [9–11]. However, we found no differences in the biomechanical properties as revealed by UTS between injured and healthy rat Achilles tendons 1–2 days after injury. Similar UTS values have been found in rat Achilles tendons subjected to carrageenan injection [34].

A major technical challenge in UTS testing of healthy rat Achilles tendons is to obtain a reliable, nonsliding grip of the proximal end of the tendon. We have found only two studies investigating UTS of healthy rat Achilles tendons, possibly because grip slippage before the tendon ruptures. In this study we succeeded in developing a grip with a combination of rolling the tendon around conical anchors, and the application of alumina powder to enhance friction. Thus, grip-induced rupture was avoided, and most tendons ruptured a few millimeters from the distal grip with forces up to 75.2 N.

The standard deviation of the UTS of healthy rat Achilles tendons is ± 10 N (present results, and references [14] and [34]) and the difference between healthy and injured tendons is typically 2–3 N. Thus, in future studies with the mini guillotine and UTS, the injury procedure will have to be refined in order to weaken the tendon sufficiently to obtain significant decreases in UTS values after injury.

An irradiation dose of 3 J is commonly used in clinical practice in human inflammatory conditions and was taken from the dose recommendations of the World Association for Laser Therapy (WALT) [35]. In retrospect, this may

Table 1 Thickness (means±SD) of the injured and healthy Achilles tendons and mean differences in thickness as measured by US and UTS (n=8)

	Group	View	Tendon thickness	95% CI	p value		
		Right (injured)	Left (healthy)	Difference (injured-healthy)			
US	Placebo LLLT	Longitudinal	0.73±0.03	$0.70 {\pm} 0.10$	0.03±0.09	-0.04 to 0.11	0.35
		Transverse	0.63 ± 0.14	$0.57 {\pm} 0.07$	0.07±0.12	-0.03 to 0.17	0.16
	Active LLLT	Longitudinal	$0.93 {\pm} 0.03$	$0.69 {\pm} 0.07$	$0.24{\pm}0.07$	0.18 to 0.30	0.00*
		Transverse	$0.70 {\pm} 0.10$	$0.51 {\pm} 0.07$	0.19 ± 0.10	0.10 to 0.27	0.00*
UTS	Placebo LLLT		57.64±7.80	59.66±11.86	-2.02 ± 15.09	-14.64 to 10.60	0.72
	Active LLLT		51.11±9.77	$53.94{\pm}9.80$	-2.83 ± 10.76	-11.82 to 6.16	0.48

**p*≤0.05.

have been too high for rat Achilles tendon pathology. Optimal irradiation doses from 904-nm lasers in rat muscles seem to be closer to 1 J. In a new study with LLLT, doses of 0.1, 0.3, 1.0 and 3.0 J were used to prevent skeletal muscle fatigue and possible muscle damage. All irradiated groups except the group irradiated at a dose of 3.0 J had significantly lower post-exercise creatine kinase activity than the control group immediately after the contraction tests [36]. If these doses translate to rat Achilles tendons, it could explain the nonsignificant differences, but not the increased edema observed in the active LLLT group.

In the current study there was an interval of 15 h between the two LLLT irradiations. There are very few studies in which there was an interval of less than 24 h between irradiations. Thus, we cannot rule out the possibility that an interval of 15 h was too short and resulted in negative effects of LLLT. This is clearly an area where more research is needed. A more likely explanation for the increased edema in the active LLLT group could be an indirect consequence of symptomatic pain reduction from LLLT leading to increased activity causing more edema [37, 38]. Reduced pain sensation from the injured tissue could promote physical activity, and this may result in a temporary increase in edema at the site of injury during the 23 h between the LLLT irradiation session and the US examination [39].

The timing of LLLT irradiation in the acute phase of inflammation is seldom discussed in the literature, but it can be crucial for achieving positive effects. In some animal studies, LLLT treatment has been found to reduce edema, and is typically been measured 4 hours after injury [40–42]. Thus, we did not expect to find an increase in edema after a single LLLT treatment 30 min after injury. We speculate that the unexpected differences between the results may be explained by differences in study design. Scrutiny of the design of other similar LLLT studies showed that LLLT has mainly been administered later than 30 min after injury [42] and/or that the treatment procedure included more than a single LLLT session [2, 3, 9, 21, 40, 41].

It is known that LLLT energy acts on biological processes [43]. We therefore considered the cascade of responses in the acute phase of inflammation, and in particular which processes are dominant in the first half hour. The immediate response in the innate immunity after an injury is activation of signal transduction mechanisms. Immediate genes activated within the first half hour of inflammation are mainly transcription factors [44, 45]. Among these expressed cytokine gene is mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) [46]. Three well-characterized subfamilies of MAPK are stress-activated protein kinases/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases (ERK) [44, 47, 48]. Peak times for kinases have been established for JNK, p38 and ERK in tendon cells,

smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells and cardiac fibroblasts. JNK, p38 and ERK increase rapidly, and they reach a maximum within 10 to 30 min [49–52]. The impact of JNK, p38 and ERK on edema has been investigated in rodent paw models and brain injury models using inhibitors for JNK, p38 and ERK, respectively. Tested selectively, all these inhibitors reduce the development of edema, and consequently JNK, p38 and ERK may increase edema development [53–56].

The effect from LLLT (632.8 nm, 4.5 mW) on JNK, p38 and ERK has been investigated in skeletal muscle cells. LLLT does not increase JNK and p38 activation or protein expression, but LLLT induces protein translation through ERK pathways [57, 58]. Perhaps the unexpected increase in edema development in the LLLT group in our study can be explained through a stimulation of the ERK pathway. But this is speculative as we did not measure any of the outcomes needed to confirm or refute this theory.

We also explored studies with LLLT irradiation within the first half hour after injury (injection or surgery) with regard to edema development. In a previous study by members of our research group [40], different timing protocols for LLLT (650 nm) were used. Carrageenan was injected into rat paws and edema was measured 1 to 4 h later. The main conclusion was that LLLT has an antiinflammatory effect in most cases, but one group treated with LLLT had developed increased edema 10 min after injection compared to controls.

Some clinical studies in dentistry have evaluated the effect of LLLT on edema development immediately after surgery [59–64]. The timing of LLLT administration was not explicitly reported, but in two studies report the duration of surgery was 19 min [63, 64]. In one study, LLLT given immediately after surgery was found to have increased edema at 3 days, but not at 7 days [62]. Two studies with adequate doses found reduced edema [63, 64]. In three studies LLLT doses did not meet the WALT dose recommendations for LLLT. One study used a scanning mode for application of the laser beam [61], and the other two used doses that were too low (<1 J) [59, 60].

Even though the results regarding edema development in studies in which LLLT was used within the first half hour after injury are arbitrary, it is not unlikely that LLLT irradiation within the first half hour after an injury will temporarily increase edema. This finding has important clinical implications, as it has been an open question as to when is the earliest time-point for effective LLLT administration. Interestingly, in some studies LLLT has been administered before muscle damage or the onset of inflammatory process with good results on other outcome measures [36, 65]. This indicates that the negative effect on edema development is restricted to inflammation.
Our decision to use the mini guillotine model was an attempt to mimic a tendon disorder with inflammatory components. Signs of inflammation are present in acute and mild tendinopathies [66, 67]. In previous studies using the mini guillotine injury method in rodents, the injured tendons have shown inflammatory reactions [9-11]. The significant increase in thickness of the injured tendons supports the suitability of the mini guillotine model for causing Achilles tendinopathy in the rat. The mini guillotine model has the advantage of being easier to use than overuse models such as the treadmill running model of Soslowsky et al. [68]. None of these models involves penetration of the skin and therefore they avoid the risk of infection during the injury procedure. The surgical procedure of tenotomy does introduce a risk for infection, and it may also be questioned as to how relevant this model for investigation of tendinopathies.

The use of animal models in research on human tendinopathies has its limitations. There are obvious anatomical differences between bipeds and quadrupeds. This affects the validity of using animal models to study tendinopathies, and limits extrapolation of the findings in animal studies to human tendinopathies. Whether effective laser parameters in small rodent models can be extrapolated to humans remains uncertain and additional clinical studies in humans to verify or repute the findings are called for.

Conclusion

Laser irradiation at 0.158 W/cm² for 50 s (3 J) administered within the first half hour after two blunt trauma injuries15 h apart appeared to increase edema in the rat Achilles tendon measured at 23 h after LLLT.

The UTS of the rat Achilles tendon was not decreased significantly after two blunt traumas inflicted by a mini guillotine. This experimental model appears useful for investigating the optimal timing and effect of therapies in acute tendon injuries. In this model, edema can be reliably measured by US, and tendon UTS can be reliably tested in both healthy and weakened rat Achilles tendons. There is a need to further refine the experimental procedure to achieve a weakening of the rat Achilles tendon. Further studies with this model should include variations in the intervals between traumas, the timing of treatment, the number of LLLT sessions and the power densities.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Reddy GK, Stehno-Bittel L, Enwemeka CS (1998) Laser photostimulation of collagen production in healing rabbit Achilles tendons. Lasers Surg Med 22(5):281–287
- Carrinho PM, Renno AC, Koeke P, et al (2006) Comparative study using 685-nm and 830-nm lasers in the tissue repair of tenotomized tendons in the mouse. Photomed Laser Surg 24 (6):754–758
- Arruda E, Rodrigues N, Taciro C, Parizotto N (2007) Influences of different low level laser therapy wavelengths in rat tendon regeneration after tenotomy. Rev Bras Fisioter 11 (4):247–252
- Elwakil TF (2007) An in-vivo experimental evaluation of He-Ne laser photostimulation in healing Achilles tendons. Lasers Med Sci 22(1):53–59.
- Ng GY, Fung DT (2008) The combined treatment effects of therapeutic laser and exercise on tendon repair. Photomed Laser Surg 26(2):137–141
- Chan HK, Fung DT, Ng GY (2007) Effects of low-voltage microamperage stimulation on tendon healing in rats. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 37(7):399–403
- Yeung CK, Guo X, Ng YF (2006) Pulsed ultrasound treatment accelerates the repair of Achilles tendon rupture in rats. J Orthop Res 24(2):193–201
- See EK, Ng GY, Ng CO, Fung DT (2004) Running exercises improve the strength of a partially ruptured Achilles tendon. Br J Sports Med 38(5):597–600
- Salate AC, Barbosa G, Gaspar P, et al (2005) Effect of In-Ga-Al-P diode laser irradiation on angiogenesis in partial ruptures of Achilles tendon in rats. Photomed Laser Surg 23(5):470–475
- Fillipin LI, Mauriz JL, Vedovelli K, et al (2005) Low-level laser therapy (LLLT) prevents oxidative stress and reduces fibrosis in rat traumatized Achilles tendon. Lasers Surg Med 37 (4):293–300
- Oliveira FS, Pinfildi CE, Parizoto NA, et al (2009) Effect of low level laser therapy (830 nm) with different therapy regimes on the process of tissue repair in partial lesion calcaneus tendon. Lasers Surg Med 41(4):271–276
- Nordin M, Frankel VH (2001) Basic biomechanics of the musculoskeletal system, 3rd edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore
- Kilkelly FX, Choma TJ, Popovic N, et al (1996) Tendon repair by laser welding: a histologic and biomechanical comparison and suture repair with CO2 and argon lasers. Lasers Surg Med 19:487–491
- Wieloch P, Buchmann G, Roth W, Rickert M (2004) A cryo-jaw designed for in vitro tensile testing of the healing Achilles tendons in rats. J Biomech 37(11):1719–1722
- Karu T (1999) Primary and secondary mechanisms of action of visible to near-IR radiation on cells. J Photochem Photobiol B 49 (1):1–17
- Karu TI (2008) Mitochondrial signaling in mammalian cells activated by red and near-IR radiation. Photochem Photobiol 84 (5):1091–1099
- Karu TI, Pyatibrat LV, Kolyakov SF, Afanasyeva NI (2008) Absorption measurements of cell monolayers relevant to mechanisms of laser phototherapy: reduction or oxidation of cytochrome c oxidase under laser radiation at 632.8 nm. Photomed Laser Surg 26(6):593–599
- Gao X, Xing D (2009) Molecular mechanisms of cell proliferation induced by low power laser irradiation. J Biomed Sci 16:4
- Moriyama Y, Nguyen J, Akens M, Moriyama EH, Lilge L (2009) In vivo effects of low level laser therapy on inducible nitric oxide synthase. Lasers Surg Med 41(3):227–231

- Aimbire F, Albertini R, Pacheco MT, et al (2006) Low-level laser therapy induces dose-dependent reduction of TNFalpha levels in acute inflammation. Photomed Laser Surg 24(1):33– 37
- Correa F, Lopes Martins RA, Correa JC, et al (2007) Low-level laser therapy (GaAs lambda =904 nm) reduces inflammatory cell migration in mice with lipopolysaccharide-induced peritonitis. Photomed Laser Surg 25(4):245–249
- Silverstein BA, Viikari-Juntura E, Fan ZJ, et al (2006) Natural course of nontraumatic rotator cuff tendinitis and shoulder symptoms in a working population. Scand J Work Environ Health 32(2):99–108
- Lian OB, Engebretsen L, Bahr R (2005) Prevalence of jumper's knee among elite athletes from different sports: a cross-sectional study. Am J Sports Med 33(4):561–567
- Darre EM, Klokker M, Lund P, et al (1994) Laser therapy of Achilles tendinitis. Ugeskr Laeger 156(45):6680–6683
- Murrell GA, Walton JR (2001) Diagnosis of rotator cuff tears. Lancet 357(9258):769–770
- Warden SJ (2007) Animal models for the study of tendinopathy. Br J Sports Med 41(4):232–240
- Soslowsky LJ, Thomopoulos S, Tun S, et al (2000) Neer Award 1999. Overuse activity injures the supraspinatus tendon in an animal model: a histologic and biomechanical study. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 9(2):79–84
- Jacobson JA (2009) Musculoskeletal ultrasound: focused impact on MRI. AJR Am J Roentgenol 193(3):619–627
- Warden SJ, Kiss ZS, Malara FA, et al (2007) Comparative accuracy of magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography in confirming clinically diagnosed patellar tendinopathy. Am J Sports Med 35(3):427–436
- Campbell RS, Grainger AJ (2001) Current concepts in imaging of tendinopathy. Clin Radiol 56(4):253–267
- 31. Dimmen S, Engebretsen L, Nordsletten L, Madsen JE (2009) Negative effects of parecoxib and indomethacin on tendon healing: an experimental study in rats. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 17(7):835–839
- Forslund C, Bylander B, Aspenberg P (2003) Indomethacin and celecoxib improve tendon healing in rats. Acta Orthop Scand 74 (4):465–469
- Forslund C, Aspenberg P (2001) Tendon healing stimulated by injected CDMP-2. Med Sci Sports Exerc 33(5):685–687
- 34. Marsolais D, Duchesne E, Cote CH, Frenette J (2007) Inflammatory cells do not decrease the ultimate tensile strength of intact tendons in vivo and in vitro: protective role of mechanical loading. J Appl Physiol 102(1):11–17
- World Association for Laser Therapy (2010) Dosage recommendations. Recommended treatment doses for low level laser therapy. http://www.walt.nu/dosage-recommendations.html. Accessed 27 Apr 2011
- 36. Leal Junior EC, Lopes-Martins RA, de Almeida P, et al (2010) Effect of low-level laser therapy (GaAs 904 nm) in skeletal muscle fatigue and biochemical markers of muscle damage in rats. Eur J Appl Physiol 108(6):1083–1088
- Bjordal JM, Couppe C, Chow RT, Tuner J, Ljunggren EA (2003) A systematic review of low level laser therapy with locationspecific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders. Aust J Physiother 49(2):107–116
- Bjordal JM, Lopes-Martins RA, Joensen J, et al (2008) A systematic review with procedural assessments and metaanalysis of low level laser therapy in lateral elbow tendinopathy (tennis elbow). BMC Musculoskelet Disord 9:75
- Slatyer MA, Hensley MJ, Lopert R (1997) A randomized controlled trial of piroxicam in the management of acute ankle sprain in Australian Regular Army recruits. The Kapooka Ankle Sprain Study. Am J Sports Med 25(4):544–553

- 40. Albertini R, Aimbire FS, Correa FI, et al (2004) Effects of different protocol doses of low power gallium-aluminum-arsenate (Ga-Al-As) laser radiation (650 nm) on carrageenan induced rat paw oedema. J Photochem Photobiol B 74(2–3):101–107
- 41. Barbosa AM, Villaverde AB, Guimarães-Souza L, et al (2008) Effect of low-level laser therapy in the inflammatory response induced by Bothrops jararacussu snake venom. Toxicon 51 (7):1236–1244
- 42. Bortone F, Santos HA, Albertini R, et al (2008) Low level laser therapy modulates kinin receptors mRNA expression in the subplantar muscle of rat paw subjected to carrageenan-induced inflammation. Int Immunopharmacol 8(2):206–210
- Karu T (2007) Ten lectures on basic science of laser phototherapy. Prima Books, Grängesberg, Sweden
- 44. Kindt TJ, Goldsby RA, Osborne BA (2007) Kuby immunology, 6th edn. Freeman, New York
- Koj A (1996) Initiation of acute phase response and synthesis of cytokines. Biochim Biophys Acta 1317(2):84–94
- Pearson G, Robinson F, Beers Gibson T, et al (2001) Mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase pathways: regulation and physiological functions. Endocr Rev 22(2):153–183
- Zarubin T, Han J (2005) Activation and signaling of the p38 MAP kinase pathway. Cell Res 15(1):11–18
- Robinson MJ, Cobb MH (1997) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Curr Opin Cell Biol 9(2):180–186
- MacKenna DA, Dolfi F, Vuori K, Ruoslahti E (1998) Extracellular signal-regulated kinase and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase activation by mechanical stretch is integrin-dependent and matrix-specific in rat cardiac fibroblasts. J Clin Invest 101(2):301–310
- Arnoczky SP, Tian T, Lavagnino M, et al (2002) Activation of stress-activated protein kinases (SAPK) in tendon cells following cyclic strain: the effects of strain frequency, strain magnitude, and cytosolic calcium. J Orthop Res 20(5):947–952
- 51. Kyaw M, Yoshizumi M, Tsuchiya K, Kirima K, Tamaki T (2001) Antioxidants inhibit JNK and p38 MAPK activation but not ERK 1/2 activation by angiotensin II in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Hypertens Res 24(3):251–261
- Werle M, Schmal U, Hanna K, Kreuzer J (2002) MCP-1 induces activation of MAP-kinases ERK, JNK and p38 MAPK in human endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Res 56(2):284–292
- 53. Claudino RF, Kassuya CA, Ferreira J, Calixto JB (2006) Pharmacological and molecular characterization of the mechanisms involved in prostaglandin E2-induced mouse paw edema. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318(2):611–618
- Yatsushige H, Ostrowski RP, Tsubokawa T, Colohan A, Zhang JH (2007) Role of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosci Res 85(7):1436–1448
- Chopra P, Kulkarni O, Gupta S, et al (2010) Pharmacological profile of AW-814141, a novel, potent, selective and orally active inhibitor of p38 MAP kinase. Int Immunopharmacol 10(4):467– 473
- Mori T, Wang X, Aoki T, Lo EH (2002) Downregulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and attenuation of edema via inhibition of ERK mitogen activated protein kinase in traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 19(11):1411–1419
- Shefer G, Oron U, Irintchev A, Wernig A, Halevy O (2001) Skeletal muscle cell activation by low-energy laser irradiation: a role for the MAPK/ERK pathway. J Cell Physiol 187(1):73–80
- Shefer G, Partridge TA, Heslop L, et al (2002) Low-energy laser irradiation promotes the survival and cell cycle entry of skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Sci 115(Pt 7):1461–1469
- Taube S, Piironen J, Ylipaavalniemi P (1990) Helium-neon laser therapy in the prevention of postoperative swelling and pain after wisdom tooth extraction. Proc Finn Dent Soc 86(1):23–27
- Carrillo JS, Calatayud J, Manso FJ, et al (1990) A randomized double-blind clinical trial on the effectiveness of helium-neon

🖉 Springer

laser in the prevention of pain, swelling and trismus after removal of impacted third molars. Int Dent J $40{:}31{-}36$

- Fernando S, Hill CM, Walker R (1993) A randomised double blind comparative study of low level laser therapy following surgical extraction of lower third molar teeth. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 31(3):170–172
- Roynesdal AK, Bjornland T, Barkvoll P, Haanaes HR (1993) The effect of soft-laser application on postoperative pain and swelling. A double-blind, crossover study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 22 (4):242–245
- Markovic A, Todorovic L (2007) Effectiveness of dexamethasone and low-power laser in minimizing oedema after third molar surgery: a clinical trial. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 36(3):226–229
- 64. Aras MH, Gungormus M (2010) Placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial of the effect two different low-level laser therapies (LLLT) – intraoral and extraoral – on trismus and facial swelling

following surgical extraction of the lower third molar. Lasers Med Sci 25(5):641–645

- Lopes-Martins RA, Marcos RL, Leonardo PS, et al (2006) Effect of low-level laser (Ga-Al-As 655 nm) on skeletal muscle fatigue induced by electrical stimulation in rats. J Appl Physiol 101 (1):283–288
- Torp-Pedersen TE, Torp-Pedersen ST, Qvistgaard E, Bliddal H (2008) Effect of glucocorticosteroid injections in tennis elbow verified on colour Doppler ultrasonography: evidence of inflammation. Br J Sports Med 42(12):978–982
- Millar NL, Hueber AJ, Reilly JH, et al (2010) Inflammation is present in early human tendinopathy. Am J Sports Med 38 (10):2085–2091
- Soslowsky LJ, Carpenter JE, DeBano CM, Banerji I, Moalli MR (1996) Development and use of an animal model for investigations on rotator cuff disease. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 5(5):383–392